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Executive Directors
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Mr. ZHENG Wenbin
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Ms. HUANG Danyan
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE

Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman)
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin
Mr. LAM Yiu Por

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. XIONG Ting
Ms. LEUNG Kwan Wai

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. HUANG Jian
Ms. XIONG Ting

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE PRC

Unit 4, Unit 102

No. 3, Xiangming Road

Xiamen Torch High-tech Zone (Xiang'an)
Industrial Zone

Xiamen City, Fujian Province, the PRC

(The registered address of the Company is proposed to be amended as
“Unit 1, Unit 301, No. 3, Xiangming Road, Xiamen Torch High-tech Zone
(Xiang an), Industrial Zone’, subject to the approval of Shareholders at the

AGM)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEAGEE

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN THE PRC

22/F, Caizihui No. 188, Qianpu Road
Siming District

Xiamen City, Fujian Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

5/F, Manulife Place
348 Kwun Tong Road

Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANK

Xiamen Bank Co., Ltd. (Liangian Branch)

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati
Suite 1509, 15/F, Jardine House
1 Connaught Place, Central

Hong Kong

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

http://www.yanzhiwu.com

STOCK SHORT NAME

YAN PALACE

STOCK CODE

1497
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

A new year begins with all things coming to life. In 2023, the beauty and
wellness industry witnessed a thriving trend, with all Chinese people exerting
concerted efforts to recover the economy and boost development and a
new development pattern forming in the country. China has broad cultural
foundations and a long history of consumption of EBN. Driven by the
rising living standards and the growing health awareness among Chinese
consumers, EBN has become a synonym for the pursuit of beauty, wellness
and pleasure among many Chinese consumers. Oriented to consumers’
needs for beauty and wellness, Yan Palace proposed a five-year development
strategy in 2023. To execute this strategy, we will stay committed to basing
our development on EBN and cultivate our presence in the beauty and
wellness industry; from scientific research on EBN to raw material selection,
from product research and development to process iteration, and from
channel building to member services, we will continue to seek breakthroughs
and innovation through our huge retail network and the pragmatism and
diligence of our talents, thus seeking progress while maintaining stability
and our leadership position in the ever-changing environment; we will drive
the Company forward steadily with clear strategic objectives and rigorous

scientific strategies and initiatives.

LEADING THE GLOBAL BIRD’S NEST INDUSTRY AND
PROMOTING THE HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT OF
OUR BRAND

Holding that the continual high-quality growth of a brand is driven by
innovation, we bring consumers high-quality products and constantly
enhance our emotional value to consumers by leveraging technology
innovation, product innovation, service innovation, etc. By increasing people’s
awareness and the exposure of our brand via social media interactions,
we create a professional, unique and premium brand image which deeply
impresses consumers and cement the leading position of Yan Palace in the
global bird's nest industry. Step by step, we have built a comprehensive
marketing communications matrix. In particular, we have established
platforms for communications matrices on recognized media, social media
and vertical media and collaborated with research scientists, experts, and
key opinion leaders (KOL)/key opinion customers (KOC) with high popularity
to build a key opinion sales (KOS) matrix for tiered publicity, word-of-mouth
marketing, and refined content operation to further reach the target

consumer groups.
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER

ESTABLISHING AN OMNICHANNEL SALES NETWORK
AND ENHANCING CUSTOMER STICKINESS THROUGH
VARIOUS CONSUMER ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

We have developed an extensive and geographically diverse brick-and-mortar
sales network, including 96 self-managed stores and 647 distributor-operated
stores. To tap into the rapid growth of e-commerce in recent years, we
have also expanded our online presence on major e-commerce or social
media platforms, such as Tmall, JD.com, Douyin and Xiaohongshu, through
27 self-operated online stores, 18 distributor-operated online stores and
15 customers who are e-commerce platforms. Our broad and stable
sales network enables us to reach more consumers. We stay close to our
consumers thanks to our omnichannel sales network. Through the Yan Palace
membership mini program, the Golden Yan Club (&) membership
program, and other membership programs on major e-commerce platforms,
we have cultivated a loyal membership network of customers with a tiered
membership system. We organize various interactive events to maintain
direct engagement with our customers. Going deep into consumer demand
in various scenarios, we have centered around users’ pain points to create
product value and bring users a more enjoyable experience in beauty and

wellness, thus improving customer stickiness and repeat purchase rate.

CONTINUING PRODUCT INNOVATION TO USHER IN
THE ERA OF MASS CONSUMPTION OF EBN

Consumer experience is our top priority. We leverage modern technology
to continually drive product innovation that elevates consumer experience.
During the year, we entered the breakfast market by launching a series of EBN
porridge products, which has further broadened EBN consumption scenarios.
Leveraging our extensive research of active ingredients extraction from EBN,
we have developed EBN peptides skincare products to extend the value
chain of the EBN industry. No longer exclusive to high-net-worth individuals,
EBN has become a beauty and wellness product increasingly popular with
young people, which resonates with one line in a Chinese poem, “swallows
that nested under the eaves of the upper class in bygone days are now living
under the same roof with common people (B EHZ AT, RASH E L

=
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During this year, all the Yan Palace employees moved forward with tenacity
and confidence developed over years of work at the Company and gathered
strength to achieve higher success, which demonstrates the resilience
generated by our steady and high-quality development. We recorded a
revenue of RMB1,964.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023,
representing a year-on-year increase of 13.5% from 2022. The Group's
profitability continued to improve with a net profit of RMB211.6 million
in 2023 and an adjusted net profit of RMB244.4 million, representing a

year-on-year increase of 15.8% from 2022.

Based on the Group’s operation in 2023, the Board of Directors will
recommend a final cash dividend of RMB2.15 (inclusive of tax) for every 10
Shares (representing an aggregate amount of RMB100,082,500 (inclusive of
tax) based on the total issued share capital of the Company as of December
31, 2023) at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The term of office of the first session of the Board of Directors and the
supervisory committee of the Company has expired and the Board of
Directors has announced the list of the candidates for the second session
of the Board of Directors and the supervisory committee of the Company.
For details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated April 25, 2024
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (www.yanzhiwu.com). The determination of this list of
candidates has fully taken into account the stability and continuity of the
Company's operations. The appointment of the second session of Directors
and Supervisors is subject to the approval by the Shareholders’ general
meeting. Until then, all current Directors and Supervisors will continue to

perform their duties and do their best in all aspects of corporate governance.

On December 12, 2023, Yan Palace was listed on the Stock Exchange,
becoming the first stock listed on the Stock Exchange in the bird’s nest
industry. On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express our
heartfelt gratitude to our new and old shareholders for their long-term
support and my high respect to all the employees and business partners
who have been with us along the way. In 2024, may we have the fighting
spirit to march forward and overcome the difficulties ahead; may we seize
opportunities to scale up and go beyond ourselves. All Yan Palace employees
have the confidence and ability to accomplish more brilliant goals and create

greater value for our shareholders.

HUANG Jian
Chairman of the Board
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RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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ARENMBEEE

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

Our revenue increased by 13.5% from RMB1,729.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to RMB1,964.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Our gross profit increased by 13.3% from RMB878.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to RMB994.9 million for the year ended

December 31, 2023.

Our net profit increased by 2.8% from RMB205.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to RMB211.6 million for the year ended

December 31, 2023.

Our adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure)” increased by 15.8% from
RMB211.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB244.4

million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Note:

Adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) represents profit and total comprehensive
income for the year, adjusted to add back equity-settled share-based payment
expenses and listing expenses that is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the year less related income
tax. Equity-settled share-based payment expenses are adjusted for as they are
non-cash in nature and were not expected to result in future cash payments. The
Directors believe that the non-IFRS measure facilitates comparisons of operating
performance from year to year and company to company by eliminating potential
impacts of certain items.
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RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RERERMBEHE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY MEBE
As of/for the year ended December 31,
BE+=-—HA=+—-8B 8ZE+=-HA=+—-HLEFE
2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-TF B4 —E=-= —EBC-=HF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBEFTT ARBETT ARBTT
Revenue LON 1,301,157 1,506,997 1,729,945 1,964,237
Gross Profit EH 555,709 555,709 878,252 994,916
Profit before taxation BRA% AT E 159,826 230,173 264,566 273,326
Income tax PRI (36,401) (57,814) (58,688) (61,738)
Profit and total FAFERBEZ IR E
comprehensive
income for the year 123,425 172,359 205,878 211,588
Profit attributable to Equity 7N/ &4 %5 A% 51 /& 45 F
shareholders of the
Company 122,017 167,353 191,840 201,218
Earnings per share BARZT 0.29 (Note) (H12E) () 39 (Note) (HiE) 0.44 0.46
Total assets wEE 649,774 796,726 978,354 1,469,993
Total Liabilities mak 438,009 443,589 506,344 673,066
Total Equity B 211,765 353,137 472,010 796,927
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMRESFEY 150,573 169,495 350,818 537,093
Net current assets mENFEE 160,118 181,322 280,178 594,387

Note:

#is -

The earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021 are presented
with the assumption that the Share subdivision was completed at that time for the
purpose of comparison. The sub-division of the Shares by the Company was approved
on May 25, 2023 and effective upon the Listing, where the Company subdivided its
Share from one Share of RMB1.0 each into five Shares of RMBO0.2 each. For details, please
refer to the Prospectus.

ABERER  BE_ZT_ZEFR-_T-_—F+ZA=
+—BULEFENERAEFDREROIFHE D TN
ME%) - RARBRHIFAR-_TE-_=FRA=-+AHH
BHOES N ETR AR BARQARGEBRD R BT
BREBEAREI1OTTHBRGIFAAIRERABARE
02TLHIE ) - FIEHEMBRER -

—ZT - =44 | ANNUAL REPORT 2023 9



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED T

BUSINESS REVIEW

National Economy Stabilized and Improved, with Sustained
Recovery in Consumer Spending

The overall national economy in China rebounded favorably. China's GDP
exceeded RMB126 trillion in 2023, increasing by 5.2% from 2022, which
recorded a growth rate that ranked among the top of the global major
economies. China promulgated a series of economic stimulus policies to
boost consumption during 2023, including the Measures on Restoring and
Expanding Consumption issued by the National Development and Reform
Commission. The total retail sales of consumer goods in China reached
RMB4,714.95 billion representing an increase of 7.2% from 2022. In addition,
national per-capita disposable income in China increased by 6.1%. This

reflects that social consumption has gradually returned to normal.

Rising Awareness of Self-health Management and a Booming
Beauty and Wellness Product Market

According to Frost & Sullivan, China’s beauty and wellness product market,
in terms of retail value, increased from RMB630.3 billion in 2017 to RMB865.8
billion in 2022, at a CAGR of 6.6%, and is expected to reach RMB1,173.9 billion
in 2027, at a CAGR of 6.3% from 2022 to 2027. The beauty and health industry

has ushered in ample development opportunities.
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Enduring Cultural Appeal for Bird’s Nest and Sustained Demand
for EBN Products

According to the 2022 Report on Values and Lifestyles of High Net Worth
Individuals (ZZE__FmFEARBEEREETXARKRE) released
by Hurun Report (#8/E & &), the penetration rate of EBN among high net
worth individuals ranked second within the healthcare product category,
second only to vitamins, and ahead of other Chinese tonic products. EBN
is considered as a gift product that meets high-end social and healthcare
needs. The steady increase of premium demand provides a solid foundation
for the industry’s sustainable growth. China’s EBN market, in terms of retail
value, is expected to grow from RMB43.0 billion in 2022 to RMB92.1 billion in
2027, at a CAGR of 16.5%. Building on the high-end positioning and gifting
consumption scenarios of EBN products, these products are answering to the
public's demand for self-care and hospitality, and the demand and supply of
EBN products in the relevant scenarios have become increasingly diversified,
ushering in a broad prospect for such products from pure EBN products to

“EBN+" products and “+EBN" products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE WD T

12

Brand Management

According to the Company'’s brand health tracking report conducted by
Ipsos (#=5EZE) in 2023, our brand awareness and top-of-mind awareness
rank leading in the EBN industry. On the China Brand Power Index
(C-BPI) EBN brand ranking, the Company has been ranked the first in
the industry for four consecutive years, leading the industry in terms of
brand power. Meanwhile, the Company has once again become the only
brand within the EBN industry selected in the 2023 China Brand Value
Evaluation Information Release (1 Bl a2 B BT B (5 53 0).

(i) Dual Brand Ambassadors Supporting Brand Strategy

After partnering with Ms. Zhao Liying (fRB5E), actress with
national influence, as our brand ambassador, in October 2023, we
announced the young actress and dancer Ms. Jin Chen (£/&) as
a new ambassador of the Company, which presents consumers
with a healthier, more energetic and diversified lifestyle, to
accurately reach out to a wider young consumer group through
a communication style that accords with their youthfulness and
fashion trend. This strategy enables us to break through the youth

marketing boundaries and reach a wider consumer group.

(ii) Steady Progress of Multi-brand Strategy

We uphold the notion of sustainable development and firmly
implement the multi-brand strategy by promoting the “master
brand + sub-brand” in a clear manner, steadily implementing
layouts and expanding business, and striving to create more value
for customers. During the year of 2023, we launched the EBN
porridge series under the sub-brand Xiao Yan Nong (VNEER),
making a strong entrance into the breakfast market. As one of the
sub-brands of the Company, Xiao Yan Nong has quickly emerged in
the market with its Real Bird’s Nest (B &%) and Real Nourishment
(B%8) features. In addition, we have actively expanded the
“+EBN" product categories. Positioned as EBN skincare expert, Yan
Palace — Yan Bao Shi (BEE %) launched a series of EBN skincare
products focused on ‘repair and anti-aging” (I£7&#H1) to better

meet consumers’ needs for beauty and wellness.
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(iii) Spread Traditional Culture and Boost Festival Sales

With the goal of promoting cultural confidence and self-
strengthening, and stimulating innovation and creativity, at the
beginning of 2023, we partnered with Mr. Guo Xiao (¥835), a
young actor from the National Peking Opera Company, to pay a
tribute to the quintessence of Chinese culture with the making of
a microfilm. Through broadcasting on CCTV, we spread the culture
of Peking Opera, enriched cultural sentiments, and allowed more
audiences to witness the unique charm of the quintessence of
Peking Opera. By integrating the inheritance of traditional culture
into the development process of the enterprise, we expressed our
tribute, inheritance, and guardianship of Chinese traditional culture.
We leveraged the cultural intellectual property of Peking Opera to
produce high-quality content, interact with users, and achieve an

efficient outreach.

Channel Management

In 2023, as the notion of health and wellness became more popular,
the EBN industry ushered in new development opportunities. We have
achieved satisfactory operating results by relying on our strategy of

synergistic development across all channels.

(i) E-commerce Channel

Our online sales network consists of self-operated online stores,
distributor-operated online stores and e-commerce platforms. As
of December 31, 2023, we had 27 self-operated online stores and
18 distributor-operated online stores on mainstream e-commerce
or social media platforms such as JD.com, Tmall and Douyin. As
of December 31, 2023, we had 15 e-commerce platforms as our
customers, including JD.com, Vipshop and Tmall Supermarket,
among others. In 2023, our total revenue from e-commerce
business was RMB1,104.0 million, accounting for 56.2% of the total
revenue of our Group and representing an increase of 17.7% from
2022.
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The e-commerce business has successfully attracted more
consumers by optimizing its product portfolio and expanding new
channels for online sales. In terms of marketing strategy, we have
adopted diversified promotion measures, including long-term
and short-term celebrity endorsements, social media promotions,
cooperation with influencers, and online/offline activities. Through
reaching out to different groups of people, we have allowed more
users with different backgrounds and attributes to experience, try
and choose our products. While expanding our customer base, we
have also leveraged the influence of celebrities and influencers
to gain incremental growth from more mainstream distribution
channels. During the traditional e-commerce promotion periods,
such as the "618" shopping festival, Singles’ Day Shopping Carnival
(E+—BYIIEEE), we maintained our industry leading position.
During the non-promotional periods, we formulated different
product strategies and innovative marketing campaigns to improve
sales performance during the off-season, enhancing customer
stickiness. Live streaming e-commerce is a new business format
that integrates e-commerce and live streaming in the context of
digitalization. Nowadays, new forms of comprehensive marketing
such as content seeding, short videos/live streaming for product
promotion, have become the new “standard configuration” of
digital marketing, reshaping the user consumption chain. With
a professional team, distinct product positioning, and powerful
differentiation content output strategy, we create personalized
high-quality content through methods like “live streaming +
celebrities”, providing consumers with broader consumption
scenarios and richer, more direct, and real-time shopping
experiences, accelerating the enhancement of brand awareness and
influence. Due to outstanding operational performance, we have
been awarded three major prizes: the 2023 Tmall Health Annual
Industry Benchmark Brand (2023 RS f2FEFEITERREMME), the
Annual Digital Operation Vanguard Award (FFfE B LR & 544
#%), and the Annual Live Streaming Achievement Award (/& B &
XL EE).
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(i)

Private domain channels serve as a crucial bridge for us to establish
closer and more personalized connections with our customers. We
invested significant efforts and resources in 2023 to optimize and
expand our private domain channels. Through in-depth mining
and analysis of our membership data, we were able to understand
our customers’ purchase preferences and consumption habits,
as allowing us to recommend products that better meet their
needs. Such personalized marketing approach not only improves
conversion rates but also enhances customers’ trust in the brand. In
the future, we will continue to deepen the development of private
domain channels, continuously optimizing customer experience
and service quality to provide more attentive and tailored exclusive
services for our customers. In the meantime, we will also actively
explore new private domain marketing strategies and approaches
to continuously enhance the influence and market competitiveness

of our brand.

Offline Channels

In 2023, the total revenue from the offline business was RMB860.2
million, accounting for 43.8% of the Group's total revenue and
representing an increase of 8.6% compared with 2022. As of
December 31, 2023, we had a nationwide offline sales network
consisting of 96 self-operated stores and 229 offline distributors
covering 647 distributor-operated stores in China. The following
table sets forth the number of our offline stores by type as of the

date indicated.
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BEMIE
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Offline stores HBTFE
Self-operated stores ElinlsS 89 89 96
Distributor-operated stores ISP 544 615 647
Total E 633 704 743
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In 2023, we continued to strengthen our presence in high tier
cities, establish strategic flagship stores in key cities and enhance
coverage in core business districts and shopping centers to achieve
upgrades of channels. For the vertical channels, we explored new
airport stores models and have opened terminal stores at Beijing
Daxing Airport and Xiamen Gaoqi Airport. According to Bird’s Nest
Industry White Paper 2021-2022 (2021-2022 FEHRBITEAK
£) released by the Edible Bird's Nest Market Committee of China
Agricultural Wholesale Markets Association (CAWA-EBMC) (&
B mREPOMAEGREMSEEEZES), branded offline
stores are the mainstream consumption channel for consumers to
purchase EBN products. Therefore, offline stores have advantages
in consumer education and customer acquisition. Meanwhile, with
consumption penetrates into lower-tier cities, consumers will rely
more on offline channels. The Company will continue to develop
county-level markets through our existing distributorship system,

further refining our terminal presence.

We continued to strengthen our membership service system by
upgrading our Golden Yan Club (&##&) membership program
and improving the function of shopping guide assistant. Golden
Yan Club has featured a tiered membership system, and various
online interactive activities were organized under the membership
program for different tiers of customers to promote the growth
of high-tier members. In 2023, we held hundreds of interactive
activities for all types of customers nationwide, and invited VIP
customers to visit our production bases, which effectively drove
customer stickiness. In terms of specific customer segmentation,
we have established four urban women's golf clubs in Beijing,
Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Xiamen, to deepen our interaction with
key customers. In addition, to cope with the change of consumption
habits, we focused on enhancing the exposure of One Nest (TBE)
on online channels through live-streaming promotion on Douyin
and promoting the online platforms exposure on platforms such as
Pupu, Meituan, Dianping, Ele.me, JD Daojia, SF Express and Ali Local
Life, among which promotion on Douyin Local Life has achieved

sound results in the Beijing market.
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Products and R&D 3. EmRE
Consumer experience is our top priority. We leverage modern BMPREAUNBREENES  AARARR
technology to continually drive product innovation that elevates MH/BEEBDERBIF  TEHRAEES
consumer experience. Our product portfolio primarily consists of three BR RAMNEREACIZREAREE
product categories, i.e., pure EBN products, “EBN+" products and “+EBN" m ([ B+ ERkl+HBIEM=RBRER
products, to meet the differentiated consumer needs for experience in R AIMBHEER TRAES SR
different life scenarios and, in the meantime, to foster a valued sense of ZE2(ERFLR  -BR  BMASEENC
self-care and hospitality, catering to consumers’ aspiration for quality AWEBEEE  WMEHEEYmE &GN
lifestyle and social engagement. SEEAES -
(i) Pure EBN Products (i) AHEHBESD
In 2023, the annual revenue generated from the pure EBN product CECCFAABERRIERETF
series was RMB1,794.2 million, representing an increase of 9.53% WAARE 1794288 - R=ZZT=Z=
compared with 2022 and accounting for 91.34% of our total FIR53% (R ALLE.34% o
revenue. In 2023, we conducted a comprehensive upgrade of our —E=F - RMEGE N FBEK
11-year-old One Nest product series, accentuating its appeal from RY|ERETEEAL - FRE -
four dimensions: superior raw materials, superior nutrition, superior FEE - R - TEBRUELER
richness, and superior experience, so as to further enhance the A #E— P RABHERE
consumption for personal use of One Nest and customer stickiness. BHNRFEM - BEAREBIE
Such upgrades include:
Strengthening the selection of core production areas for EBN - REERBEBRMZOERBE - RS
raw materials and strictly controlling the quality process of EEEEMERE  OBEBRER
production to highlight the value of One Nest; R
Using an oxygen-free nitrogen filling technology to preserve - RAEZHERMHEO - EEREEO
freshness, providing One Nest with a taste as if it were freshly RXEEANIR B
stewed;
Reducing the void ratio of One Nest products, increasing - R TRERPERE - EIN17%
richness by 17%; and BREE S &
Upgrading to an easy-tear sealing membrane for smoother - FARAESEHO - HREIEGHER
opening experience. igss o
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In response to China’s "dual carbon” goals, we organized the
New Generation Freshly Stewed Bird's Nest Launch and Annual
Environmental Protection Achievement Reporting Conference (¥
—REFEEFEMHEEFERRIRRE

2023, announcing the carbon emission measurement data and

) in Beijing in October

launching the new environmental friendly product of the year - Yan
Palace New Generation Freshly Stewed Bird’s Nest (%2 E¥1—1K
B E9% ), and officially launching the Empty Bottle Environmental
Protection Program (Z=MRIR{RETE]). Through technological
innovation, we broke through the industry barriers of freshly
stewed EBN products, and took practical actions towards energy
conservation and emission reduction, delivering outstanding annual
results by reducing approximately 2,576.90 tons of carbon dioxide

equivalent and contributing to the “dual carbon”targets.

Our other bottle-canned bird’s nest products have continued to be
well received and loved by the consumers. Revolving around the
theme of “Love Your Nests" ("B&ZE #R"), we launched limited edition
products for Valentine's Day, Mother's Day and Chinese Valentine's
Day, and continuously enriched online festival-specific products to

boost e-commerce sales during non-promotional periods.

In 2023, we launched the Silk Road Yan Dance Dragon Tongue
Dried EBN (#4 B8 35 FE H 28,7 ), positioned as the top-notched
quality tier of dried EBN products. In the meantime, we launched
pure EBN for instant stewing (REBNALFIES) to cater for the

convenience needs of home cooking.
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(ii) EBN+ and +EBN Products

Through the innovative combination of bird's nest and other
ingredients, the consumption scenarios and flavors of our EBN+ and

+EBN products have been further expanded.

Xiao Yan Nong EBN Porridge Products

Based on the ancient concept of traditional dietary therapy and
wellness, which is combined with modern consumer trends, we
integrated millennia-old nourishing bird’s nest with nutrient-rich
grains and functional dietary ingredients to develop a variety of
delicious, low-sugar, nutritionally balanced bird's nest porridge
products with certain nourishing effects. This provides consumers
with a convenient and nutritious breakfast option, helping them to
achieve healthy diet and efficient wellness and enabling a lifestyle

of light nourishment anytime, anywhere.

Xiao Yan Nong EBN porridge has been actively exploring various
channels. For example, it cooperated with famous live broadcasting
celebrities. Advertisements on CCTV's music channel, local TV
channels and elevators were placed to further expand the influence
of Xiao Yan Nong EBN porridge. In 2023, the cumulative sales of
Xiao Yan Nong EBN porridge has exceeded 1 million serves across
all platforms, contributing to a revenue of RMB22.9 million, which

has become a new growth point for the Company.
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Yan Palace — Yan Bao Shi Skincare Products

In March 2023, we commercially launched our skincare product
series featuring small molecule bird's nest peptide under the sub-
brand of "Yan Palace — Yan Bao Shi" (&2 | — #E&F). With our
proprietary targeted enzymatic hydrolysis technology, we convert
macromolecular protein of EBN into small molecules EBN peptide
with high functional activity, which has the functions of repairing
skin damage, anti-aging, whitening and anti-oxidation, among
others. We are the first mover in the industry that launched skincare
products featuring bird’s nest peptide as core function factor. Our
skincare product series included facial masks, essence mist, facial
cleanser, hand cream and cleanser wipe. In terms of channel layout,
Yan Bao Shi has strengthened traffic operations on official website
and private domains, while has also actively explored new channels.
In 2023, Yan Bao Shi skincare products achieved sales revenue of
RMB17.3 million.

With the rich product matrix, in 2023, the total revenue generated
from EBN+ and +EBN products was RMB142.0 million, accounting
for 7.2% of our total revenue and representing an increase of 94.2%

compared with 2022.

Supply Chain Management

Our philosophy and primary focus are bringing people beauty and
wellness, quality and heritage of EBN products. We implement stringent
supplier selection process, and source natural, high-quality and cruelty-
free EBN from Southeast Asia. In 2023, the volume of CAIQ-certified EBN
imports was 557.1 tonnes, increasing by 23.4% from 2022. Traceable
bird’s nest continued to gain share from non-traceable bird's nest,
driving industry consolidation. Our Company continued to rank No. 1 by
the volume of CAIQ-certified imports in the EBN product market in China
in 2023.
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In terms of manufacturing, in 2023, our Xiamen factory initiated refined
manufacturing improvements and improved production efficiency by
optimizing the One Nest process, switching to a new process for fresh
stewing, and introducing automatic soaking and draining machines,
sieving machines, and visual inspection equipment for packaging. In
the meantime, Xiamen factory carried out a small-scale automation
of the production line in the constrained production sites, which has
achieved preliminary results and accumulated experience for the
efficiency improvement of new factories in the future. In 2023, the
Shanghai factory’s operation gradually returned to normal and released
production capacity, resulting in a considerable increase in production
efficiency and effective reduction of production costs, representing the

realization of the strategic and economic value of our Shanghai factory.

In order to expand our production capacity, we leased an independent
industrial park located in Tongan District, Xiamen to build a new
production base. The new production base will adopt automated
production equipment and introduce information systems such as
Manufacturing Execution System (MES), Warehouse Management
System (WMS) and Warehouse Execution System (WES) to create an
agile management system. The completion of the new production base
is expected to improve production efficiency and lay the manufacturing

foundation for our Company’s next phase of rapid development.

Human Resource Management

A proactive and uplifting corporate culture is the cornerstone of
sustainable and healthy development of enterprises. We have always
adhered to the corporate values of “customer-centric, integrity and
beneficence, innovation and dedication, steady progress’ (AR A, 5F
R, B E #, TTIREUR M EEEE) in building up our team. We
have a clear organizational structure and emphasize the construction of
talent echelons. In 2023, we were awarded the 2023 China Employer of
the Year Award (2023 # B Z{83# {8 = #¥) by Zhaopin Ltd. (B FREL)
in conjunction with Peking University and other relevant organizations,
which was a result of our practice of the notion of valuing, respecting,
motivating and fulfilling talents (R AZ, BEATL, BMEAL, K
FLAT). As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a total of 1,917
employees. For the year ended December 31, 2023, employee costs,
including directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration and share-based

compensations, amounted to approximately RMB293.5 million.
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In order to improve the Company’s incentive mechanism, retain
key employees and promote the sustainable development of the
Company'’s business, the Board proposed the H Share Incentive Scheme
to the Shareholders’ general meeting for consideration to incentivize
the management personnel and core technical employees who
play important roles in the Company's operating results and future
development. The H Share Incentive Scheme has been approved by
Shareholders at the EGM. For the details of the H Share Incentive Scheme
and related information, please refer to “Report of the Directors-H Share

Incentive Scheme”in this annual report.

OUTLOOK

In January 2024, we officially announced Ms. Gong Li (Zff)) as our global
brand ambassador, unveiling a new brand image to unleash our innovative
spirit and explosive growth potential. We will comprehensively enhance our
brand momentum and build brand barriers to solidify our position as the
leading EBN expert and brand. Through the brand matrix strategy of “focusing
on master brand and expanding sub-brands’, we will continue to elevate the
influence of the master brand Yan Palace, and gradually build up the brand
awareness of our sub-brands, Yan Bao Shi and Xiao Yan Nong. With high-net-
worth consumers as our base and mass consumption as our growth driver,
we will continue to launch new products to satisfy the pursuit of beauty and

wellness of different types of consumers.

However, we should also note that the economic recovery may not be as
strong as expected, and the public's consumption psychology and patterns
have undergone some changes after the epidemic, and the uncertainty of
the external environment has brought continuous pressure and challenges.
We will continue to expand our business based on the principle of adhering
to long-termism and sustainability, continue to build our brands through
fostering in-depth customer relationships, further expand and enchance our
omni-channel sales network, broaden our product portfolio and strengthen
our R&D capabilities, enhance deep collaboration in the supply chain, move
into the new production base to upgrade and expand our production

capacity, and strengthen the digitization of our business processes.
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With the vision of “leading the global bird's nest industry and building
a century-old national brand” (B3|E2HEBEITE, THEEFRE®ME),
we adhere to the corporate values of “customer-centric, integrity and
beneficence, innovation and dedication, steady progress”and stay committed
to the strategy of "Healthy China’, fulfilling our corporate social responsibility
and commitment to promoting the compliant, orderly and sustainable
development of the industry, and fully leveraging the Company's industry
leading position in scientific research, to jointly promote the high-quality
development of the beauty and wellness industry and usher in a new chapter

for the global bird’s nest industry.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussions are based on the financial information and notes
set out in other sections of this announcement and should be read in

conjunction with them.

Revenue

Our revenue was mainly derived from sales and distribution of EBN products.
Our revenue increased by 13.5% from RMB1,729.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022 to RMB1,964.2 million for the year ended December 31,

2023. The following table set forth a breakdown of our revenues by product

categories for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.
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Year ended December 31,

BE+TZAZ=+—-HLFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —F-—
RMB 000 % RMB 000 %
AR¥TFT % ARETF T %
Pure EBN products MIEEM 1,794,214 91.3 1,638,127 94.7
EBN+ and +EBN products RE+R+HRBEM 141,986 7.2 73,103 42
Others Efbo 28,037 1.5 18,715 1.1
Total @et 1,964,237 100.0 1,729,945 100.0
Note: Bt
(1) Include non-EBN products such as moon cakes, snacks and rice dumplings etc. . (1) BIEFREESR WAH - BL - BTE-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE WD T

Pure EBN products. Revenue generated from pure EBN products mainly
represents the revenue generated from sales of pure EBN products
primarily consisting of One Nest (Bi3%), Freshly Stewed Bird's Nest (#f
BIFET), other bottle-canned bird's nest and dried EBN. Our revenue
generated from the sales of pure EBN products increased by 9.5% from
RMB1,638.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB1,794.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to increase
in sales of Freshly Stewed Bird’'s Nest and other bottle-canned bird’s

nest.

EBN+ and +EBN products. Revenue generated from EBN+ and +EBN
products mainly represents the revenue generated from sales of EBN+
and +EBN products. Our revenue generated from the sales of EBN+
and +EBN products increased by 94.2% from RMB73.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB142.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, primarily due to (1) significant increase in the sales
of EBN porridge; and (2) newly launched skincare products under our

sub-brand of Yan Palace - Yan Bao Shi.

Others. Our revenue generated from the sales of other products
increased by 49.8% from RMB18.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2022 to RMB28.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023,
primarily due to expansion of our membership programs that led to the

increase in sales of non-EBN products to members.

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of raw materials, employee

benefits expenses, production costs and courier fees.

Our cost of sales increased by 13.8% from RMB851.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to RMB969.3 million for the year ended December
31,2023, in line with the revenue growth in 2023.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit increased by 13.3% from RMB878.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to RMB994.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2023. The increase in our gross profit was in line with the growth in our
overall revenue. Our gross profit margin for the year ended December 31,
2023 remained stable at 50.7%, as compared to 50.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of (i) advertising
and promotion fees and (ii) employee benefits expenses. Our selling and
distribution expenses increased by 11.8% from RMB503.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to RMB563.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2023, which was primarily attributable to (1) the increase in advertising
and promotional fees along with the growth of revenue and (2) the increase
in employee benefits expenses due to the expansion of our Company'’s

operating scale and the increase in the number of employees.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consisted of (i) employee benefits
expenses and (ii) consulting service fee which primarily consisted of expenses
in connection with strategic and management consulting services and
the listing expenses. Our administrative expenses increased by 43.0% from
RMB111.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB159.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, which was primarily attributable
to increased expenses relating to the Global Offering and listing of our

Company on the Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Research and development expenses

Our research and development expenses increased by 8.5% from RMB24.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB26.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, which was primarily attributable to (1) increased
expenses for research and development materials and process development
costs for R&D projects; and (2) increased expenses for market research and

academic exchange.

Other net income

Our other net income primarily consisted of (i) government grants and (ii)
interest income. Our other net income increased by 10.1% from RMB27.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB30.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, which was primarily attributable to increase in

government grants.

Finance cost

Our finance costs primarily consisted of interest expenses on our lease
liabilities. Our finance costs increased by 78.4% from RMB1.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022 to RMB2.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, which was primarily attributable to increase in interest

expenses for lease liabilities.

Income tax

Our income tax increased by 5.2% from RMB58.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022 to RMB61.7 million for the year ended December 31,

2023, which was primarily attributable to profit increase.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year increased by 2.8% from a
net profit of RMB205.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to a net
profit of RMB211.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Non-IFRS measures

In order to supplement our consolidated financial statements presented
in accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standards, we use adjusted net
profit (non-IFRS measure) as an additional financial measure, which is not
required by, or not presented in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.
Our adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) represents our profit and total
comprehensive income for the year, adjusted to add back equity-settled
share-based payment expenses and listing expenses that we recognized
in our consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the year less related income tax. Equity-settled share-based
payment expenses are adjusted for as they are non-cash in nature and were
not expected to result in future cash payments. We believe that the non-IFRS
measure facilitates comparisons of operating performance from year to year
and company to company by eliminating potential impacts of certain items.
However, adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) presented by us may not be
comparable to the similar financial measure presented by other companies.
There are limitations to the non-IFRS measure used as an analytical tool, and
you should not consider it in isolation or regard it as a substitute for our
results of operation or financial position analysis that is in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards.

The following table reconciles our adjusted net profit for the year presented
to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented

under IFRS Accounting Standards.
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Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HBLEE

2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
(RMB in thousands)

(ARKTFr)
Profit and total comprehensive income for theyear FRFERAZEIE 211,588 205,878
Add: V.
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses AR S E MR T SR 2 4,816 5,253
Listing expenses WX 37,323 =
Less: P
Income tax in relation to listing expenses H TR BEOMEE 9,331 =
Adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) KA FFE GEEBRMERS

BT E) 244,396 211,131

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The primary uses of cash are to fund the daily operations of the business of
the Group. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, we financed
our capital expenditures and working capital requirements primarily through
cash generated from our operating activities. Going forward, we believe that
our liquidity requirements will be satisfied with a combination of cash flows
generated from our operating activities, the gross proceeds from the Global
Offering, bank loans and other borrowings, and other funds raised from the
capital markets from time to time. As of December 31, 2023, the Group had

not used any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

We have continued to maintain a healthy and sound financial position
and have followed a set of funding and treasury policies to manage our
capital resources and mitigate potential risks involved. Our current assets
increased from approximately RMB773.3 million as of December 31, 2022 to
approximately RMB1,154.5 million as of December 31, 2023, primarily due to
(1) proceeds from the Global Offering; (2) increase of inventory balance at the
end of 2023 as compared to the end of 2022; (3) increase of prepayment of
advertising and promotion expenses; (4) increase of accounts receivable from

e-commerce platforms along with the revenue growth.
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Cash flows

As of December 31, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents primarily consisted
of cash at banks and were denominated in RMB and HKD. Our total cash and
cash equivalents increased by 53.1% from RMB350.8 million as of December
31, 2022 to RMB537.1 million as of December 31, 2023. The increase was
primarily attributed to the net proceeds from the Global Offering.

Foreign exchange risk management

Our functional currency is RMB. Our business is principally conducted in RMB,
and substantially all of our assets are denominated in RMB. Foreign exchange
risk arises when commercial transactions or recognized assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not our functional currency. We are
subject to foreign exchange risk arising from commercial transactions and

recognized assets and liabilities which are denominated in non-RMB.

We recognized net foreign exchange losses of RMB1.7 million in the year
ended December 31, 2023.

We have not implemented any hedging arrangements. We manage our
foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates. We will mitigate such a risk by constantly reviewing the
economic situation and foreign exchange risk, and applying hedging

measures when necessary.
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Capital expenditure

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our total capital expenditure was
approximately RMB24.4 million, compared to approximately RMB22.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022. Our capital expenditure primarily
consisted of payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment and
purchase of intangible assets. We funded these expenditures with cash

generated from our operations and financing activities.

Capital commitments

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we had capital commitments of RMB3.3
million and RMB33.9 million, respectively, primarily in connection with (1) the
remaining amount of payments expected to be made in the future for the
purchase of long-term assets; and (2) the amount of payments for short-term

leases within the next year.

Contingent liabilities

As of December 31, 2023, we did not have any material contingent liabilities,
guarantee or any litigation or claim of material importance, pending or

threatened against any member of our Group.

Future plans for material investments and capital assets

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus and in this announcement, as of December 31, 2023, we did

not have detailed future plans for material investments or capital assets.
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Material acquisitions and disposals and significant investments

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, we did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals and significant investments during the year ended December
31,2023.

Pledge of assets

As of December 31, 2023, we did not pledge any of our assets.

Net current assets

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, our net current assets amounted to
RMB280.2 million and RMB594.4 million, respectively. The increase in our
net current assets was primarily attributable to an increase in cash and cash

equivalents balance as a result of the receipt of the Global Offering proceeds.

Borrowings and Indebtedness

Our indebtedness consisted primarily of lease liabilities. The following table

sets forth a breakdown of our indebtedness as of the dates indicated.
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As of December 31,

BZ+=-HA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
(RMB in thousands)
(AREFor)
Current indebtedness BN ERfE 3
Lease liabilities HEBE 26,391 15,657
Non-current indebtedness AN ER
Lease liabilities HEBE 111,287 11,264
Total #st 137,678 26,921
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As of December 31, 2023, we had no outstanding balance of borrowings or

unutilized banking facilities.

Key financial ratios

The following table sets forth our key financial ratios as of the date and/or for

the years indicated.

BHE_ZT-_=F+-A=+—8B HMELEXR
BIEMEREBRICRBARITHE -

TR R

TREHNFEMBULATE AR PR FE
TEMBLLEK -

As of/for the year ended
December 31,
BE+=-A=+—-RB/
BEt-A=1+—-RLEE

2023 2022
—E-= —E--F
Profitability ratios BFIgE D=
Gross profit margin®” EF=EO 50.7% 50.8%
Net profit margin® FAEERE 10.8% 11.9%
Return on equity® N 33.3% 49.9%
Liquidity ratios REN ML=
Current ratio® BN @ 2.1x 1.6x
2.1 1615
Gearing ratio® BERBELEO 17.3% 5.7%
Notes: ez

Q)

@
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The calculation of gross profit margin is based on gross profit for the year divided
by revenue for the respective year and multiplied by 100%.

The calculation of net profit margin is based on profit for the year divided by
revenue for the respective year and multiplied by 100%.

The calculation of return on equity is based on profit for the year divided by
average total equity as of the beginning and end of the year and multiplied by

100%.

The calculation of current ratio is based on current assets divided by current
liabilities as of year end.

The calculation of gearing ratio is based on total debt (including interest-bearing
borrowings and lease liabilities) divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.
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Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors, Supervisors and senior

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of nine Directors, comprised of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive

Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding the Directors.

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EE EE SATEEAERR

T e

EE

AEERIES EFNRREEABRBNINW

E=ZSRmNBREFENR  HPmaamsE
= MEFUATESFR=RBIFNTES -
TRENEMESWEHR -

Name Age Position Date of Appointment as Director
®A FiR B EZERESHEH
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. HUANG Jian 57  Executive Director and chairman of October 31,2014

the Board of Directors
B 57 HITEFHREER —ZE-WFE+A=+—H
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin 54 Executive Director and vice chairman of July 5, 2016

the Board of Directors
BB R 54 WOTEFHRAEER —E-XRFtARH
Mr. LI Youquan 50 Executive Director and general manager July 5, 2016
FHREE 50 HITERFREKE SN S il =
Ms. HUANG Danyan 61  Executive Director and deputy general ~ July 5,2016

manager
=ML L 61 WITEFEREIAKE —E-XEtHAAH
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. LIU Zhen 47 Non-executive Director July 5, 2016
ZIESE 47 FERITEF —ZE—RFtARA
Mr. WANG Yalong 41 Non-executive Director January 15,2018
TEhESRLE 41 EWITEF —E-NF—A+hH
Independent non-executive Directors
BuFHITES
Mr. XIAO Wei 58 Independent non-executive Director December 10, 2020
ERESS 58 BIUIFMITES “E-FEF+-HA+H
Mr. CHEN Aihua 38 Independent non-executive Director December 10, 2020
PREHE S A 38 WUIEMITESF —E-_ZF+-A+A
Mr. LAM Yiu Por 47 Independent non-executive Director November 20, 2023
MBS AL 47 BIFRITEF “E=f+—H-+H
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
BEE EE sREEASER

Executive Directors

HUANG Jian (Ef#), aged 57, is our founder, an executive Director and
chairman of the Board. He has been a Director and the chairman of the Board
since October 2014 and was re-designated as an executive Director on May
25, 2023. Mr. Huang is primarily responsible for formulating the Group's
overall corporate strategy and make key business and operational decisions
of the Group. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Huang has been serving as the
general manager and executive director of Xiamen Suntama since November
1997.

Mr. Huang graduated from Fujian Normal University (f&22EM &5 AZ2) in July
1986 with a bachelor’'s degree in Mathematics.

Mr. Huang is the brother of HUANG Danyan.

ZHENG Wenbin (EF3&), aged 54, is an executive Director and vice
chairman of the Board. He has been a Director and vice chairman of the
Board since July 2016, and was re-designated as an executive Director on
May 25, 2023. Mr. Zheng is primarily responsible for formulating the Group's
overall corporate strategy and make key business and operational decisions
of the Group. Prior to joining our Group, he has been serving as a director of
Harbin Dazhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (MEEAFREEFR A F]) from
January 2004 to July 2022. He served as an executive director and general
manager of Heilongjiang Yanglifang Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (B TIE &
NHEEFRAR
Pharmaceutical Sales Co, Ltd. (BEET AP REBEBEEEFEEFR AR from
June 2008 to January 2020.

(formerly known as Heilongjiang Zhongce Deguang

LI Youquan (Z2F £), aged 50, is an executive Director and general manager
of the Company. He has been a Director and general manager since July
2016, and was re-designated as an executive Director on May 25, 2023. Mr.
Li is primarily responsible for the overall operation and management of
the Group. Prior to joining our Group, he worked in Guangdong Runsheng
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (BERBEZEEFRA

October 2014, where he was mainly respon5|ble for supervising the overall

) from November 2007 to

strategy and operation management.

Mr. Li graduated from the School of Economics and Management in Shanxi

University (LU PEAER) in 1998 with a bachelor’s degree in Economics.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

HUANG Danyan (Zf3%), aged 61, is an executive Director and deputy
general manager of the Company. She has been a director and deputy
general manager of the Company since October 2014 and July 2016, and
was re-designated as an executive Director on May 25, 2023. Ms. Huang is
primarily responsible for the company’s supply chain sector, production and
procurement business. Prior to joining our Group, she served as the deputy

general manager of Xiamen Suntama from November 1997 to October 2014.

Huang Danyan is a sister of Mr. Huang.

Non-executive Directors

LIU Zhen (2I78), aged 47, is a non-executive Director. He joined our Group as
a Director since July 2016 and was re-designated as a non-executive Director
on May 25, 2023. He is primarily responsible for providing professional
opinion and judgment to the Board of Directors. He served as the president of
Glory Manna Media Group (JtBREEH &) from January 2013 to August
2014. He is the partner of Guangyao Tianxiang, since September 2015.

Mr. Liu graduated from Beijing University of Technology (At IR T3 K£2) in
June 2000 with a bachelor's degree in computer science, and from Chinese
Academy of Sciences (AR BIFIEBE) (formerly known as University of Chinese
Academy of Sciences (FFEIRIEFTFFEAERT)) in June 2008 with a master's

degree in business administration.

WANG Yalong (EEE5E), aged 41, is a non-executive Director. He has been
appointed as a Director since January 2018, and was re-designated as a
non-executive Director on May 25, 2023. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible
for providing advice and reviewing overall policies and operations. He
has been serving as the general manager of Beijing Yanshi Investment
Management Center LP Gt RIBAIREEEH.O(ERER)) since February
2017. He served as vice president of investment and financing department
of Everbright Financial Holdings (Tianjin) Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (K ABIFE(RBR)EXKREESEEBMRAA) and
vice president of equity investment business of investment and financing
department of Everbright Financial Holdings Asset Management Co., Ltd. (J%¢
AEEEETIEARAR]) from June 2012 to February 2017,

(RRBEKX

&) in June 2004 with a bachelor's degree in marketing, and from Peking

Mr. Wang graduated from Tianjin University of Commerce

University (At R AEZ) in November 2011 with a master’s degree in business

administration.
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Independent non-executive Directors

XIAO Wei (B &), aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director. He
joined our Group as an independent Director since December 2020 and was
re-designated as an independent non-executive Director on May 25, 2023. He
is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent advice on
the operation and management of our Group.

Mr. Xiao has been serving as a teacher, associate professor and professor
of Xiamen University Law School (JEPTAREESEZPT) since August 2001. He
served as director, secretary of the board of directors, and general counsel
of Xiamen International Trade Group Co. Ltd. (EFIEIBEBAMD AR A
7)) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600755)
from July 1991 to July 2001. He also served as an independent director of
Suzhou Jinhongshun Automotive Parts Co., Ltd. (ER/N & %8I85 2 3614 A%
MAEMRZAF]) (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
603922) from July 2018 to May 2020, an independent director of Fujian
Longma Environmental Sanitation Equipment Co., Ltd. (iR BE B IRF LM
&R B MR AE]) (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
603686) from September 2019 to September 2022, an independent director
of Ruida Futures Co., Ltd. CREBERMBRAE]) (a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002961) from January 2019 to
January 2022, and an independent director of Fujian Longjing Environmental
Protection Co., Ltd. ((BE B/ FRRMMDBRAF]) (a company listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600388) from November 2014 to
November 2020, and rejoined in June 2022 as an independent director who
is primarily responsible for providing independent advice to the Board.
He is currently a director of Xiamen International Trade Group Co., Ltd,,
an independent director of Motic (Xiamen) Electric Group Co., Ltd. (&%
Bl (EP)BERKMHEBRAT]) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 300341), an independent director of Xiamen Faratronic
Co., Ltd, (EFTENEFRMN AR AT (a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 600563), and an independent director of Dabo
Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (KBEERERMHBMR AT (@ company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002901). Mr. Xiao is also
a supervisor of Xiamen University Chen An International Law Development
Foundation (EPIREBREZEIFEZZEHRESE), a law professor of Xizang
Minzu University (B RI%ZB), an executive council member of PRC
Securities Law Research Association (FREIREH AR E), an arbitrator of
Xiamen Arbitration Commission (EPI{F%,Z &), a vice president of Fujian
Enterprise Legal Work Association ({&&4& FEEEIIERE), a lawyer of
Yinghe Law Firm (f8E&EMMETEFT), a president of Fujian Economic
Law Research Association (f2i2A B E2MITE 2 K), a vice president of
Fujian International Economic Law Research Association (18324 BIFR 4L %
Bt 2 &€ K), an arbitrator of Quanzhou Arbitration Commission (2R JH{#
#F;ZEZ B ), arbitrator of Harbin Arbitration Commission ("B HEZEE®),
a mediator of Cross-Strait Arbitration Center (BIKM EHFEL A ), a deputy
director of the research office of Intermediate People’s Court of Xiamen City,
Fujian Province ({8 && BT HAREFT) and a director of China World
Trade Organization Research Association (FF Bt R 2 S AT D).
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xiao graduated from Xiamen University (EFIRER) in July 1988 with a
bachelor's degree in international economic law, in July 1991 with a master’s
degree in civil and commercial law and in July 2000 with a doctoral degree in
international law. Mr. Xiao obtained the PRC lawyer qualification (1 Bl {21 &
%) in June 2020, law professor appointment certificate (ZZ2HIRIBTEE)
in 2003 and qualifications for independent directors of listed companies (=

MARBEEBER) in August 2010.

CHEN Aihua (BRE %), aged 38, he joined our Group as an independent
Director since December 2020 and was re-designated as an independent
non-executive Director on May 25, 2023. He is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent advice on the operation and

management of our Group.

Since September 2013, Mr. Chen has been a lecturer, associate professor
and professor of Xiamen National Accounting Institute (EFIBIZK &5 205%).
He is currently an independent director of Fujian Zhangzhou Development
Co, Lid, (FBEFMBERERMH BRI A)
Stock Exchange, stock code: 000753), an independent director of Beijing
Dataway Horizon Co., Ltd. (QtRZEE B HHBERERHBR A
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 301169), an

(@ company listed on the Shenzhen

independent director of Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd. (LT
RN BRAR)

stock code: 000680), an independent director of Goldstate Securities Co., Ltd.

(@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,

(2 TLEHFRM B AR and an external supervisor of Shanghai Hengshi
Financial Consulting Co., Ltd. (B8 & BMEHERERA
an independent director of Power HF Co. Ltd. CELB HRHBBRAT) (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 605100) from
August 2019 to October 2022.

al). He served as

Mr. Chen graduated from Central South University (FREIRZ2) in June 2008
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration, and from Xiamen
University (EFIRE) in June 2013 with a combined master and doctor
degree in accounting. Since December 2012, Mr. Chen is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (FREIFE&5TARHE) and
obtained the PRC lawyer qualification (77 B {2RH & &) in March 2012.
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LAM Yiu Por (#EEJK), aged 47, is an independent non-executive Director.
He joined our Group as an independent non-executive Director since
November 20, 2023. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent advice on the operation and management of our Group. He has
been an independent non-executive director of JNBY Design Limited (T
MEKABMR AT (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3306)
since October 2016 and a chief financial officer and company secretary of
Dingdang Health Technology Group Co., Ltd ("] & ERHZEEAB R Q7))
(@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9886) since January
2021.

He served as independent non-executive director of Tian Ge Interactive
Holdings Limited (K& B B)ZEAREBR/AF]) (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1980) from January 2021 to June 2022, the vice
president and chief financial officer of Greentech Technology International
Limited (£ BIEIHBIR AR AR (formerly known as L'sea Resources
International Holdings Ltd. (FI/G&RBIFIEAR BBRAF)) (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0195) from November 2013 to July
2020, an independent non-executive director of Denox Environmental &
Technology Holdings Limited GEFETRIREHIZRAER AT (@ company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1452) from October 2015 to June
2020, an independent non-executive director of China Tontine Wine Group
Co., Ltd. (FEIBRBEZEEERAF]) (@ company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 0389) from November 2016 to November 2018, an
non-executive director of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (PERIARE
BB R T]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1538)
from April 2015 to May 2017, an independent non-executive director of
Yat Sing Holdings Limited (AAKIEARABRAF]) (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 3708) (currently known as China Supply Chain
Holdings Limited (PB4t fESEE ¥ EBEFR A F]) from December 2014 to
March 2016, an independent non-executive director of GR Properties Limited
(EHBIFR AR AT (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
0108) (currently known as GR Properties Limited (B2 A R A 7)) from
June 2012 to February 2014, the chief financial officer and company secretary
of Lijun International Pharmaceutical (Holding) Co., Ltd. (%175 B R% &8 % (452 %)
AR AT (currently known as SSY Group Limited (f 1 EEBE AR A7)
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2005) from December
2005 to May 2008 and the chief financial officer and qualified accountant
of Zhongtian International Holdings Limited (FFXEIFRIEALGR A7)
(currently known as China Clean Energy Technology Group Limited (FF B)&
BALREHEEEBRZAR]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2379) from July 2004 to December 2005.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (B8 T
KE) with a bachelor degree of arts in accountancy in November 1997.
Mr. Lam has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since October 2004, an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute since March 2006, a chartered financial analyst of
the CFA Institute since September 2006 and a fellow of the Association of

Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2007.

SUPERVISORS

The PRC Company Law requires our Company to establish a supervisory
committee that is responsible for supervising the Directors and senior
management in performing their corporate duties. Our Supervisory
Committee consists of three Supervisors, including two shareholder
Supervisors and one employee representative Supervisor. Our Supervisors
are elected for a term of three years and are subject to re-election upon the
expiry of such term. The following table sets forth information regarding our

Supervisors.

Name Age Position
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Date of Appointment
BEZERH

Supervisors

E=

Mr. ZHENG Feng 53 Chairman of the board of Supervisors October 31, 2014
=3 53 BEREEER —mE+HA=+—H
Ms. WEI Wei 40 Supervisor July 5,2016

oML 40 E=E T-RFtHARR

Ms. ZHANG Ning 35 Supervisor September 26, 2022
REZ L 35 E% ZEZZFAAZTRH

ZHENG Feng (ZfI#), aged 53, is a Supervisor since October 2014 and
appointed as the chairman of the board of Supervisors in September 2022.
He is responsible for supervising the performance of duties by our Directors
and members of the senior management of our Group. He served as a
general manager at Xiamen Huarui Zhongying Holding Group Co., Ltd.
(EFEmPREREEERA
Zhongying Investment Management Co., Ltd. (EFIMERPAREERE
BIRAR]) since January 2006. He served as a general manager of Xiamen
Yiding Auction House (BEFI—$ & 77) from April 2003 to December 2005.
Mr. Zheng holds 20% of the limited partnership interests in our Shareholder,

(formerly known as Xiamen Huarui

Guangyao Tianxiang LP.
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Mr. Zheng graduated from Xiamen Jimei Finance College (EFI5eEM EHE

RFEHR) in June 1993 majoring in investment economic management.

WEI Wei (B83), aged 40, is a Supervisor since July 2016. She is responsible
for supervising the performance of duties by our Directors and members of
the senior management of our Group. She has been served as the purchasing
manager from December 2008 and promoted to serve as director of supply
chain center at Yan Sinong in December 2023. Prior to joining our Group.
She served as secretary to the general manager and the administrative
commissioner of the human resource department of Xiamen Suntama from
October 2006 to November 2008. Ms. Wei Wei holds 3.65% of the limited

partnership interests in our Shareholder, Jinyan Tengfei LP.

Ms. Wei graduated from Guizhou University of Finance and Economics (&M

BF4ERE2) in July 2006 with a bachelor's degree in financial management.

ZHANG Ning (5R2), aged 35, is a Supervisor since September 2022. She is
responsible for supervising the performance of duties by our Directors and
members of the senior management of our Group. Ms. Zhang served as
secretary to the Chairman of our Group, manager of the legal department
from July 2015 to December 2020 and senior manager of legal department
of our Group since December 2020. Prior to joining our Group, she served as
a legal consultant and chairman’s secretary at Xiamen Suntama from March
2013 to June 2015. She served as the campus principal and partner of the
Longwen campus at Zhangzhou Longwen Hanlin Education Consulting
Co., Ltd. CBINTBEXHMAEEEABRAF) from March 2012 to March
2013. She served as Campus Director at Beijing Longwen Global Education
Technology Co., Ltd. Xiamen Branch (It RESRKHBEHBERARE
P99 2 |]) from December 2010 to December 2012. She served as Office
Director of the Nanjing Yurun project department at China Construction
Seventh Engineering Division (Shanghai) Co,, Ltd. (FEZ-tR (&) BRAF
from August 2010 to November 2010. Ms. Zhang holds 2.13% of the limited

partnership interests in our Shareholder, Jinyan Tengfei LP.

Ms. Zhang graduated from Chongging University (& KXE) in June 2010

with a bachelor’s degree in law.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LI Youquan (ZEH £), aged 50, is an executive Director and general manager.
See "Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management — Directors” for his

biographical details.

HUANG Danyan (EfJ#), aged 61, is an executive Director and vice
general manager of our Company. See “Directors, Supervisors and Senior

Management — Directors” for her biographical details.

WENG Huizhen (¥ H), aged 51, is a deputy general manager of our
Company since October 2014. She is responsible for the chain business
department. Ms. Weng served as the deputy general manager of Xiamen Yan
Palace Bird's Nest Technology Development Co., Ltd. (BP9t~ E#HEE Rl
FERARAF]) from July 2014 to December 2017. Prior to joining our Group,
Ms. Weng joined Xiamen Suntama in July 2005 and successively served as
the store manager, manager of the sales department, marketing director and

deputy general manager until July 2014

LI Liangjie (ZER ), aged 44, is a deputy general manager of our Company
since October 2014. He is responsible for the online business department.
Prior to joining our Group, he worked as the director of sales and marketing
department of Guangdong Runsheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (5B 4 %
¥ AR 7)) from July 2009 to October 2014.

Li Liangjie graduated from the physician class of Wuhan Railway Health
School (EUZEIEEEER) (currently known as Wuhan Tongji Medical
University (02 &7 88 B K 22) in June 1999.

FAN Qunyan (SEBfH), aged 42, is a deputy general manager of our
Company since December 2020. He is responsible for R&D and product
department business. He has been successively served as the assistant to
the general manager, manager of the technical department, deputy general
manager of production, and the director of bird’s nest research institute of
the Yan Sinong when he joined our Group in April 2014 to December 2020.
Prior to joining our Group, he joined Xiamen Suntama in March 2009 and
successively served as the R&D member of the technical department of
Xiamen Suntama, the supervisor of its technical department, the manager
of its technical department, and its assistant to the general manager from
March 2009 to March 2014.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Fan graduated from Jiangsu University (TR AZ2E) in July 2007 with a
master’s degree in food science and engineering and Anhui Polytechnic
University (Z#ITF2ARE) in July 2004 with a bachelor's degree in food
science and engineering. Mr. Fan graduated Fujian Agriculture and Forestry
University (f&2 2 AEZ) in 2023 with a doctoral degree in food science

and engineering.

CHEN Zhigao (BR& ), aged 47, is the chief financial officer of our
Company. He is responsible for financial and accounting affairs of our
Group. He rejoined our Group as the chief financial officer of the Company
since December 2019. He is responsible for overseeing the financial and

accounting affairs of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chen served as a partner of Xiamen Hongshi
United Investment Management Partnership LP (BEFTEAKAIREEIE
AREEBRAR)) from May 2016 to March 2018. He then served as the
financial director of Talent Clothing Co., Ltd. (-4 FBR&MAX D ABR A R]) from
January 2019 to November 2019. From November 2008 to April 2016, he
successively served as the financial manager, deputy financial director and
financial director of Joeone Co., Ltd. (LW ERMDER A F
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601566). He served as

) (@ company

a senior manager of Solomon Management Consulting (Xiamen) Company
(FTZEPIE IR A(EPT) A R)) from February 2003 to February 2007. He also
served as a project manager of Xiamen Tianjian Huatian Certified Public
Accountants Co,, Ltd. (EPIRBEEX AN EBPABR 2 A]) from July 1999
to May 2002.

Mr. Chen graduated from Xiamen University (JEFIAEE) in July 1999 with a

bachelor's degree in accounting.

XIONG Ting (8&8%), aged 43, is the board secretary of our Company since
December 2020 and was appointed as a joint company secretary since
the Listing Date. She is responsible for information disclosure and investor
relations management. She joined our Group in July 2020 and served as
the head of the securities department of the Company from July 2020 to
December 2020. Prior to joining our Group, she served as the deputy director
of the business finance department at Joeone Co., Ltd. (U EMRD AR A
A]) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601566).
She also served as the financial manager of Xiamen Topstar Lighting Co., Ltd.
(EF9E LT ERBARAF]) from August 2000 to August 2011.

Xiong Ting graduated from Xiamen University (BFIAE2) in July 2000 with a

bachelor’ degree in accounting.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

XIONG Ting (B&#), is the board secretary of our Company and has been
appointed as one of our joint company secretaries since the Listing Date.
For biographical details of Ms. Xiong, see “Directors, Supervisors and Senior

Management — Senior Management” for more details.

LEUNG Kwan Wai (REZ), has been appointed as one of the joint company
secretaries of our Company since the Listing Date. Ms. Leung is a senior
manager of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and investor

services.

Ms. Leung has over 15 years of experience in the corporate secretarial service
field and has been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong
listed companies as well as multinational, private and offshore companies.
Ms. Leung is currently acting as the company secretary or joint company

secretary of a few listed companies on the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Leung obtained her master’'s degree of Corporate Governance from the
Hong Kong Metropolitan University (B ERE AE2) (formerly known as The
Open University of Hong Kong (B AFALZR). Ms. Leung is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an associate of both
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered

Governance Institute (CGl).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ Report together with the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31,2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The predecessor of our Company was established as a limited liability
company in the PRC on October 31, 2014 and named as Xiamen Yan Palace
Biological Engineering Development Co., Lid. (EFIZ EEVM T RERE
FR A 7]). The Company was converted from a limited liability company into
a joint stock limited liability company in accordance with applicable PRC
laws and regulations under the name of Xiamen Yan Palace Bioengineering
Co., Ltd. (EFIFZEEMIERMHAERDF) on December 23, 2020.
In November 2023, we were renamed as Xiamen Yan Palace Bird's Nest
Industry Co., Ltd. (EFIfz ERBEERMNBRAA)
leading brand in China’s EBN product market, dedicated to the development,

. The Company is a

production and marketing of high-quality modern EBN products. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on December
12,2023 with stock code 1497.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group's revenue and operating profit for the year ended December 31,
2023 by principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”in this annual report and Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the

Company's principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS AND FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

A review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period is
provided in the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis
— Business Overview” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the Reporting Period is provided in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Financial Review" of this annual

report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
The future development in the Company’s business is provided in the

sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Business Overview"

and “Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook” of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE
GROUP

We are subject to market risks brought by, among others, uncertainties of
the economic outlook, evolving regulations and policies. Please refer to the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook” for more

information.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Reporting Period,

(i)  the Group's largest supplier accounted for 18.3% (2022: 16.4%) of its
total purchases, and the five largest suppliers accounted for 54.2% of its
total purchases (2022: 52.2%); and

(i) the Group's largest customer accounted for 10.7% (2022: 10.9%) of its
total sales, and the five largest customers accounted for 15.5% of its total
sales (2022: 15.8%).

The third largest customer of the Group is controlled by one of our indirect
minority Shareholders, who is a limited partner of our Shareholder, Xiamen
Jinyanlai LP. Save as disclosed above, to the best of the knowledge of our
Directors, none of the Group's Directors, Supervisors, their respective close
associates or any Shareholder who owns more than 5% of our issued share
capital had any interest in any of the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers for the year ended December 31, 2023.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH ITS EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For details of relationship with the employees, customers and suppliers,
please refer to “Major Customers and Suppliers”, “Employee, Training and
Remuneration Policy” and the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”

in this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debentures during the Reporting Period.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company's reserves available for distribution to its Shareholders as
of December 31, 2023 amounted to RMB167.3 million. Movement in the
Company's reserves for the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in
consolidated statement of change in equity of the Group included in this

annual report.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had no outstanding balance of

borrowings or unutilized banking facilities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company

during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period and up to

the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin

Mr. LI Youguan

Ms. HUANG Danyan

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Zhen
Mr. WANG Yalong

46 Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

&%
ARRREBARBITEAES -

A7 B

HE-_T-_=ZF+-_A=+—8 A2 #
BEIENFEREAARK 167388 - HEZ
- =F+ZA=+—HLEFE AQRIHE
BEHENERNANEFRPAEEGEEREEE -

RITREMER

BE_FT_=—Ft+_A=1+—H XRFRAE
REENERBERIARPANRITHE -

IR R A 80 15

WEHRA - AR TTT?EEHH#%@Z&TH .
BARRIEITRNDKXBERARBRTEMKE
BRI ER AR R EITRND E’JT;?/’J.:& =i
EHRRFENZEWE o

EX  EX SREBEAERR

RBEHANREZEAEEREAN - EFRS
LERABBRE

HITES
BRELE(EER)
BOBRKE
FEREE

it (g

HBTES

%'J =S A
GHE- = e



Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIAO Wei
Mr. CHEN Aihua
Mr. LAM Yiu Por

Supervisors

Mr. ZHENG Feng
Ms. WEI Wei
Ms. ZHANG Ning

Senior Management

Mr. LI Youguan

Ms. HUANG Danyan
Ms. WENG Huizhen
Mr. LI Liangjie

Mr. FAN Qunyan
Mr. CHEN Zhigao
Ms. XIONG Ting

Biographical details of Directors, Supervisors and senior management are set

out in "Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

From the listing date on December 12, 2023 to the date of this annual report,
there was no changes to information which are required to be disclosed by
Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Each of our Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service contract with
our Company. The service contracts may be renewed in accordance with their

respective terms, the Articles and the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has or is
proposed to enter into a service contract with any member of our Group,
other than contracts expiring or determinable by the relevant employer
within one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).
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DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Competition” in the Prospectus, none of the Directors were
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete with the

businesses of the Group during the Reporting Period.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group included in this annual report, none of the Directors or their respective
connected entities (as defined in the Listing Rules) had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group subsisting during or at the end of

the Reporting Period to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a

party.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the section headed
“Report of the Directors — Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual
report, the Group has not entered into any contract of significance with
the controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective

subsidiaries.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements, the following transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A31 of
the Listing Rules and are required to be disclosed in this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed
that for the related party transactions falling under the definition of
‘connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the
case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, it had complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
We set out below the information required to be disclosed in compliance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Union Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework
Agreement

On November 20, 2023, our Company and Tianjin Union Yutai Trading Co.,
Lid. (RETMAB MR EAFR AT (‘Union Yutai’) entered into an EBN
products purchase and sales framework agreement (the “Union Yutai EBN
Products Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which, we agree to grant Union Yutai and its associates exclusive right to
sell our EBN products and related services in Tianjin City, the PRC, and Union
Yutai agrees to purchase and procure its associates to purchase from us
and sell to third parties EBN product and related services in Tianjin City, the
PRC. Each party also agrees that they may enter into separate underlying
agreements pursuant to such framework agreement to set out details of
specific transactions thereunder. The terms of transactions with Union Yutai
are based on the standard terms and conditions of our distributors, which is
in line with those we provide to a similar independent distributor, including
pricing, credit terms, sales rebate and return policies. See “Business — Our
Sales Network — Major Terms of Distribution Agreements” in the Prospectus
for more information on terms of distributorship. The term of the Union
Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement commenced
on the date of such agreement and will terminate on December 31, 2025 or
through mutual negotiation between both parties. Please refer to “Connected

Transactions” section in the Prospectus for details.

As of December 31, 2023, Union Yutai was held as to 38.5 % by Mr. Zheng,
50.0% by Fu Hongbo (f33E), 6.5% by Zheng Wei (E8&) and 5.0% by Ni Jun
({72 8&). Mr. Zheng is our vice chairman, executive Director and Controlling
Shareholder, and Zheng Wei is the niece of Mr. Zheng. Therefore, Union Yutai
is an associate of Mr. Zheng and our connected person. Fu Hongbo and Ni
Jun are Independent Third Parties. Accordingly, Union Yutai is a connected
person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules and the
transactions with Union Yutai constitute continuing connected transactions

of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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We determine the sales price charged by us from Union Yutai and sales
rebate enjoyed by Union Yutai for purchases and sales of our product based
on the same general guide on sales price and rebate policies of such goods
as provided by us to all the distributors (including independent distributors).
The rebates policy is determined on an arm'’s length basis with reference to
the sales volume and historical performance in accordance with the rebate
policies to all distributors (including independent distributors). Specific price
and payment will be made according to the respective product purchase and
sales contracts as further entered into between Union Yutai and us under the
Union Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement, which
shall generally be in line with the term and conditions we provide to a similar
independent distributor. See “Business — Our Sales Network — Major Terms of

Distribution Agreements” in the Prospectus for more information.

Our Directors estimated that the total sales to be generated from Union
Yutai’s purchases of the Company’s product would not exceed RMB23.4
million, RMB26.9 million and RMB31.0 million for the year ending December
31,2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Our Directors estimate that the total fees to be paid by Union Yutai to the
Company under the Union Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework
Agreement will not exceed RMB23.4 million during the year ended December
31, 2023. The actual transaction amount incurred in accordance with the
Union Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement for the
year ended December 31, 2023 was RMB18.3 million.

50 Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

PBHEMINERM A BT WRNHEEER
RABBTZH RN TIRIER IR PTA L8
B (BRBLEHEA) RENZSHmAEER
1% SR M B R AR B — ARSI MEE R FIK
RDOBRBEAMBLER (BREBULHRD) ZH
HRMBRRL 2R EENELEE R AT E
EETE ABERNINTEREABATER
MIREBEABMERAKBERBHER B HE
—HEAUNBEMBHEARET  BEEER
1P e 2R DL 98 7 A4S 5 P 4R £t A AR SRR AR 1 — B ©
EREZER  F2HBRERP[ES — B
HH E AR — R IR R E B IR =& -

EEME BEZZT=F  ZTZOAFKZ=
TE_RAFTZA=+—HIEFE  ABBRKR
BARNRERAELENBHERE S BITBB
ARM2I4BET - ARB2090BEBTTRARE
31088

EEMFEHUERBREHMUERAKEED
BHERBBEBERNARREZNNEER
T ZF+-A=+—BLFE BT
ARB 23488 - BE_T_=F+=A
—BIEFE  RECHURRAREEREH
ERBEERBRENZSEEARISIAET °



Purchase of Advertising Services — Zhongshi Hongyun
Advertisement Service Framework Agreement and Guangyao
Tianrun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement

On November 20, 2023, the Company and Beijing Zhongshi Hongyun
Advertising Co., Ltd. QERPIEBBESERA

entered into an advertisement service framework agreement (the “Zhongshi

("Zhongshi Hongyun”)

Hongyun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement”’), pursuant
to which, Zhongshi Hongyun agrees that it and its associates (collectively,
“Zhongshi Hongyun Entities”) will provide advertising services to us,
including placing advertisements of our products and brands on relevant
television and media platform. The term of the Zhongshi Hongyun
Advertisement Service Framework Agreement commenced on the date
of such agreement and would end on December 31, 2025. The Zhongshi
Hongyun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement shall terminate
upon the end of term on December 31, 2025, which can be renewed
through mutual agreement between both parties. Please refer to “Connected

Transactions” section in the Prospectus for details.

On November 20, 2023, the Company and Beijing Guangyao Tianrun
Advertising Co., Ltd. QbR ABRRBEEBRAR)

entered into an advertisement service framework agreement (the

("Guangyao Tianrun’)

“Guangyao Tianrun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which, Guangyao Tianrun agrees that it and its associates
(collectively, “Guangyao Tianrun Entities”) will provide advertising services
to us, including placing advertisements of our products and brands on
relevant television and media platform. The term of the Guangyao Tianrun
Advertisement Service Framework Agreement commenced on the date
of such agreement and would end on December 31, 2023. The Guangyao
Tianrun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement was terminated upon

the end of term on December 31, 2023.
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Mr. LIU Zhen ("Mr. Liu") is our non-executive Director and the controller of
one of our substantial Shareholders. As of December 31, 2023, Zhongshi
Hongyun was wholly-owned by ZHANG Yongfu, and Guangyao Tianrun
was owned as to 95% by ZHANG Jing and 5% by WANG Chao, each an
Individual Third Party. To the best knowledge of the Company having
made reasonable enquiries, such shareholders were business partners of
Mr. Liu who were ultimately taking instructions from Mr. Liu and thus both
of Zhongshi Hongyun and Guangyao Tianrun were controlled by Mr. Liu.
Therefore, Zhongshi Hongyun and Guangyao Tianrun were our connected
persons under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules and the transactions with
Zhongshi Hongyun and Guangyao Tianrun constitute continuing connected

transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transactions pursuant to the Zhongshi Hongyun Advertisement Service
Framework Agreement and Guangyao Tianrun Advertisement Service
Framework Agreement (collectively “Advertising Service Framework
Agreements’) are considered connected under Rule 14A.81 of the Listing
Rules and should be aggregated for the purposes of classification because (i)
the services provided under the Advertising Service Framework Agreements
are of similar nature and (ii) Zhongshi Hongyun Entities and Guangyao

Tianrun Entities are connected with one another.

Before entering into any advertising services agreement pursuant to the
Zhongshi Hongyun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement or
Guangyao Tianrun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement, we assess
our business needs and compare the advertising services fees proposed
by the Zhongshi Hongyun Entities or Guangyao Tianrun Entities with fees
offered by at least two other comparable independent service providers. The
service fee is agreed by the parties through arm'’s length negotiations based
on the markets rates and quality of services. We only enter into an advertising
services agreement with the Zhongshi Hongyun Entities or Guangyao Tianrun
Entities if the terms and conditions are fair and reasonable and based on
normal or better terms than those offered by other independent third party

service providers.

Our Directors estimated that the total fees to be paid by our Group to
Zhongshi Hongyun for purchasing advertising services would not exceed
RMB32.6 million, RMB43.9 million and RMB52.7 million for the year ending
December 31, 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively.
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Our Directors estimate that the total fees to be paid by our Group to
Guangyao Tianrun for purchasing advertising services would not exceed
RMB4.0 million for the year ending December 31, 2023. To simplify the
process and improve efficiency, the relevant advertising services provided
by Guangyao Tianrun were terminated thereunder and would be uniformly

provided by Zhongshi Hongyun.

Our Directors estimate that the total fees to be paid by the Company to
Zhongshi Hongyun under the Zhongshi Hongyun Advertisement Service
Framework Agreement will not exceed RMB32.6 million and the total fees to
be paid by the Company to Guangyao Tianrun under the Guangyao Tianrun
Advertisement Service Framework Agreement will not exceed RMB4.0 million
during the year ended December 31, 2023. The actual transaction amount
incurred in accordance with the Zhongshi Hongyun Advertisement Service
Framework Agreement and the Guangyao Tianrun Advertisement Service
Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2023 was RMB32.2

million and RMB3.9 million, respectively.

Confirmations from independent non-executive Directors and
the auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions mentioned above pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of
the Listing Rules and confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected

transactions:

() were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the

Group;
(i) were on normal commercial terms or better to the Group; and
(iii) were in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Shareholders as a whole.
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The auditor of the Company has been engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions of the Company in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their conclusions in
respect of the aforesaid continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. In respect of the aforesaid continuing

connected transactions, the auditor of the Company has confirmed that:

() nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved

by the Company’s Board of Directors;

(i) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not, in all

material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not entered into,
in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements

governing such transactions; and

(iv) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected

transaction have exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company.
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Internal control measures

The Company has adopted the following internal control and corporate

governance measures to closely monitor connected transactions and ensure

future compliance with the Listing Rules:

m

the Company has adopted and implemented a management system on
connected transactions and the Board and various internal departments
of the Company are responsible for the control and daily management

in respect of the continuing connected transaction;

the Board and various internal departments of the Company are jointly
responsible for evaluating the terms of the continuing connected
transactions, in particular, the fairness of the pricing policies and annual

caps (if applicable) under each transaction;

the Board and the finance department of the Company are regularly
monitoring the connected transactions and the management of
the Company will regularly review the pricing policies to ensure the
connected transactions to be performed in accordance with the relevant

agreements;

the Company has engaged external independent auditor which will,
and the independent non-executive Directors also will, conduct annual
review on the connected transactions to ensure that the transactions
contemplated thereunder have been conducted pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules and have fulfilled the relevant

disclosure requirements; and

the Company will continue to comply with the relevant requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the continuing connected
transactions, and comply with the conditions prescribed under the
wavier submitted to the Stock Exchange in connection with the

continuing connected transactions in this regard.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or

existed during the Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals

are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors or Supervisors waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of
the Directors, Supervisors or other individuals as an inducement to join, or

upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

EMPLOYEE, TRAINING AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of December 31, 2023, we had 1,917 employees. The staff costs including
Directors” and Supervisors’ emoluments and share-based payment expenses

were approximately RMB293.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2023.

Our employees’ compensation includes basic salary, performance-based cash
bonuses and other incentives. We determine our employees’ compensation
based on each employee's performance, qualifications, position and
seniority. In order to improve the Company's incentive mechanism,
retain key employees and promote the sustainable development of the
Company'’s business, the Board proposed the H Share Incentive Scheme
to the Shareholders’ general meeting for consideration to incentivize the
management personnel and core technical employees who play important
roles in the Company’s operating results and future development. The H
Share Incentive Scheme has been approved by Shareholders at the EGM. For
the details of the H Share Incentive Scheme and related information, please
refer to “Report of the Directors-H Share Incentive Scheme” in this annual

report.
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We recognize the importance of keeping the Directors updated with the
latest information of duties and obligations of a director of a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and the general regulatory
and environmental requirements for such listed company. To meet this goal,
we are committed to the continuing education and development of the

Directors.

The Directors, Supervisors and senior management receive remuneration
from the Company in the form of fees, salaries, contributions to pension
schemes, discretionary bonuses, allowances and other benefits in kind.
The Board has established the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee to
review and recommend the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company, and the
Board, with the advice from the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, will
review and determine the remuneration and compensation packages taking
into account salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management and

performance of the Group.

As required under the labor laws of PRC, we enter into individual
employment contracts with our employees covering matters such as wages,
bonuses, employee benefits, workplace safety, confidentiality obligations,
non-competition and grounds for termination. In compliance with PRC
regulations, we participate in various employee social security plans that
are organized by applicable local municipal and provincial governments,
including housing, pension, medical, work-related injury and unemployment

benefit plans.

We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our employees
and we had not experienced any material labor disputes or any difficulty in

recruiting staff for our operations during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We are subject to various PRC environmental laws and regulations, the
implementation of which involves regular inspections by local environmental
protection authorities. See “Regulatory Overview— Laws and Regulations
Relating to Environmental Protection” in the Prospectus. We have adopted
environmental protection measures to ensure compliance with applicable
PRC environmental laws and regulations. Our wastewater discharge
procedures comply with national standards, and we treat solid waste and

liquid waste in cooperation with qualified third parties.

We work closely with our suppliers in Southeast Asia to ensure that we only
use harvested bird’s nests abandoned by swiftlets. The artificial birdhouses
protect swiftlets from enemies and predators and create a safe breeding
environment for them, thereby promoting the healthy growth of the
swiftlet population and enabling a sustainable and environmentally friendly
manufacturing process. In addition, we continuously invest in the application
of green technology to our manufacturing processes to reduce energy
consumption and emissions. We believe that it is our responsibility to protect
the environment and promote sustainable practices in the industry, and we

are committed to doing our part to achieve this goal.

We also adhere to the principles of waste and pollutant emission reduction,
energy saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in the way
we operate. During the Reporting Period, all of our production bases met the

national compulsory standards for wastewater and exhaust gas emission.

58 Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

RIRBERMENR

BAPBTHREZERRARER  HEBIR
BHRERAPINESNRE - 2RAREREE
R —RIBRERBERER | - HFIDHREUR
BIRERERE - BRETERANTBERRERZA
B RPIBEKEBIZF 6 BREE - R
HABEMNS =77 A FRIE E R Y MR BE BE
) o

BPEREENEEATIAE  BREMR
EREHEERENRBRE - NERERE
EHERIRABNBRENRE - REMEIE
—EZ2MEBERE - KMEESKEER
fEEER  YERAFEMRROZEBIE
SO - HPITE R EEREBETERARERK
T AR BETROB R M o HAIEERER
BEMERETEAFEERERMOEML - BM
HIREBCHN M HIEXRERE—BE-

BAMEE T NBERFH DB NS R
M ERBERMBERIERFNRA - REH
A BPNEEEM2REDBREK  ER
PEDR BT o



During the Reporting Period, we have been in compliance with the currently
applicable PRC laws and regulations with respect to environmental matters in
all material respects, and not subject to any material administrative penalties
for violations of applicable PRC environmental laws or regulations which
would have a material adverse effect on our business. We will continuously
communicate with the relevant regulatory authorities regarding the evolving
ESG-related regulatory requirements to keep abreast of the last developments

and ensure our ongoing compliance.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company prepared
in accordance with Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules is set out in the section

headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

THE GROUP’S SUBSIDIARIES AND FACILITIES

A summary of the corporate information and the particulars of our

subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2023, we owned five properties with an aggregate
gross floor area of approximately 5,573.9 square meters in China. As of the
same date, we leased 121 properties relating to our business operations in
total with an aggregate gross floor area of approximately 128,508.2 square
meters, which have been used primarily as stores, offices, production bases
or warehouses. As of the same date, there were defects in some of our leased
properties. See “Business — Legal Proceedings and Compliance — Compliance

— Leased Properties”in the Prospectus for details.

All such properties have been used for non-property activities as defined
under Rule 5.01(2) of the Listing Rules and are primarily used as the operation

of shops, offices, production bases or warehouses.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF OUR
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
interests and short positions of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executive
of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of our associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as

ARBEE EERBSITHRAR
RAQRREMEEEBERN R - 8
FARORESZPHEER KR

HE-_ZT_=F+-_A=+—8  BEEFH
M ARRREE  BEERRSTHRAERER
AR PUEAIAREEB AR - BB G E
HH M Rk R (E () RIFE 5 R E KHIZ5
XVEBEE7 R B8 DB - BBMANAA B KRB A FT (2
BEFAIRARBOERRAR) REESFR
HIEBEOIRZEE) RO REES RS K
PIEE35216k - MAEPIREMZEM : s(ORE
fZXESF BIZEB AN AN A B B R FTa T

follows:
Approximate
percentage Approximate
shareholding in percentage
Number of our Unlisted in our total
Name Class of Shares Capacity/Nature of interest Shares”  Shares/H Shares share capital
ERLED
B3,/ HIRH ERABE
i RER 5/ EEME ROBE" HREFHEIN i EONER g d
Mr. Huang* Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner — — —
BREY K MR EREEA
H Shares 4,335,000 (L) 1.32% 0.93%
HIX
Unlisted Shares Interest held jointly with another person? 33,261,090 (L) 24.35% 7.15%
K MK BE—H AT ARG ER?
H Shares 41,886,095 (L) 12.73% 9.00%
HIR
Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled corporation® 45,892,780 (L) 33.60% 9.86%
A EmRR REEEENERY
H Shares 45,892,780 (L) 13.95% 9.86%
HIX
Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled corporation® — — —
K e RREBEBSRERY
H Shares 8,208,320 (L) 2.50% 1.76%
HEX
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Approximate

percentage Approximate
shareholding in percentage
Number of our Unlisted in our total
Name Class of Shares Capacity/Nature of interest Shares”  Shares/H Shares share capital
i
B3,/ HIRH ERABE
#E R A3 R B/ ERME ROBE" BREMVEIL HBNEDL
Mr. Zheng Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 16,636,520 (L) 12.18% 3.57%
Brs A MRk BHEBA
H Shares 16,636,520 (L) 5.06% 3.57%
HIX
Unlisted Shares Interest held jointly with another person 62,517,350 (L) 45.77% 13.43%
KM HE—BATHAEEER?
H Shares 75,060,675 (L) 22.82% 1.62%
HAR
Unlisted Shares Interest of spouse® — — —
A LR EEEz
H Shares 8,625,000 (L) 2.62% 1.85%
HER
Mr. Li Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 16,624,570 (L) 12.17% 3.57%
R4 A M BHEEA
H Shares 16,624,575 (L) 5.05% 3.57%
HEX
Unlisted Shares Interest held jointly with another person 62,529,300 (L) 45.78% 13.43%
K MK HE—BATHAEEER?
H Shares 83,697,620 (L) 2545% 17.98%
HAR
LIU Zhen Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner — — -
2 P i) ) ERfAA
H Shares 12,020,475 (L) 3.65% 2.58%
HiR
Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled corporation® 30,000,000 (L) 21.97% 6.44%
K M RREBEBSER
H Shares 30,000,000 (L) 9.12% 6.44%
HIX

—EZ - =F4R | ANNUAL REPORT 2023 61



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
E £

Approximate

percentage Approximate
shareholding in percentage
Number of our Unlisted in our total
Name Class of Shares Capacity/Nature of interest Shares”  Shares/H Shares share capital
fERLED
B3,/ HIRH ERABE
®E R A3 R B/ ERME ROBE" BREMHEIL HBNEDL
WANG Yalong Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled corporation” — — —
ThE K Mk REEEBSRER
H Shares 38,857,460 (L) 11.81% 8.35%
HIX

m

62

"

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares and the letter “S
denotes the person’s short position in the Shares.

(i) Mr. Huang, our founder, chairman and executive Director; (ii) Xiamen Suntama,
an entity controlled by Mr. Huang; (iii) Mr. Zheng, our vice chairman and executive
Director; and (iv) Mr. Li, our general manager and executive Director, are acting in
concert (Mr. Huang, Mr. Zheng, Mr. Li and Xiamen Suntama, together the “Concert
Parties”). See "History, Development and Corporate Structure — Concert Party
Arrangement” in the Prospectus for more information. The equity interest held
by Jinyan Tengfei LP (the employee incentive share platform controlled by Mr.
Huang, who is the general partner of such limited partnership) and by Ms. Xue (the
spouse of Mr. Zheng), are also deemed to be controlled by the Concert Parties
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Xiamen Suntama is controlled by Mr. Huang as of December 31, 2023. Mr. Huang
is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Xiamen Suntama under
the SFO.

As of the December 31, 2023, Mr. Huang was the sole general partner of Jinyan
Tengfei LP. Mr. Huang is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Jinyan
Tengfei LP is interested in.

Ms. Xue is the spouse of Mr. Zheng. Accordingly, Mr. Zheng is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares of Ms. Xue is interested in for the
purpose of the SFO.

Xiamen Guangyao Tianxiang Investment Co., Ltd. is the sole general partner of
Guangyao Tianxiang and is therefore deemed to be interest in the Shares held
by Guangyao Tianxiang LP under the SFO. LIU Zhen held approximately 80% of
the limited partnership interests of Guangyao Tianxiang LP and controls Xiamen
Guangyao Tianxiang Investment. Co., Ltd. as of the Latest Practicable Date. LIU
Zhen is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Guangyao
Tianxiang LP under the SFO.
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(7)  WANG Yalong held approximately 45% of Beijing Yanshi Investment Management
Center Limited Partnership (At RIGARIKEE R HLN(BRAEE)) as of December
31, 2023, which is the general partner of Hongyan Investment LP. WANG Yalong is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Hongyan Investment LP
under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, none of the Directors,
Supervisors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO); or which would be required to
be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

On January 24, 2024, the Company has submitted an application to the CSRC
in respect of the conversion of all its outstanding 136,580,700 Unlisted shares
held by seven Shareholders into H shares. On March 7, 2024, the Company
has received a filing issued by CSRC, pursuant to which, the Company has
completed the filing with the CSRC in respect of such conversion of Unlisted
Shares into H Shares for listing on the Stock Exchange, which will be valid
for 12 months from the date of the Filing Notice. Such conversion is not
completed as of the date of this annual report, and is still subject to the
approval of the listing, and permission to deal in relevant H Shares, by the
Stock Exchange. See the Company’s announcement dated January 24, 2024

and March 11, 2024 for more information.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of December 31, 2023, to the best of knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons, other than Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FRRRRIRAD K AR R4+ g

mRIRR

BE_T_=—F+_A=t—H BEEM
HoBRARBESE  EFEHARSTHARN
TIHATRBEORBERDPHEBEREESFR
BB GO EXVERSE 2 M3 D B RM AN A R EE I
ERENR AR RIERE S RIE GIIE33615R
FENELMANERLIAS -

Approximate
percentage Approximate
shareholding in percentage
our Unlisted in our total
Name Class of Shares Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares" Shares/H Shares share capital
ERLET
Rt /HRH ERASE
2] RGER 51/ BREE RO#RY  RREBOEIL LR
Xiamen Suntama Unlisted Shares Beneficial interest 45,892,780 (1) 33.60% 9.86%
BEFIERS A Lkt EiEn
H Shares 45,892,780 (L) 13.95% 9.86%
HIR
Unlisted Shares Interest held jointly with 33,261,090 (1) 2435% 7.15%
another person®
A Lkt ER-EATARARERY
H Shares 54429415(L) 16.55% 11.69%
Hik
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Approximate
percentage Approximate
shareholding in percentage
our Unlisted in our total
Name Class of Shares Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares" Shares/H Shares share capital
R L
Rt /HiRH EREEE
i RGER 5/ BEME RO4RY  RREBOEIL SRR
Ms. Xue Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner - — —
Bt A Lkt ERBERA
H Shares 8,625,000 (L) 262% 185%
HIR
Unlisted Shares Interest of spouse® 79153870 (L) 57.95% 17.00%
ALTRA REER"
H Shares 91,697,195 (L) 27.88% 19.70%
Hik
Guangyao Tianxiang LP Unlisted Shares Beneficial interest 30,000,000 (L) 21.97% 6.44%
RERHARAR A Lkt Bhks
H Shares 30,000,000 (L) 9.12% 6.44%
Hik
Xiamen Guangyao Tianxiang Investment Co, Ltd. ~ Unlisted Shares Interest in a controlled corporation” 30,000,000 (L) 21.97% 6.44%
B ARRRELRAT * Lt HEmEEER
H Shares 30,000,000 (L) 9.12% 6.44%
HIX
Xiamen Jinyanlai LP Unlisted Shares Beneficial interest - - -
EFeRRERAR ALkt Bika
H Shares 41,666,670 (1) 1267% 8.95%
Hik
WANG Junjie Unlisted Shares Interest in a controlled corporation® - — —
Tk A Lkt RREEENERY
H Shares 41,666,670 (L) 12.67% 8.95%
Hik
Hongyan Investment LP Unlisted Shares Beneficial interest - — >
LEHRERRAR A Lkt s
H Shares 38,857,460 (L) 11.81% 8.35%
HIX
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Approximate
percentage Approximate
shareholding in percentage
our Unlisted in our total
Name Class of Shares Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares" Shares/H Shares share capital
R LM
Rt /HiRH EREEE
i RGER 5/ BEME RO4RY  RREBOEIL NESED L
Beijing Yanshi Investment Management Center LLP Unlisted Shares Interest in a controlled corporation® - - -
IRBAREERDDL (BRAH) A Lkt RREEENERO
H Shares 38857460 (L) 11.81% 8.35%
HIX
YANG Lei Unlisted Shares Interest in a controlled corporation® - — -
he ALkt RREEENERC
H Shares 38,857,460 (L) 11.81% 8.35%
Hik
Shannan Yanshi Venture Investment Co,, Ltd. Unlisted Shares Interest in a controlled corporation® - - -
AR RERRAT A Lkt RREEENERO
H Shares 388574601 (L) 11.81% 8.35%
Hik
WANG Jinghui Unlisted Shares Interest in a controlled corporation® - - -
58 ALARA RRIEEE SERO
H Shares 38857460 (L) 11.81% 8.35%
HIR
HU Qiaohong Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner"” 16,489,330 (L) 12.07% 3.54%
iR ALTRA BGHEA"
H Shares 16,489,325 (1) 501% 3.54%
Hik
Yangming Kangyi LP and Jinjun Hongyan LP Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 8333330 (1) 6.10% 1.79%
FRRIRERABNERERARAR A Lkt EREAA
Fujian Yangming Venture Capital Co, Ltd. Unlisted Shares Interest in a controlled corporation” 8333330 (1) 6.10% 1.79%
(‘"Yangming Venture') LR RREEENER"

BRBRAZRARRAT ((RBE)
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(1)-(2) See “Report of the Directors — Interests and Short Positions of the Directors,
Supervisors and the Chief Executive of Our Company in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of Our Company and Its Associated Corporations”in this
annual report for more information.

(3) Ms. Xue is the spouse of Mr. Zheng. Accordingly, they are deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares of each other for the purpose of the
SFO.

(4) Xiamen Guangyao Tianxiang Investment Co., Ltd. is the sole general partner of

Guangyao Tianxiang LP and is therefore deemed to be interest in the Shares
held by Guangyao Tianxiang under the SFO.

(5) The general partner of Xiamen lJinyanlai LP is Wang Junjie, who is therefore
deemed to be interest in the Shares held by Xiamen Jinyanlai LP under the SFO.

(6) Beijing Yanshi Investment Management Center LLP is the sole general partner
of Hongyan Investment. The general partner of Beijing Yanshi Investment
Management Center LLP is YANG Lei and the limited partner of Beijing Yanshi
Investment Management Center LLP holds more than one-third of its limited
partnership interest is Shannan Yanshi Venture Investment Co., Ltd. (a company
owned as to 51% by WANG Jinghui and 45% by WANG Yalong). As such, each of
Beijing Yanshi Investment Management Center LLP, YANG Lei, Shannan Yanshi
Venture Investment Co., Ltd., WANG Jinghui and WANG Yalong is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Hongyan Investment under the SFO.

(7) Yangming Venture is the general partner of both of Yangming Kangyi LP and
Jinjun Hongyan LP, and therefore Yangming Venture is deemed to be interested
in the interests held by Yangming Kangyi LP and Jinjun Hongyan LP.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this annual report, the Directors,
Supervisors and the chief executive of the Company are not aware of any
other person (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would be required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which would be required to be recorded in the register to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

On January 24, 2024, the Company has submitted an application to the CSRC
in respect of the conversion of all its outstanding 136,580,700 Unlisted shares
held by seven Shareholders into H shares. On March 7, 2024, the Company
has received a filing issued by CSRC, pursuant to which, the Company has
completed the filing with the CSRC in respect of such conversion of Unlisted
Shares into H Shares for listing on the Stock Exchange, which will be valid
for 12 months from the date of the Filing Notice. Such conversion is not
completed as of the date of this annual report, and is still subject to the
approval of the listing, and permission to deal in relevant H Shares, by the
Stock Exchange. See the Company's announcement dated January 24, 2024

and March 11, 2024 for more information.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report during and at the end of the year
ended December 31, 2023, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
was a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors or any of
their respective spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or

any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiary had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company'’s listed securities during the period from the Listing Date to

the date of this annual report.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial

statements.

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Employee Incentive Scheme was adopted by the Company on December
26, 2020. The terms of the Employee Incentive Scheme are not subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Summary of major terms of the

Employee Incentive Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes

The purpose of the Employee Incentive Scheme is to attract and
retain talents for our Group. The Employee Incentive Scheme fosters
shared interests between shareholders of our Company and our
management team, thereby furthering our Company’s focus on long-

term development.

(ii) Eligible participants

Eligible participants must be formal employee of the Company and
shall be core management personnel and technical backbones who
work in key positions of the Company or its subsidiaries with a direct
or relatively material impact on the company’s operating performance
and sustainable development. Eligible participants need to meet the
following criteria (1) senior management; (2) department managers with
one year working experience; or (3) department deputy managers with

10 years working experience.
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(iii) Scheme administration

A management committee has been authorized to act as the scheme
administrator to manage the scheme and the related shareholding
platform, including but not limited to, formulating and amending
detailed implementation documents for the scheme, managing the
daily operation of the scheme and related shares, approving the exit
and share transfer, determining and explaining terms of the scheme
and related matters thereunder and other work as otherwise authorized
by the Company. The management committee shall consist of eight
members including one team leader who is the chairman of the
Company, three deputy team leaders who are the Company's vice
chairman, general manager, and chairman of the board of Supervisors,
and four team members who are the Company’s chief financial officer,
board secretary, human resources director and manager of the legal

department.

(iv) Maximum number of Shares

(v)

A total number of 8,208,320 Shares underlying the Employee Incentive
Scheme were issued to Jinyan Tengfei LP for the purpose of the
Employee Incentive Scheme, representing approximately 1.76% of the
total issued share capital of the Company. As of December 31, 2023, all
Shares subject to the Employee Incentive Scheme have been granted to

and subscribed by 43 Participants.

Rights and Restrictions Attached to the Restricted Shares

The Company shall establish a limited partnership entity as an
employee shareholding platform to hold and manage the Shares under
the scheme. The general partner of such entity shall be the person
representing and responsible for the management of such entity,
including exercising the voting rights attached to the Shares held by
Jinyan Tengfei LP, and the limited partners shall not participate in the
management. Accordingly, the Company established Jinyan Tengfei LP
as the employee shareholding platform, the general partner of which
is Mr. Huang and the limited partners of which are grantees under the

scheme.
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All the grantees shall be entitled to all the economic interests relating
to their respective Restricted Shares, except that the Restricted Shares
shall be subject to certain transfer and disposal restrictions, including:
(i) the completion of a qualified listing; (ii) the expiry of the lock-up
period as required by the CSRC (where applicable); and (iii) 36 months
commencing from the date of implementation of the scheme. In
addition, each grantee who is Director, Supervisor or senior management
of the Company shall retain at least 10% of the total Shares subscribed
by him/her under the scheme during his/her term of employment, to

avoid short selling and control the risk.

The Company shall establish a limited partnership entity as an
employee shareholding platform to hold and manage the Shares under
the scheme. The general partner of such entity shall be the person
representing and responsible for the management of such entity,
including exercising the voting rights attached to the Shares held by
Jinyan Tengfei LP, and the limited partners shall not participate in the
management. Accordingly, the Company established Jinyan Tengfei LP
as the employee shareholding platform, the general partner of which
is Mr. Huang and the limited partners of which are grantees under the

scheme.

In the event that the relevant grantees conduct material malfeasance,
violate the lock-up requirements, take action materially adversely affect
the Group or conduct competitive business without the approval of the
Company, such Restricted Shares shall be unconditionally sold to other
limited partners or third parties designated by the scheme administrator
at the price calculated based on the following calculation methods,
whichever is lower and deducting the taxes and administrative expenses
accrued per share: (a) the actual subscription price paid by such grantee;

or (b) the most recent and valid fair value assessed.

In the other events, the sales price shall be determined with reference
to the principal above and such shall not be higher than the price
calculated based on the following calculation methods, whichever is
higher and deducting the taxes and administrative expenses accrued
per share: (a) the actual subscription price paid by such grantee plus
interests of commercial banks in the same period; or (b) the most recent

and valid fair value assessed or the market trading price.
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(vi) Details of the Awards granted

Below is the list of the grantees under the Employee Incentive Scheme
that are entitled to the Restricted Shares as of December 31, 2023:
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BHE-_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—H ZFAF
PR AR (0 HE F A0 R BB 5T 218 T B
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding as

Number of December 31,
Name Role Date of grant of Shares" 2023
BE-_Z-=F
+=—B=+—H
HE RAEBRENRA BT HH ROBED REMLBILL
Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Other Connected Persons
EE 2F EREEERAMBEAT
Weng Huizhen Deputy general manager December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
SEH Eparcg —E-TF+ZA=+"H
Chen Zhigao Chief financial officer December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
BRE= BRVEE —E-TFE+ZAZ+RH
Huang Danyan Executive Director and December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
deputy general manager
=18 WITEERABKE —EFF+ZA=+"H
Li Liangjie Deputy general manager December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
ZREAN Blliassig —E-TF+-A=+"H
Fan Qunyan Deputy general manager December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
ks il Bl AR —E-TF+ZAZ+RH
Wei Wei Supervisor December 26, 2020 299,604 0.06%
M EE —E_TFE+ZAZ+RH
Zhang Ning Supervisor December 26, 2020 174,837 0.04%
RE EE —ETFE+ZAZ+RH
Xiong Ting Board secretary and joint December 26, 2020 174,837 0.04%
company secretary
R EFSUERBMELAAIWE —T-TF+-_A=+XH
Mr. Huang Executive Director and chairman December 26, 2020 3,283 0.001%
of the Board of Directors
|mEE HITEEREER —E-TFE+AZ+RH
Subtotal 2,778,516 0.60%
NEE
Other Grantees
BV (IESES
34 grantees Employees December 26, 2020 5,429,804 1.17%
MBBBER == —E_TFE+ZAZ+RH
Notes: Bist
(1) For illustrating the indirect interests of grantees in our Company, the number () RAHRAIEBERNAARNEEER - RO
of Shares are presented and calculated by multiplying their respective HEREESERSHEBEREREENER
percentage of limited partnership interests in Jinyan Tengfei LP (in two ERERE D (REMA/NE) AR RE
decimal places) by the total number of Shares held by Jinyan Tengfei LP. REBERSENROEHETRAE -
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All the Restricted Shares granted under the Employee Incentive Scheme are
subject to certain transfer and disposal restrictions set out above. No grant
of Restricted Shares under the Employee Incentive Scheme will cause any
dilution of the shareholding of our Shareholders after the Listing.

H SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The H Share Incentive Scheme was approved and adopted by the Company
on March 25, 2024. The terms of the H Share Incentive Scheme are subject to
the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Summary of major terms of
the H Share Incentive Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes of H Share Incentive Scheme

The purposes of the H Share Incentive Scheme include (a) promoting the
achievement of long-term sustainable development and performance
goals of the Company, (b) closely aligning the interests of the grantees
with those of the Shareholders, investors and the Company to enhance
the cohesion of the Company and to facilitate the maximization of
the value of the Company, and (c) improving the Company’s incentive
mechanism to attract, motivate and retain Directors, supervisors, senior
management, core employees and service providers who have made
outstanding contributions to the sustainable operation, development
and long-term growth of the Company.

(ii) Participants of H Share Incentive Scheme

Eligible participants who may participate in the H Share Incentive
Scheme include: (a) any director (excluding independent non-executive
Director), supervisor, senior management or employee of the Group; and
(b) any service provider as the Board deems fit.

A person shall not be considered as an eligible participant if, at the Grant
Date, he/she: (a) is an independent non-executive Director; (b) has been
publicly censured or declared as an ineligible candidate by securities
regulatory institutions in the last 12 months; (c) has been imposed with
administrative penalties by securities regulatory institutions in the last
12 months due to material non-compliance of laws or regulations; (d)
is prohibited from acting as a Director, supervisor or a member of the
senior management of the Company as required by the PRC Company
Law or the Listing Rules; (e) is prohibited from participating in the
Scheme as required by laws and regulations; (f) has committed other
material violation of relevant requirements of the Group or caused
material damage to the interest of the Group as determined by the
Board; or (g) any other circumstances prescribed by the Board for
the purpose of safeguarding the Group's interests and ensuring the
Group's compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to the

operation of the Scheme.
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(iii) Scheme Limit

In any event, the maximum number of Target Shares corresponding
to the Trust Units which may be granted under the H Share Incentive
Scheme shall not exceed 5% of the Company’s total Shares in issue as
at the adoption of the H Share Incentive Scheme (the “Scheme Limit"),
which was 23,275,000 H Shares.

(iv) Limit for each participant

(v)

None of the grantees shall be granted with an aggregate of more than
1% of the Company'’s total Shares in issue in any 12-month period up to

and including the Grant Date.

Grant of Trust Units

Subject to the terms and conditions of the H Share Incentive Scheme,
the Board and/or the Delegatee(s) may at their absolute discretion and
on such terms and conditions as the Board and/or the Delegatee(s)
thinks fit, grant the Trust Units to any eligible participant at the Grant
Price, which shall be determined by the Board and/or the Delegatee(s).
The consideration shall be paid by the relevant grantee when the Trust

Units are vested.

After the Board and/or the Delegatee(s) has decided to make a grant
of Trust Units to any Grantee, the Company shall issue an Award Letter
to such Grantee, which should set out details of the grant, including
but not limited to the name of the Grantee, the Trust Units granted,
the vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting date, Grant Price and
other terms and conditions to be determined by the Board and/or
the Delegatee(s) that are not inconsistent with the H Share Incentive
Scheme. The Grantee shall confirm in writing his acceptance of such

grant.

(vi) Vesting of the Trust Units

Subject to all applicable laws, rules or regulations, the Board and/or
the Delegatee(s) will determine the vesting criteria and conditions and
the vesting periods for the Trust Units to be granted to each Grantee
pursuant to the H Share Incentive Scheme. The details of the vesting
conditions and terms shall be determined by the Board and/or the
Delegatee(s) from time to time with reference to, among others, the
business performance and financial position of the Company and the

prevailing market conditions and shall be set out in the Award Letter.
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Within a reasonable time after the vesting conditions and schedule
have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived and before the date of
vesting, the Board or its Delegatee(s) shall send the vesting notice to
each of the relevant grantees. The vesting notice will confirm, among
others, the extent to which the vesting conditions and schedule have
been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the number of Trust

Units and Target Shares to be vested for that relevant vesting period.

If a Grantee satisfies the vesting conditions applicable to the grant of
such Trust Units and accepts the vesting of relevant Trust Units, such
Grantee shall confirm in writing for his acceptance and fully pay the
relevant Grant Price either in cash or by deduction of such number of

Shares equivalent to the Grant Price, to vest the relevant Trust Units.

After the relevant Trust Units are duly vested in accordance with the
aforementioned procedures, subject to compliance with the relevant
laws, regulations, rules and regulatory documents of the places
where the Company is established and listed, as well as the articles
of association of the Company, the Trustee shall allocate and dispose
the Target Shares which corresponds to the Trust Units vested in the
Grantees in accordance with the instruction of the Grantees pursuant to

the H Share Incentive Scheme.

(vii) Grant Price

The grant price of each Target Share underlying the Trust Unit shall be
determined by the Board and/or the Delegatee(s).

(ix) Remaining life of the H Share Incentive Scheme and

74

outstanding Trust Units

The H Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on March 25, 2024. As of the date of this annual
report, no Trust Unit has been granted, vested, cancelled or lapsed since

the adoption of the H Share Incentive Scheme.
For further information of the H Share Incentive Scheme and related

information, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
January 12, 2024 and the circular of the Company dated March 7, 2024.

As of the date of this annual report, no awards has been granted under

the H Share Incentive Scheme.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

We did not have any material acquisitions and disposals during the year
ended December 31, 2023.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The H shares of the Company were listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange on December 12, 2023. The net proceeds received from the Global
Offering (after deducting the estimated underwriting commissions and other
fees and expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Global

Offering) was approximately HK$256.46 million.

The net proceeds from the Global Offering (adjusted on a pro rata basis
based on the actual net proceeds) have been and will be utilized in that
same manner, proportion and the expected timeframe as set out in the

Prospectus under the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds"”.

The table below sets out the planned and actual applications of the net

proceeds up to December 31, 2023.
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Net proceeds Unutilized
from the Utilization up to proceeds as of
Global Offering  December 31,2023  December 31,2023
®ABLE  BE-BCZF
EREE -BCZH +=hA=t+-R
RHEHRE TZB=+-B HABRMFERE
(HKD in millions)
(AB#T)
Research and development activities to expand our product portfolio ~ BARBHNEREL REERMHH 256 - 256
and enrich our product features EmNENREED
Expand and consolidate our sales network BARZEAMNHESR 641 - 64.1
Strengthen our brand building and marketing promotion efforts MERMNmERERERERNE 385 - 385
Strengthen our supply chain management capabilities MER MO HEERE R 89.8 - 89.8
Strengthen our digital infrastructure MERMMHFER RS 128 - 128
Working capital and other general corporate purposes BEEERER—RARER 256 = 25.6
Total @t 25646 - 256.46
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To the extent that the net proceeds have not been immediately utilized, the
balance has been deposited into banks. The Board currently do not expect
to change the intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the
Prospectus, and expects full utilization of the net proceeds raised from the
Global Offering by December 31, 2028, subject to changes in light of the

Company'’s evolving business needs and changing market conditions.

LITIGATION AND COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not commit any material
non-compliance of the laws and regulations, and did not experience any
noncompliance incident, which taken as a whole, in the opinion of the
Directors, is likely to have a material and adverse effect on our business,

financial condition or results of operations.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on May 21, 2024. A notice convening the AGM will be
published on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
website of the Company (www.yanzhiwu.com), and will be dispatched to the
Shareholders in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules in due

course.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board proposes the profit distribution plan for the year ended December
31, 2023 as follows: a cash dividend of RMB2.15 (inclusive of tax) for every 10
Shares (representing an aggregate amount of RMB100,082,500 (inclusive of
tax) based on the total issued share capital of the Company as of December
31, 2023). In the event of change in the total issued share capital of the
Company before the record date for profit distribution, dividends will be
distributed according to the original dividend amount per Share and the
total distribution amount will be adjusted accordingly. The profit distribution
for 2023 is subject to, amongst others, approval by the Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM. Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM,
the final dividend is expected to be paid to the eligible Shareholders by no
later than June 17, 2024. See the Company's AGM circular dated April 25,

2024 for more information.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
In relation to the AGM

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from May 16,
2024 to May 21, 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of

Shares will be registered.

In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all H Share transfer
documents accompanied by the corresponding share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch H Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on May
14, 2024. Unlisted Share Shareholders should contact the Board Secretary for
details concerning registration of transfers of Unlisted Shares. The contact
details of the Secretary to the Board are: Caizihui, No. 188, Qianpu Road,
Siming District, Xiamen City, Fujian Province; telephone No.: +86 0592
5063275; and facsimile No.: +86 0592 5209808.

In relation to the final dividend

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to receive the final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from May 27, 2024 to
May 30, 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares

will be registered.

To qualify for the special final dividend, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the corresponding share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch H Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on May 24,
2024. Unlisted Share Shareholders should contact the Board Secretary for
details concerning registration of transfers of Unlisted Shares. The contact
details of the Secretary to the Board are: Caizihui, No. 188, Qianpu Road,
Siming District, Xiamen City, Fujian Province, PRC; telephone No.: +86 0592
5063275; and facsimile No.: +86 0592 5209808.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's listed securities.
If any of the Shareholders is unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in

relation to the Shares, he or she is advised to consult an expert.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance policies for its
Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period. Pursuant to
the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is

given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, as of the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained to comply with the minimum public float
percentage requirement under Rule 8.08(1) of the Listing Rules at any time

during the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As of the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. XIAO Wei, Mr. CHEN Aihua
and Mr. LAM You Por, and Mr. CHEN Aihua serves as the chairman of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of
the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 and has recommended for

the Board's approval thereof.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2023. The Audit Committee considered that the annual results of the
Group are in compliance with the applicable accounting standards, laws and

regulations, and the Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.

78 Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

BUR R

EEVTHNERREAFBAEARARF LHESFMZE
BEEMBERR - MREMBRRTEEHBE
FE RE RZRITEERMDEBENEMAE
MHRBEFE  EREBRNER -

SURFRYRREARTR

BEHRA - ARAREELNSREEAEBRR
TEENEERR REIRERKERN
FRER  BUEFHRAAREETESE
B UeZHEEREREEMARYEM 1HE
RS ERRROFR (BRERE
ARRASK ISR AR ) R P R B SR B T A 1Rk
Bff-

RBFRERERE
BRARTDIAMESHESRREFRA

Mo BEARFHRBEY  ARFALTHSEER
FRAPHEBMNEWEMRKRET EMRAE
BOSMIFEEMNREARIBZREEOLLER -

BT EEE

BEAFHEY FAZEEH=-RBILIEH

TESHEK  DEEEL  REFELERME

REE  REERERETEAZESNIE -
BN REERETARBHE_T_=F+=
A=Z+—BLFENFERXE  YEREFES
TLAHLAE -

HEREAREZ T ARBERAN
BE  UWRAEBHE_T_=F
+:HE+ EiﬁFW”AW$ﬁ§ =
ZEERARAKRENFEXRETAERAMNGS
R ERER  AARFEEHEENRE -



AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as the auditor during the Reporting Period. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31,2023 have been audited by KPMG.

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditor of the Company

will be proposed at the AGM.

DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group made charitable

donations of RMB1.4 million.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENTS

On November 20, 2023, Mr. Huang, Mr. Zheng, Xiamen Suntama and Mr.
Li (collectively, the “Covenantors”) entered into letter of non-competition
undertakings in favor of the Company (collectively, “Non-Competition
Agreements”), respectively, pursuant to which, each of them has undertaken
that, among others, (i) as of the date of the Non-competition Agreements,
each of the Covenantors or any of their respective immediate family
members and their controlled or invested entities (other than members of
our Group) has not engaged in or participated in, through any form, any
business which, directly or indirectly, competes or is likely to compete with
our principal business of developing, producing and/or selling EBN, EBN+
and/or +EBN products (except for Union Yutai) (the “Restricted Business")
and (ii) each of the Covenantors will not, at any time during the period he/
it is a controlling shareholder or controlled person of our Group, engage in
or participate in, by way of investment, cooperation, technology transfer or
through any other form, any business which, directly or indirectly, competes
or is likely to compete with the Restricted Business. For details of the Non-
Competition Agreements, please refer to the section headed “Relationship
with Our Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Agreements” in the

Prospectus.

The Covenantors have undertaken that they complied with the Non-
competition Agreements during the Reporting Period. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the Non-competition Agreements and
assessed whether the Covenantors and their close associates have complied
with the terms of the Non-competition Agreements, and were satisfied that
the Covenantors have complied with their undertakings under the Non-

competition Agreements during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the

Company had applied all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code.

From the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Company has

complied with all applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The corporate governance report of the Company prepared in accordance
with the CG Code is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance

Report” of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the Reporting Period, the Directors proposed a final dividend.
For details, please refer to “-FINAL DIVIDEND" in this section and note 24(b) to

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of the date of this annual report, save as above, there has been no
significant event since the end of the Reporting Period that is required to be

disclosed by the Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to
customers and business partners for their trust in our Company, our staff and
management team for their diligence, dedication, loyalty and integrity, and

our Shareholders for their continuous support.

By order of the Board of Directors
Xiamen Yan Palace Bird’s Nest Industry Co., Ltd.

HUANG Jian

Chairman

Hong Kong
March 22, 2024
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORS

In 2023, all members of the Board of Supervisors, in strict compliance with

the Company Law and other relevant laws, the Listing Rules and the Articles

of Association and other relevant regulations, abided by the principle of good

faith, conscientiously performed their supervisory duties in an attitude of

responsibility to all shareholders, actively carried out their work, attended the

meetings of the Board of Supervisors, the Board meetings and the general

meetings, conducted effective supervision over the Company’s operation in

accordance with the law, its financial position and the performance of duties

by the Directors and the management, and promoted the standardised

operation of the Company.

BASIC COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

The Board of Supervisors shall consist of three Supervisors. The
appointment and removal of the chairman of the Board of Supervisors
shall be approved by more than two-thirds of the members of the
Board of Supervisors. Each Supervisor has a term of three years and

may be re-elected.

The members of the Board of Supervisors are composed of shareholder
representatives and employee representatives. Shareholder
representatives shall be elected and dismissed by the general meeting,
and employee representatives shall be democratically elected and
dismissed by the Company's employees. The number of Supervisors
served by the employee representatives shall not be less than
one-third of the number of Supervisors. Directors and senior managers

of the Company shall not concurrently serve as Supervisors.

The Board of Supervisors consists of three Supervisors, the details of

which are as follows:

Shareholder Representative Supervisors:

Mr. ZHENG Feng (chairman)
Ms. ZHANG Ning

Employee Representative Supervisor:

Ms. WEI Wei
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OVERALL RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

The Board of Supervisors is the supervisory body of the Company
and performs its duties strictly in accordance with the Company Law,
Listing Rules and Articles of Association. The Board of Supervisors is
responsible for supervising the performance of the Board of Directors
and senior management, the Company'’s financial operations, internal

control and risk management.

WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

In 2023, the Board of Supervisors convened 3 meetings and considered
13 resolutions. All Supervisors attended in person and discussed and
considered the relevant resolutions, including the resolutions relating
to the Company's initial public offering of overseas listed foreign shares
(H Shares) and listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, the 2022 Work Report of the Board of Supervisors
of the Company, the 2022 Financial Report, the 2023 Interim Financial

Report and other resolutions.

The attendance record of the meetings of the members of the Board

of Supervisors is as follows:

.

EESHARRE

EFERANAIMNEERE  BRERA
A% ETRAIRARERETRE &
EZeREEEEE O RRREREMNR
B ARRIMPBEE - MEBES REAR

I o

EEeTHEER

ZE-=F - EFReHERTIREE
ER T BERE TRESHERELR
WHlmEHRARRE  EReEARAE
IRARBEERIN ETINER (HIR) WER
BHAR S AR AR ER ETEAEERE
R AR E - _FEESTERE -
RO CFHBRE T =Fh

BMEFHER

EEEENEBHFGHRERNT

Number of
meetings Number of
required to meetings
be attended attended
Name HE P EIRE B2 HERE
ZHENG Feng 2 3 3
WEI Wei Bom 3 3
ZHANG Ning RE 3 3

During the Reporting Period, the members of the Board of Supervisors
attended the general meetings and the Board meetings of the
Company, put forward relevant opinions and suggestions with a
serious and responsible attitude, conducted supervision on the
procedures and content of the meetings, and effectively supervised
the decision-making procedures, legal operations and financial
conditions of the Company's business, as well as the duty performance
of the Directors and management in the daily operations of the
Company, which safeguarded the legal interests of the Company and
the Shareholders.
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IV. BASIC EVALUATION OF THE BOARD OF

U]

SUPERVISORS ON THE OPERATION BEHAVIOUR
OF THE BOARD AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the year ended December 31, 2023, through supervising the
Directors and senior management, the Board of Supervisors believed
that the Company’s major business decision-making procedures were
legal and effective; when performing their duties, the Directors and
senior management earnestly implemented the laws and regulations
of the PRC, the Articles of Association and the resolutions of the
general meetings and the Board meetings, and there was no behavior
that harmed the interests of the Company and the Shareholders and
no violations committed by the Directors or senior management were

found during operations.

INDEPENDENT OPINION TO THE RELEVANT
MATTERS OF THE COMPANY DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Independent Opinion of the Board of Supervisors on the
Company’s Legal Operation

In 2023, the Board of Supervisors supervised the convening procedures
and resolutions of the general meetings and the Board meetings of
the Company, the implementation of resolutions of the Company’s
general meetings by the Board, and the duty performance of senior
management in accordance with the rights granted under the

Company Law and the Articles of Association.

The Board of Supervisors believed that the Company’s decision-making
procedures complied with the relevant provisions of the Company
Law, the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules, and the Board
has standardized operations, legal procedures, reasonable decisions,
and earnestly implemented each resolution of the general meetings.
The Directors and senior management were loyal and diligent when
they performed their duties, and the Board of Supervisors was not
aware of any violation of laws, regulations, the Articles of Association
or damage to the interests of the Company. Each resolution of the

general meetings has been implemented.
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(1) Independent Opinion of the Board of Supervisors on the
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84

Company’s financial situation

The Board of Supervisors supervised the Company's finances and
considered that the Company's financial system was sound and its
financial operations were in good condition. It also considered that
the Company strictly complied with the requirements of the corporate
accounting system, accounting standards and other relevant financial
regulations. At the same time, the Board of Supervisors carefully
reviewed the financial statements for the year 2023 audited by an
independent auditor with an unqualified opinion to be submitted by
the Board of Directors to the general meetings, and other relevant
materials, and was of the view that the financial report followed the
principle of consistency, and objectively, accurately and truthfully
reflected the financial conditions and operating results of the

Company.

Independent Opinion of the Board of Supervisors on the
Company’s Related Transactions

The Board of Supervisors reviewed the information relating to the
related transactions of the Company during the year and was of
the view that the relevant related transactions of the Company had
been carried out in strict accordance with the relevant systems and
agreements on related transactions, in compliance with the principles
of fairness and reasonableness and had not been detrimental to the

interests of the Company and its shareholders.
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VI.

WORK PLAN FOR 2024

In 2024, the Board of Supervisors will continue to perform its
supervisory functions well, exercise its supervisory powers
independently in accordance with the law, fulfil its obligations of
loyalty and diligence in strict accordance with the relevant laws
such as the Company Law, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association, effectively safeguard the interests of the Company and
the shareholders at large, and ensure the standardised and healthy

operation of the Company.

1. Carry out daily discussion activities. The Company will convene
meetings of the Board of Supervisors based on the actual situation of

the Company to review various proposals;

2. Strengthen the implementation of supervisory functions. The
Company will strengthen the supervision of Directors and senior
management in the performance of their duties, implementation
of resolutions and compliance with regulations, strengthen the
supervision and correction of irregularities, dereliction of duty and
inaction of senior management to promote more standardised and
lawful decision-making and business activities, carry out focused
supervision of the implementation of the Company’s major business
decisions, major asset acquisitions, foreign investments and other
matters, and regularly understand and review the Company’s financial

reports to effectively prevent business risks;

3. Learn laws and regulations and relevant policies. The Company will
carefully study the laws, regulations and relevant policies updated
from time to time to continuously promote the construction of
the Company’s internal control system, to promote the Company's
long-term mechanism of sound and standardised governance, and to

safeguard the Company’s sustainable and healthy development; and

4. Be diligent and conscientious. The Company will pay close attention
to the Company’s production, operation, management and major
initiatives on a daily basis, participate in the Board meetings, general
meetings and other important meetings of the Company and actively

put forward opinions or suggestions.
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The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report contained

in the Company’s annual report for the year ended December 31, 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognizes the importance of good corporate governance to
the Company’s healthy growth and has devoted considerable efforts to
formulating and implementing corporate governance practices appropriate
to the Company's needs. The Company has adopted the principles and
code provisions of the CG Code as the basis of the Company's corporate

governance practices.

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2023, the Company

has complied with all applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code. Key corporate governance

principles and practices of the Company are summarized below.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board

Direction and control of Company business are vested in the Board. The
Board establishes policies, strategies and plans for the development of
Company business, and provides leadership in the creation of value for
Shareholders. All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith,
have been in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, have taken
decisions objectively and have acted in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times. The Directors shall disclose to the Company details

of other offices held by them.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material transactions
(particularly those involving conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational

matters.
The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to

perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is

spending sufficient time performing them.
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The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company
are led by the Board and senior management of the Company. The
Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the management
for implementing Board decisions, and directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company. The Board reviews the
delegated functions and work tasks regularly. The management has to obtain

Board approval prior to entering into any significant transactions.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a potential conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the relevant Director shall abstain from voting and a Board
meeting attended by independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
close associates, have no material interest in the matter shall be held to

discuss and vote on the same.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against Directors arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual

basis.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board as at the date of this annual report is as
follows:

Executive Directors Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman)
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin

Mr. LI Youquan

Ms. HUANG Danyan

Mr. LIU Zhen
Mr. WANG Yalong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIAO Wei
Mr. CHEN Aihua
Mr. LAM Yiu Por

Independent Non-

executive Directors

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly

identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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The biographical details of the Directors and the relationships among
the members of the Board are disclosed in the section headed “Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” in this annual report. To the best
knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial, business, family or

other material/relevant relationship among the members of the Board.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirement of the Listing Rules
of having a minimum of three independent non-executive Directors
(representing at least one-third of the Board) with one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirement and objectives of the

Group and for the exercise of independent judgement.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with

the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has implementable and effective mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. All Directors have
timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services
of the joint company secretaries and senior management of the Company,
with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Any Director may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expenses, upon
reasonable request made to the Board. During the period from the Listing
Date and up to the date of this annual report, the Board has reviewed the
board independence mechanisms and considered that the implementation

of the mechanisms was effective.

Chairman and General Manager

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. To achieve clear division of responsibilities between the
management of the Board and day-today management of the business and
hence to ensure balance of power and authority, there is separation of duties

for the Chairman and Chief Executive of the Company.
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Currently, the positions of Chairman and General Manager are held by
Mr. HUANG Jian and Mr. LI Youquan respectively. The Chairman provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board, whereas the General Manager focuses on the Company’s
business development and daily management and operations generally.
The respective responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the
General Manager have been clearly established and set out in writing. The
separation of roles would ensure a balance of power and authority, and

strengthen the governance function and business development of the Group.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years. The Company has also issued a letter
of appointment to each of the independent non-executive Directors for a
term of three years. Under the Articles of Association, Directors (including
non-executive Directors) shall be elected at the general meeting with a
term of three years. A Director may serve consecutive terms if re-elected
upon the expiry of his/her term. A Director shall continue to perform his
duties in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations and Articles
of Association until a duly re-elected director takes office, if re-election is
not conducted in a timely manner upon the expiry of his term of office, or
if the resignation of directors results in the number of directors being less
than the quorum. The Articles of Association also provides that each Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as addition to the Board shall hold
office until the first general meeting after his/her appointment. The retiring

Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Articles of Association, Mr. HUANG Jian, Mr.
ZHENG Wenbin, Mr. LI Youquan, Ms. HUANG Danyan, Mr. LIU Zhen, Mr. WANG
Yalong, Mr. XIAO Wei, Mr. CHEN Aihua and Mr. LAM Yiu Por shall retire at the
AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. The
Board recommended the re-election of the above retiring Directors for the
second session of the Board of Directors which is subject to the Shareholders’
approval at the AGM. The Company'’s circular, sent together with this annual
report, contains detailed information of such retiring Directors as required by

the Listing Rules.

Training and Continuing Professional Development of Directors

The Directors keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes and of
the conduct, business activities and development of the Company in order to

effectively perform their responsibilities.
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Every newly appointed Directors has received a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction is normally
supplemented with meetings with the senior management of the Company.

The Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Continuing briefings and professional development for the Directors are
arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials relating to the
Company’s business or Directors’ duties and responsibilities, updates on
salient laws, corporate governance, regulations applicable to the Group are
provided to the Directors from time to time for their studying and reference.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the

Company's expenses.

The Directors are required to submit to the Company details of the training
they received in each financial year for the Company's maintenance of proper
training records of the Directors. Prior to the Listing Date and during the
year ended December 31, 2023, Mr. HUANG Jian, Mr. ZHENG Wenbin, Mr. LI
Youquan, Ms. HUANG Danyan, Mr. LIU Zhen, Mr. WANG Yalong, Mr. XIAO Wej,
Mr. CHEN Aihua and Mr. LAM Yiu Por attended training sessions on regulatory
development, directors’ duties or other relevant topics. In addition, relevant
reading materials have been provided to the Directors for their studying and

reference.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding the Directors’ and the supervisors’ dealings in the securities of the
Company. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors and Supervisors,
all Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they have complied with the
provisions of the Model Code during the period from the Listing Date and up
to the date of this report.

The Company has also established written guidelines for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company on terms no less exacting than the Model Code.
No incident of non-compliance of the written guidelines by the Employees
by the employees has been noted by the Company.

In case the Company is aware of any restricted period for dealings in the

Company's securities, the Company will notify its directors and relevant

employees in advance.
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Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to the Directors in advance. Notice of a regular Board meeting
is served on all the Directors at least 14 days before the meeting. For other

Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information
are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep Directors apprised of the latest development
and financial position of the Company and to enable them to make decisions.
The Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to

the senior management where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings
and where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Company. The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors
to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at the meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates

have a material interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Minutes of Board meetings
and committee meetings record in sufficient detail the matters considered
and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or

dissenting views expressed.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to all the Directors for comment within
a reasonable time after each meeting. Final versions of the minutes are sent

to the Directors for their records and are open for their inspection.
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NEVRERE
Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members EERZESHEHERHE
The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board Committee BEMHBREBEAFRAMPIEGE  SEFH
meetings of the Company held during the period from the Listing Date and BARREZEREZTEZEGGANERLN
up to the date of this annual report are set out in the table below: T -
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HEAS S EHEARH
Remuneration
Audit and Appraisal Nomination Strategy
Name of Director EEHE Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
FrEN R =RE BB
EEX® EirEE® EIREEY EJ=h=4 £88
Mr. HUANG Jian E|iEEL 2/2 - - 1/1 0/0
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin BOBEE 2/2 = = - 0/0
Mr. LI Youquan THERKE 2/2 - 11 - -
Ms. HUANG Danyan =g+ 2/2 = = - -
Mr. LIU Zhen ZIE S A 2/2 - - - -
Mr. WANG Yalong FEELE 2/2 - - - -
Mr. XIAO Wei HEELE 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 -
Mr. CHEN Aihua REFELE 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 -
Mr. LAM Yiu Por MRBER ST 22 1/1 - - 0/0

In addition, Mr. HUANG Jian, the Chairman of the Board, held a meeting with oh - B ETHBRBRERFRAHIEEHE - E
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other EREBEEHBIFRNTESRITTEAA
Directors during the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this HmEEHENSE -

annual report.
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Board Committees And Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategy
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs. The
Board committees have sufficient resources to execute their requisite duties.
All the Board committees should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee are
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and are

available to Shareholders upon request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. CHEN Aihua (Chairman), Mr. XIAO Wei and Mr. LAM Yiu Por. Each
of Mr. CHEN Aihua and Mr. LAM Yiu Por has the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the

Company's existing external auditors.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing and overseeing
the financial reporting procedure, risk management and internal control
system of the Group and have with terms of reference in compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph D.3 of part 2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Audit Committee held one meeting to review the annual
financial results and report for the year ended December 31, 2023, major
audit findings, significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance
procedures, internal control and risk management systems, the effectiveness
of the Company's internal audit function, scope of works and re-appointment
of external auditors and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about

possible improprieties.

The external auditors were invited to attend the Audit Committee meetings
without the presence of executive Directors to discuss with the Audit
Committee issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters.
There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee

regarding the re-appointment of external auditors.
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REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee comprised two independent
non-executive Directors and one executive Director, namely, Mr. XIAO Wei
(Chairman), Mr. LI Youquan and Mr. CHEN Aihua.

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee is mainly responsible for
evaluating the remuneration policies for Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Group and making recommendations thereon to the
Board of Directors and have with terms of reference in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and paragraph E.1 of part 2 of the

CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee reviewed and discussed
the remuneration policy and structure and the remuneration packages of the

Directors and senior management of the Group.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of
the senior management by band for the year ended December 31, 2023 is set

out below:

FWEEREES

FHEREREE e HMEB B IENITESEN—
BRITEEEKR  DHAEEEE(XF) T
BRELE BREEXRL -

FMEEREZEEeFZEEENGAEEES
EENMRREEABNFMBERIMEZGR
s ABESREfFahEAMEARERN
FEEMRAMEEC FEEEERATAE2HHE
E1ER °

BLEmBAEEARERAS A FHEE
ZREgERYAW I AREESREMERE
ABEH BN R R IR R 38 o

BIBELEERTUMTAGEXEEISK  BE
TEC=F+T_A=Z+—HULFESHEEA
BRAFNE DN FEEHMET T

Remuneration Band g E Number of senior management
BEEABA™

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T 21,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T £ 2,000,000 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7L £ 2,500,000 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7L % 3,000,000/8 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 47L& 3,500,000 7T 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7L £ 4,000,000/ 7T 0
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 JL £ 4,500,000 7T 1
7

Details of the remuneration of each director of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial

statements contained in this annual report.

94 Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

BE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE  &Q
RIS EEMHFIFBERRAFREAM B RE
BizE7 o



NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised one executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman),
Mr. XIAO Wei and Mr. CHEN Aihua.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for identifying, screening
and recommending to the Board of Directors qualified candidates to serve
as the Directors, Supervisors and senior management and monitoring the
procedures for evaluating the performance of the Board of Directors and
have with terms of reference in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC and paragraph B.3 of part 2 of the CG Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Company also recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance its performance and has adopted a Policy of Director
Nomination and Board Diversity aiming to set out the approach to nominate
directors and achieve diversity on the Board. The implementation of the
policy is monitored by the Nomination Committee. All Board members
shall be appointed on the basis of merit, and the benefits of diversity
(including gender diversity) of the Board shall be fully taken into account
in the consideration of candidates on appropriate terms. In designing the
Board’'s composition, board diversity has been considered from a number
of measurable objectives, including but not limited to a balance of skills,
professional experience, educational background, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender. The Nomination Committee shall
report its findings and make recommendation to the Board, if any. Such
policy and objectives will be reviewed from time to time and at least on an
annual basis to ensure their appropriateness in determining the optimum

composition of the Board.
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The Policy of Director Nomination and Board Diversity sets out the factors
in evaluating, selecting and recommending to the Board one or more
candidates for appointment or re-election as a director, including but
not limited to: (a) diversity of views, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
regional and industry experience, ethnicity, knowledge and years of service;
(b) qualifications, including achievements and experience in the relevant
industries in which the Company’s business is carried out and other
professional qualifications; (c) commitment to the responsibilities of the
Board in terms of available time investment; (d) reputation for integrity; (e)
the contribution that the candidate can bring to the Board; and (f) one or
more plans for the orderly implementation of Board succession. In addition,
the Board and the Nomination Committee will assess and recommend one
or more candidates for the post of independent non-executive director of
the Company having due regard to a number of factors, including but not
limited to the independence and appointment requirements of independent
non-executive directors under the regulatory rules of the place where the

Company's shares are listed. The selection procedures are as follow:

(1) The Nomination Committee shall actively communicate with the
relevant departments of the Company, study the Company’s demand for

new directors and senior management, and prepare written materials;

(2) The Nomination Committee may conduct extensive searches for
directors and senior management candidates within the Company, the
subsidiaries or enterprises in which the Company has equity interests

and the talent market;

(3) Collect the occupation, education, title, detailed work experience, all
part-time jobs and other information of the candidates, and form written

materials;

(4) Seek the nominee’s consent to the nomination, otherwise he or she

cannot be selected as a director or senior management;
(5) Convene a meeting of the Nomination Committee to examine the

qualifications of the candidates according to the qualifications of the

directors and senior management;
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(6) One to two months before the election of new directors and the
appointment of new senior management, to present to the Board of
Directors proposals and relevant materials on candidates for director and

new senior management;

(7) Carry out other follow-up work according to decisions and feedback of

the Board of Directors.

The Company is committed to maintaining gender diversity on the Board
and at the working level, including senior management. In particular, the
Company will strive to maintain that the Board and senior management have
at least one member who is not of the same gender as the other members.
As of December 31, 2023, the Board has 1 female Director out of 9 Directors,
representing 11.1% of the Board; and 2 of 5 of the senior management
of the Group (other than Directors) are female, representing 40% of the
senior management. As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a total of
1,459 female staff, representing 76.1% of the employees of the Group. The
Company will continue to pay attention to the cultivation of female talents,
promote gender diversity in the recruitment of middle and senior staff, and
provide more development opportunities for female employees. For further
details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of

this annual report.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board has reviewed the Policy of Director Nomination and Board

Diversity and considered that the implementation of the policy was effective.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements for the business of the
Group and reviewed the Policy of Director Nomination and Board Diversity;
considered and recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors
standing for re-election at the 2024 annual general meeting; assessed the

independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Strategy Committee comprised two executive Directors and one
independent non-executive Director, namely, Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman), Mr.
ZHENG Wenbin and Mr. LAM Yiu Por.

The main duties of the Strategy Committee are to research and recommend

development strategy and capital operation of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual

report, no meeting of the Strategy Committee was held.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance
with the Model Code and the Guidelines for Securities Dealings by relevant
employees, and the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and the

disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory
and regulatory requirements. The management has provided to the Board
such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The management provides all
members of the Board with monthly updates on the Company's performance,

positions and prospects.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to

continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out

in the Independent Auditor's Report of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing
basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and

not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board is fully responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take to achieve the Company's strategic
objectives, and for establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard Shareholders’

investments and the Group's assets.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems. The
Company has developed and adopted different risk management procedures
and guidelines. Self-evaluation would be conducted each year to confirm
that the Company has properly complied with the risk management and
internal control policy. The audit department would conduct internal control
assessment to identify risks factors with potential impact on the Group's
business. The management would assess the likelihood of risk occurrence,
monitor the progress of risk management and report to the Board and the

Audit Committee on the findings and effectiveness of the systems.

The Group has developed its disclosure policy to provide a general guide
to the Company's directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information

disclosure and responding to enquiries.
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The Company has recruited experienced personnel for providing the
internal audit function and performing independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems. The internal audit function examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and provided its findings and

recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee and the management, has
reviewed the report from the management and the internal audit findings,
and reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls for the year ended December 31, 2023. The annual review also
covered areas on the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions as well as those relating
to the Company's environmental, social and governance performance
and reporting. The Board considered that such systems are adequate and
effective and ongoing review of the same nature would be conducted in

subsequent years.

Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption Policy

In order to maintain our reputation and integrity, the Company have
implemented anti-bribery and anticorruption policies which require the
employees and business partners such as distributors and suppliers to
conduct business legally and ethically. The Company requires the employees
and business partners to undertake in writing not to conduct non-
compliances, suspicious transactions, fraud, corruption or bribery by signing
a letter of commitment. The letter of commitment prohibits the employees
and business partners from offering unauthorized payment, such as bribes,
kickbacks or benefit with each other. In addition, the anti-bribery and anti-
corruption policy provides whistle blowing contact details including hotline
and email address for reporting suspicious conducts. Information of the
whistleblowers are strictly confidential. The Company’s anti-bribery and anti-
corruption supervision team, which consists of the general manager, human
resources director, financial director, head of the audit department and head
of the legal department, are responsible for receiving internal reports and

conducting investigation against suspicious conducts.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the Company's financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023 is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s

Report”in this annual report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the

preparation and content of the auditor’s report and auditor’s independence.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the remuneration paid/payable

to the Company'’s external auditors, KPMG, is set out below:
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Remuneration

i

(RMB’000)

Nature of Services ARG MEE (AR#FT)
Audit services E:RE 2,150
IPO-related services HE XA REEEHRG 4,850
Non-audit services ®er EEF R 200
TOTAL: HEt 7,200

Note:The non-audit services provided mainly included non-audit services related to i REAERTRE I EREEFERERIRF

continuing connected transactions and annual results announcement.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Ms. XIONG Ting, the board secretary of the
Company, and Ms. LEUNG Kwan Wai, a senior manager of corporate services
of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services provider specializing
in integrated business, corporate and investor services, as the Company'’s

joint company secretaries.
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All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company
secretaries on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
Ms. XIONG Ting has been designated as the primary contact person at the
Company which would work and communicate with Ms. LEUNG Kwan Wai
on the Company's corporate governance and secretarial and administrative

matters.

Ms. XIONG Ting and Ms. LEUNG Kwan Wai have taken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training and comply with the requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year ended December 31, 2023.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best

investment decisions.

The Company maintains a website at “http://www.yanzhiwu.com” as a
communication platform with shareholders and investors, where information
and updates on the Group's business operations, developments and financial

information are available for public access.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman of
the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee, Nomination Committee and Strategy Committee and,
in their absence, other members of the respective committees, are available
to answer questions at general meetings. The chairman of a meeting will
provide the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer any
questions from the Shareholders on voting by poll. A notice to Shareholders
is sent by the Company at least twenty-one (21) days before the annual
general meeting and at least fifteen (15) days before all other general

meetings.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships with
its investors. Designated senior management maintains regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them posted of the Company'’s

developments.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual Directors, for
Shareholders' consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the

Company immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholders either individually
or collectively holding 10% or more of the shares of the Company may,
through signing one or more written requisition(s) in the same form and
content stating the topics to be discussed at the meeting, require the Board
of Directors to convene an extraordinary general meeting. The Board shall
give a written response as to whether or not it agrees to convene such an
extraordinary general meeting within 10 days upon receipt of the request in
accordance with the requirements of the laws, administrative regulations, the

Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

If the Board agrees to convene the extraordinary general meeting, a notice of
such meeting shall be issued within five days after resolution of the Board is
passed. Where there are other requirements imposed by laws, administrative
regulations, departmental rules and the securities regulatory rules of the

place where the Company's shares are listed, such requirements shall prevail.

If the Board does not agree to convene the extraordinary general meeting,
or fails to make a response within 10 days upon receipt of the request,
the shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding 10% or more of the
shares of the Company shall have the right to propose to the Supervisory
Committee to convene the extraordinary general meeting. Such request shall

be made to the Supervisory Committee in writing.

If the Board of Supervisors agrees to convene the extraordinary general
meeting, it shall serve a notice of such meeting within 5 days after receipt
of the said request. Changes in the original proposal in the notice shall be

subject to the approval of relevant shareholders.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholder(s) individually or jointly
holding 3% or more of the Company’s shares shall have the right to make
a proposal to the Company at a shareholders’ general meeting of the

Company.

The shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding 3% or more of the
Company'’s shares may make provisional proposals in writing to the convener
of a shareholders’ general meeting 10 days prior to the meeting. The
convener shall issue a supplementary notice of the shareholders’ general
meeting and announce the contents of such provisional proposals within

two days after receipt thereof.

Except as provided by the preceding paragraph, the convener of a
shareholders’ general meeting shall not amend the proposals already
specified in the notice of the shareholders’ general meeting or add new
proposals subsequent to the issuance of the notice of the shareholders’

general meeting.

Proposals which are not specified in the notice of the shareholders’ general
meeting or which do not comply with the Articles of Association shall not be

voted on and resolved at the shareholders’ general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries. For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders
must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice,
statement or enquiry (as the case may be) to the following address and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give

effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by

law.

Address: 22/F, Caizihui No. 188, Qianpu Road, Siming District,
Xiamen City, Fujian Province, the PRC (For the attention
of Company Secretary)

Tel No.: 0592 5063275

E-mail: yanzhiwu@yanzhiwu.cn
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For enquiries about H share shareholdings, Shareholders should direct their

enquiries to the Company's H Share Registrar. Their details are as follows:

Name: Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address: 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Tel No.: (852) 2980 1333

E-mail: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

POLICIES RELATING TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has in place a Shareholders' Communication Policy to ensure
that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. During
the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company has reviewed the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and
considered that the policy was effectively implemented with the measures as
disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Communications with Shareholders

and Investors”and “Shareholder Rights”.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends. The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. No
dividend shall be declared or payable except out of the profits and reserves
lawfully available for distribution. According to relevant PRC laws, any future
net profit that the Company makes will have to be first applied to make up
for the historically accumulated losses, after which the Company will be
obliged to allocate 10% of the net profit to the statutory common reserve
fund until such fund has reached more than 50% of the registered capital.
The Company will, therefore, only be able to declare dividends after: (i) all the
historically accumulated losses have been made up for; and (ii) the Company
has allocated sufficient net profit to the statutory common reserve fund as

described above.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any

shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has not made any changes to its constitutional
documents. An up-to-date version of the Articles of Association is available
on both the websites of the Stock Exchange ( www.hkewnews.hk ) and the

Company ( www.yanzhiwu.com).

Due to the proposed change of registered address of the Company, the
Board also proposed the corresponding amendments to the Articles of
Association. The proposed amendments to the Articles of Association are
subject to the approval of the Shareholders by way of a special resolution at
the AGM, and will become effective upon the approval of the Shareholders
at the AGM. After the above proposed amendments to the Articles of
Association come into effect, the full text of the revised Articles of Association
will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange ( www.hkewnews.
hk) and the Company ( www.yanzhiwu.com). For details, please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated March 25, 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report of Xiamen
Yan Palace Bird's Nest Industry Co., Ltd. (the “Company’, together with its
subsidiaries “the Group” or “Yan Palace”), highlighting its ESG performance,
with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as described
in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules set out by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The Group has complied with all “comply or explain” provisions
set out in the ESG Reporting Guide during the reporting period from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

Reporting Boundary

This report covers the Group's overall environmental and social performance
in manufacturing, processing, and selling of Pure bird’s nest products,
“bird’s nest+" products and “+bird’s nest” products, and other operations in
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC" or “Mainland China"), during the

Reporting Period unless otherwise specified.

The scope has covered all sites with major operations during the Reporting
Period, including 2 offices, 9 retail companies and 4 production sites. The

total area accounting was 49,263.35 m?,

Reporting Principles

The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the following principles:

Materiality — materiality assessments have been carried out to identify
material environmental and social issues that have major impacts on
investors and other stakeholders, the significant stakeholders, procedures,
and results of the engagement of which are presented in the section

“Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality”in the Report.

Quantitative - key performance indicators ("KPI(s)") have been established,
and are measurable and applicable to make valid comparisons under
appropriate conditions; information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions, and/or calculation tools used, and sources of conversion factors

used, have been disclosed when applicable.

Balance - performance of the Group was presented in an unbiased and
impartial manner. Reasons for omission have been disclosed if the omission

is inevitable.

Consistency — consistent statistical methodologies and presentation of KPIs

have been used to allow meaningful comparisons of related data over time.
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THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT
Governance Structure

The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) holds the overall
responsibility for the Group's ESG strategy, reporting, and the evaluation and
mitigation of ESG-related risks.

The Company has established a Green Development Committee. This
committee is affiliated with the general manager’s office and is fully
responsible for the Company’s green development work. It formulates and
implements the Company’s green development plan, and comprehensively
implements energy saving, consumption reduction, and pollution reduction
measures to promote green and sustainable development of the industry and
achieve carbon peak, carbon neutrality, and dual carbon goals. In cases where
significant ESG risks that could affect the Group's interests are identified, the
Board is promptly notified, and appropriate measures to address these risks

are proposed.

The committee comprises management representatives from key
departments of the Company, such as Legal Affairs, Production, and
Human Resources. Each member has received professional training on ESG
development and recommended approaches, enhancing their understanding
of best ESG practices. The committee members are equipped to provide
professional reviews and suggestions on ESG matters, facilitating effective
communication between the committee and the Board of Directors.
Additionally, the committee will promptly raise any potential environmental,

social, and governance risks to the board of directors on a case-by-case basis.

Starting from the year 2024, the committee intends to establish a regular
meeting schedule, in addition to holding meetings as needed. These
meetings will provide a platform for comprehensive updates and discussions

on the Company's environmental, social, and governance initiatives.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Commitments and Missions on ESG

The Group embraces the connotation of ESG concepts, which aligns with
themes such as high-quality national development, ecological civilization
protection, development of new productive forces, and law-based
governance of enterprises. These concepts serve as important measures for

evaluating sustainable and high-quality development.

The Group acknowledges that promoting ESG construction requires
multifaceted and progressive changes. Therefore, the Group is committed
to integrating the ESG concept with technological innovation, quality
management, supply chain management, and intelligent manufacturing. This
integration is seen as a key driver for long-term growth and value creation,
contributing to the long-term, sound, and sustainable development of the
Group. The Group is dedicated to comprehensively expanding sustainable
business value through its modern enterprise management and investment
evaluation system, thus supporting the high-quality development of the

national economy.

Certification

The Group maintains a strong commitment to delivering bird nest products
that comply with globally recognized standards. They have obtained the

following certifications:

ISO 22000: Food safety management system certification
ISO 9001: Quality management system certification

ISO 14001: Environmental management system certification
SC food production license

HACCP system certification

IMS integrity management system certification

BRC food safety global certification standard

Bird's Nest product certification

IFS International food standard certification
CNAS-accredited laboratory
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY BEESHEREEN

The Group values input from its stakeholders as they are important AEBSERFNENER  BENERDEAE
parts of the Group. Both internal and external stakeholders are regularly BEMEZAEKITD c ABRINBIFHEHER

communicated with through various channels. The engaged stakeholders EERETHEDR 2UEMNBHEARESEH
and the respective communication channels are listed below. HBBERBYTRIAT ©
Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels FHhEER BERE
Employees ~  Meetings and conferences {=3=] - BEKATRE
Shareholders - Annual Reports f% 2 — FiR
- Annual general meetings - BREXE
- Securities Department — BHERAE
- Social media — IR
- Hotlines - B
Clients - Meetings =PF - B&
- Seminars - e
Service providers - Meetings BR%I2H S - BB
- Seminars - g
Regulators ~  Meetings and conferences BEEHE - BEKITHRE
- Consultation discussions — EEFW
Media -~ Annual Reports o] - &
- Securities Department - BHERAE
- Social media — R
—  Press release — FER
- Industrial conferences — 1T¥Eg=
The following matrix shows the results of the stakeholder engagement. AT BT ELEER o
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Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement
R ESRIRRENERM

LOWER &

A. Environmental 3R1%

A
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HIGHER 75

Vit

Internal Assessment on Importance to Business

HEBEEUNABTE

B. Labour Practices % TE R

C. Operational Practices & E &

1 Energy 1 Employment Policies 1 Supply Chain Management
18808 1 EIBEBER 1 HEHEE R

2 Water 2 Occupational Health and Safety 2 Intellectual Property

27K pRE SRR 2 FIRERE

3 Air Emission

3 Development and Training

3 Data Protection

3 EERHBEK 3 R KIEII 3 BB RE
4 Waste and Effluent 4 Labour Standards 4 Customer Service
4 FEY 5K 4 BT AR 4 BF IR

5 Other Raw Materials Consumption

5 HAb R #HEFE

5 Product/Service Quality
s5ER/REEE

6 Environmental Protection Measures
6 IRIFIRERE

6 Anti-corruption
6 XE)S

7 Climate Change

=

7 RIRE L

7 Community Investment

7 HEIEE
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Responses to the survey show that all topics of the labour and operational FAEMRBERBALE I REENENE AW
aspects are regarded as more important than those of the environmental RABEREFANZEEREE - U NAR
aspects. Five of the most material topics are: ExEERZEE :
1. Employment; 1. B
2. Health and Safety; 2. RBEEEZR
3. Development and Training; 3. EBENEI
4. Labour Standards; and 4. BTEA: R
5. Customer Service. 5. BPART -
Materiality Topics EEHE The Group’s Responses 7% 5 [ #Y [B] /&
Employment . Fair and inclusive hiring processes
= - RAFERBAMNHERRE
Equal opportunities for career advancement
REBEEREHRAFOKE
Competitive compensation and benefits
R ki k-a VY
Health and Safety « Robust health and safety protocols
[EE e - FAIERREEZRHE
Preventing accidents, injuries, and occupational hazards
WiEEEER  RERBEES
Regular risk assessments and safety training
EHARBR AT G e 2T
Compliance with health and safety regulations
BT RERET AR
Proactive reporting and continuous improvement
TR E R EUE
Development and Training - Comprehensive training programs for employee development through “Yan Palace

Academy’, and other offline courses

EEY T - BRIEZESZEIALHEMGTRIERESZRIZHEEEIIGF 2
Enhancing skills and knowledge aligned with organizational objectives
T ERARA B R — By e R AE
Opportunities for professional growth and mentorship
REBEXNERRBESHRS
Fostering a learning culture and adapting to industry trends
BEEF LT EREITEBS
Continuous learning and skill enhancement

FEEE NIRRT
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Materiality Topics EE &% E The Group’s Responses 7~ £ B iy [@] f&

Labour Standards
R

Customer Service

P R%

Adherence to labour standards and regulations

185785 THERI FOERR

Fair employment practices and compliance with laws
NN ERBRILETER

Respectful and inclusive work environment
ESRBTNHIERE

Addressing employee feedback and grievances
AR B IR 88 R IRA%

No discrimination, harassment, or forced labour
WEEAR - BRI EsRE ST

Exceptional customer service as a priority
SHERFPRBEREEZER

High-quality products, services, and support

BEEm  REEE

Customer-centric culture and responsiveness with the advanced customer service system
NEFRHPLIXL - BEEENTFRBRES
Continuous improvement based on customer feedback
RIRE P 8 R B B U

Building trust and long-term customer relationships

BREERIRANTPEE

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

O ERE

The Group welcomes stakeholders' feedback on our environmental, social AREFBOEMHEHHEHERE HERE

and governance approach and performance. Please give your suggestions or BAHRERRREERE - FHE BT

share your views with us via email at yanzhiwu@yanzhiwu.cn. yanzhiwu@yanzhiwu.cniZ il B TARZESEE

MnE BETHERE -

A. ENVIRONMENTAL A. R
Types of emission the Group involved in the reporting period were AREBNBRERAS RO BERBELNTER
mainly natural gas, petrol, and electricity. The business straightly abides RAR - FRME N o EFEEETER
by the national laws and regulations regarding air, water, and land BEAZER KEREIHSENERER &
pollution, which include but are not limited to: FEERERER :
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC - (HPEARKMBEARRISENGE)
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC - (HEARKMBKTRREE)
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental o (E AR B EERE Y RREN
Pollution by Solid Waste JAED
Regulations on the Prevention and Control of Soil Pollution in Fujian - (REA TIERRETRERGD

Province
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1. Greenhouse Gas Emission

The below table shows the breakdowns of GHG emissions of the

BERBHR

TREINAEBRREHRRER

Group during the Reporting Period: PERARAR -
Emission Total Emission
Scope of GHG emissions Emission Sources (in tCO,e) (in percentage)
B E
(=&t B E
BEREHENEER BEHUORIR (= & 5T) (BZtE)
Scope 1
gEN
Direct Emission Stationary source': Natural gas 1,334.79
BB EERIR - RAR —
Mobile source? Petrol 123.26
FEREIE AR - A
Scope 2
gE2
Indirect Emission Purchased Electricity? 3,670.21
SN 67%
M BER BEe
Scope 3
gE3
Other Indirect Emission Paper waste disposal 11.77
HAbREBER REER TR
Electricity used for freshwater processing 75.67
BRIBRIKPTAE -
Electricity used for wastewater processing* 41.59
BRIB)SKATAE
Business Air Travel 234.07
fnzE Z ik
Total 5,491.35 100%
#at
Intensity (tCO,e/m?) 0.11
BE(M_SLtREE FHK)
Intensity (tCO,e/RMB Million of Revenue) 2.80

BE(M_StREE ARBEETRAN)
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Note 1: The emission factor for natural gas consumption was referred to
Stationary Combustion Tool 4.1 by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

Note 2: The emission factor for petrol consumption was referred to
Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules and their referred documentation
as set out by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Note 3: The emission factor for electricity consumption was referred to
the National Emission Factors for Mainland China, outlined by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC in 2023

Note 4: Wastewater statistics have included all production sites, except
one from Shanghai that unable to provide related data, as their
wastewater was collected and handled by the industrial park.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's operations resulted in the
emission of 5,491.35 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO,e)
greenhouse gases, primarily carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous
oxide. The annual emission intensity was calculated to be 0.11
tCO,e/m? of total area covered within the reporting scope and 2.80

tCO,e/RMB million of revenue.

To mitigate greenhouse gas emissions from stationary sources, the
Group initiated a conversion of the boiler fuel from diesel to natural
gas in 2020, effectively reducing exhaust emissions. Additionally,
priority was given to electric and hybrid vehicles when procuring

new vehicles to control emissions from mobile sources.

Demonstrating the commitment to low-carbon operations, the
Group established a GHG emission reduction target during the
Reporting Period. With the baseline emissions as a reference, the
Group aims to achieve a 5% to 8% reduction in GHG emissions over
the next ten years. Strict policies and monitoring mechanisms will

be implemented to ensure the target is met.

RIE HERERHRE

W RAREREENHERETF2RBOR
EREEREZTE) PEATRER
TH41-

fisE2 : UHERENHERE T2 RE B
ERGMEBERRBEZ ETHA
FfERC2 R B A SR A S -

i3 : REENHREF2RHPEARK
MBEAERREHBR —E_=FHE
M B B SR B A T

fiz4 : KR RFREMBLEERS -
1B B —RE AR BIEN £
ERBBI - REZM IR EKE
TXERWEMEE o

PR HA R+ 7N g2 (B 0 4 B BRI
5491 35— AL S BREREE
ER-GMLR BRAN—E/L-" -
SHEAHNNREBENREENEE
G- VARl (2 ) P
FARFM280ME—EtiEE BETT
AR -

REALBEERREEREBHRE K
KB _T _TFRBERE B SRR
BMARAR  BHEEBERFER - It
S REBHRBEAEBRLEREE
B OREEE - EHISEEERIRN B
WE o

R|BEHA - REBREREEAR
REEFNETRAERBRIEAR - K
SENERRETFAKAEREY
MEEEGBRERLIR D 5%E8% °
5 B B B AR M BUR M BRI B - AR
ERZBRE -

ZZZ=FFH | ANNUAL REPORT 2023 115



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HEREBHRE

2. HEBURIR
(i) Direct Emission (i) EEHH

2. Emission Sources

116

During the Reporting Period, the Group-owned vehicles
consumed a total of 46,186.64 litres of petrol. The following
table provides an overview of the annual air emissions

associated with this fuel consumption:

Air emissions Annual total (kg)

REREHR - NEEBEENERL
SEFE46,186.64FH )M TR T
MR e E AN FEERE
B

BERER Z2FHRERE(TR)

Sulphur oxides 0.68 =Rl 0.68
Nitrogen oxides 14873 RE 148.73
Particulate matters (PM) 14.03 FERL ) (PM) 14.03

To mitigate air emissions, the Group implemented water
spray and activated carbon adsorption techniques to treat
laboratory exhaust gas. These measures are aimed at reducing
and minimizing the release of harmful pollutants into the

environment.

3. Waste Disposal

(i) Hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group produced a total
of 43.94 tonnes of hazardous waste. The waste generation

intensity was 0.09 kg/m? or 2.24 kg/RMB million of revenue.

The hazardous waste mainly comprised items such as
laboratory waste, printing ink, and cleaning detergent
originating from the Group’s production sites. To ensure
proper management, these materials were segregated from
general waste and responsibly transferred to recognized
recyclers or property management companies. These entities
were entrusted with the appropriate handling, treatment,
recycling, or disposal of the hazardous waste, in accordance

with applicable regulations and best practices.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT
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BZEY

RMEBRA - NEEHEE43.94
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(ii) Non-hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total of
240.56 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, resulting in an intensity
of 4.88 kg/m? and 122.48 kg/RMB million of revenue.

Non-hazardous waste primarily consisted of packaging material
disposal. Recyclable waste was collected and processed by
qualified waste treatment companies, while non-recyclable
waste was managed by property management or cleaning

companies for disposal or landfilling.

(iii) Wastewater

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total of
94,884 m> of wastewater. All wastewater generated by the
Group was treated in compliance with relevant regulations. The
wastewater underwent centralized treatment at the production
sites’ sewage treatment station to ensure that the discharged
water met the standards. The discharge was abided by the
"Comprehensive Wastewater Discharge Standard” GB8978-
1996 by the PRC, which is a third-level discharge standard. This
standard ensures that the wastewater discharged by the Group

meets the required environmental quality criteria.

4. Use of Resources and Efficiency Initiatives

(i) Energy Consumption and Efficiency

The total energy consumption was 12,885,845.41 kWh, with
an energy intensity of 261.57 kWh/m? and 6,560.35 kWh/RMB

million revenue.

To promote energy conservation, the Group has implemented
several measures. Firstly, in non-production areas, the air
conditioning temperature is set to a minimum of 26°C to
save electricity. Secondly, a real-time monitoring system has
been set up to track water usage and electricity consumption.
This system allows for the detection of any abnormalities and

enables prompt investigation and resolution.

RIE HERERHRE

(i) FEEZEEY

RIFEEAN - AEERELBERE
240.56MF - REYEE 58 E 734.88
T,/ EFhKR1248FT R /B
BITAREIRA -

BEEBEVMIZEEEEMHEE
ARRENAEYRAEREYR
BARWERRE - MAAERS
MR HYEEEARLBR
RAERE - EITRIEHMER -

(iii) K

REMEBRR - AEEHEEFEK
94,8843 5K « REEEEERFTA
FERIR PRI R AT R IR © JF
IKEEERS SKEIR TR
BRIE - WRBEMEEEK & REIR
% o ERABERUZE B ST R B 5K ER
A BERUIZ2E) GB8978-1996 © = %
PERZZE o X IZ AR ANE EHER
BEEKFERTERIRIBE RIZE -

4. BREARMRRER

(i)

-z

BEFER MFE

4BREFEA12,885,845.41 T ELAS - B
TRORE R26157 TR /KR
6,560.35 T ELEF /B BT AR
A °

BIEEHNER  AEEERTS
TEIE B FEEEHTFAR
ERENMER26° - WEIHAE -
HK - REBAK - BENREHR
& THEAK - EREEE - HF
RERRSHEEERRE -
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(i) Water Consumption and Efficiency

Water consumption by the Group was 173,945.47 m?3, with
water intensity of 3.53 m*m? and 88.56 m*/RMB million of

revenue.

The Group has implemented measures to enhance water
efficiency within its operations. One of the key initiatives
involves the installation of water-saving valves in daily faucets,
which help conserve water during regular usage. Furthermore,
effective water consumption control measures have been
implemented in production workshops to minimize water
usage. Align with the commitment, the Group has established
a water usage target to reduce water consumption by 5% to
8% compared to the level in 2023 over the next ten years. This
target reflects the Group's dedication to sustainable water

management and resource conservation.

There were no issues encountered in sourcing water that met

the required standards and purposes.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

(i) FAKRHE

ANEBFEKEE173,945.473L
Ko REAKBE RIS KR
KK88563 K,/ ABTARE
WA o

AEBDEEZEHBNRKIIES
KBRS - R —TBEEHE
BB AMKEETE R EEIK
W EEREREEARESLA
Ko foh - EEEBRERE RN
KGR - RERDAK R
BARMEA - AEBEGIETAKE
BiZ E+FAGAKER=-F=
=ZFHPK AR 5% E 8% © 3
BIERMAEBBNAFEKE
TRERMERIRER R

BUEERBN A REFRENREN
KR BB A RE -



(iii) Packaging Materials

packaging materials used:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - dEREARE

(iii) BHEH#
The Group used 376.87 tonnes of packaging materials during REENIRE BBEER376.87HEE
the Reporting Period. See below chart for the breakdowns of EME - F2ATHENER - TH
R B EMEIR
Packaging Materials
aENE
Plastics
R}
3%
Cartons
33%
Glass bottles
HII
65%
m Cartons = Glass bottles Plastics

m BIEE Eiep e
The packaging materials are mainly glass bottles and PEMBEIZEAEBRREAS - F
cartons. The cartons used can be broken down and recycled. AMEEA A BIMERFA - 1t
Furthermore, the Group has made efforts to incorporate Hh REEBTBHEHDERBE
environmentally friendly materials in parts of its product RS ARRME - FEBF AR E U
packaging. By utilizing recyclable materials and incorporating MERESIARRER R - NEEE
environmentally friendly alternatives, the Group aims to R DB REEY - WEREEDRA
minimize its packaging waste and contribute to the overall HMAARZERPREEZMIELR
reduction of environmental footprint throughout the product Bk o
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5. The Environment and Natural Resources

(i) Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

The Group's products are made from bird's nests, which are
naturally abandoned by swiftlets once they have matured
and left the nest. To ensure responsible sourcing, the Group
maintains close partnerships with suppliers in Southeast Asia,
only selecting discarded swiftlet nests for their production.
By implementing artificial aviaries, the Group provides a
protective habitat for swiftlets, safeguarding them from natural
predators and creating a safe breeding environment. This
approach supports the healthy growth of swiftlet populations
and enables the Group to sustainably manufacture bird nest
products with minimal environmental impact. As a result, the
Group's raw material harvesting practices have negligible

effects on the environment and natural resources.

As part of the Group's commitment to becoming a sustainable
food company, several measures and initiatives have been

taken:

Greener Office Operation

a) Greener Office Operation: By implementing management
systems such as WMS (Warehouse Management System)
and MES (Manufacturing Execution System), the Group
promotes paperless office and real-time management
practices to reduce the emission of pollutants like office

waste paper and ink.

b) Research and Development: The Group is committed to
strengthening its investment in research and development
by establishing new research and development (R&D)
laboratories and collaborating with prestigious domestic
and international universities and research institutions.
This will enable the Group to conduct research projects
focused on the unique characteristics of edible bird’s nest
products. Upgrading raw materials, optimizing production
processes, upgrading packaging designs, and recruiting
R&D talents will be undertaken to expand the product
portfolio and enhance product functionality. The use of
environmentally friendly materials in packaging will also

be implemented to reduce consumption.
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Upstream Optimization: The Group plans to build
a modern industrial park by constructing factories
and adopting advanced equipment and intelligent
management systems. This will enhance automation and
intelligence in operations and production, improving
production efficiency. Additionally, strategic alliances,
investments, and acquisition opportunities in the
domestic and overseas bird’'s nest industry will be

selectively pursued.

The new production line introduced new sterilization
equipment. This transition has resulted in the
implementation of circulating cooling and utilization
systems, reducing water consumption compared to
the previous direct discharge method. Additionally, the
automation of the production process has led to improved
efficiency and reduced energy consumption throughout
the entire production line. The production building has
also been equipped with modular air conditioning units,
effectively reducing energy consumption associated with
air conditioning. These initiatives will help ensure a stable
supply of raw materials, improve supply chain efficiency,

reduce costs, and enhance market competitiveness.

By implementing these measures and initiatives, the Group

aims to fulfill its commitment to sustainability and become a

responsible company in the food industry.
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6. Climate Change

6. Wiz

Potential financial impact

BENUBZE

Climate Risks Time horizon Trend
RIREK e [ £ B
Acute Short term Increase
Physical =1 2 8 o
Risks

B

Chronic Long term
=4E3 R
Policy and Short to Increase
Legal medium term
BERAER T 10
Transition
) Reputation Short to Increase
Risks di
. medium term
BE R

g
)

2 B 1hn

Extreme weather events with increased severity during
cyclones, hurricanes, storm surges, and floods can cause
supply chain interruption by bringing damage to local
infrastructure, may lower the supply of bird’s nest, thus
affecting business continuity, and pose challenges to the
protection of employees’ health and safety.
RIRGmEGHORE - FER - BEAOLELNEERE
BN FIREAER BT BT - B E M B ER - FREAE
BEMIE T BEBHEL  THRERENERK
ZRBARE -

Longer-term shifts in climate patterns can increase capital
costs, operating costs, costs of human resources, and
increased insurance premiums. Potential rise in energy
consumption, resulting in higher utility bills and operating
expenses.

RIREXE KPS ATRIEMERKAE - BEXAK - AN
BIREA » WIEINRRER - sERERNEEREASHA
FREXREMELRZIEM -

Implementation of tightened environmental laws, stringent
requirements on climate disclosures and carbon pricing
system increases operating Costs.

BEBRBHNREER  HREKENREERLIER
BAZEMBEBLKE -

Stakeholders' concerns on climate-related issues of the
Group might dampen the investment sentiment of investors,
impacting the stock price and market capitalisation of the
Group, and hence increasing the liquidity risk.

Mz AEEE S A S E BRI BN AT e i Hi E
EOREBE  TEASENRENTE - WEIEINR
FtRRE -
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Risks and Challenges

The Group relies on suppliers from Southeast Asia, particularly
Indonesia, for the supply of raw bird's nest materials. Hence, it is
crucial to acknowledge that potential supply issues may arise if
natural disasters or climate change impact the source of these
materials. In such circumstances, the Group may encounter
difficulties in procuring an adequate number of raw materials from
its Southeast Asian suppliers, which could have a significant impact

on its business, financial condition, and operational performance.

Furthermore, the Group's operations are susceptible to adverse
effects resulting from various factors. Significant natural disasters
such as snowstorms, earthquakes, fires, or floods, along with the
outbreak of large-scale public health epidemics or other events like
environmental incidents and power shortages, can have detrimental
consequences for the company’s business and operations. These
events, irrespective of whether they occur in China or elsewhere,
including the escalation of epidemics due to climate change,
have the potential to disrupt the Group's operations and present

significant challenges.

The Group recognizes the importance of acknowledging the
potential risks posed by natural disasters or catastrophic events that
could impact its supply chain management, production processes,
or product demand. The Group understands that such events
can lead to substantial adverse consequences for its business
and remains committed to assessing and addressing these risks
accordingly, and proactive discussion will be brought out between

the Green Development Committee and the Board of Directors.

RIE HERERHRE
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Opportunities

The Group acknowledges the necessity to address climate change
and has taken proactive measures to mitigate its impact. The
Group has prioritized integrating advanced technologies into their
manufacturing processes to enhance energy efficiency. Recognizing
the growing demand for low-carbon products, the Group has also
devoted resources to research and optimize its upstream supply
chain while adopting environmentally friendly packaging solutions.
These efforts demonstrate the Group’s commitment to sustainable
practices and its dedication to minimizing its carbon footprint in

response to market demands and the global climate crisis.

SOCIAL

The Group recognizes the importance of its social performance to
stakeholders. Through stakeholder engagement surveys, social topics

have been identified as highly material, with all aspects deemed crucial.

To ensure responsible social performance, the Group prioritizes
compliance with laws and the development of relevant policies. It
actively promotes employee rights and opportunities while pursuing
customer satisfaction. Additionally, the Group engages in activities
that benefit society, including support for the poverty alleviation and

charitable endeavours.

By prioritizing social responsibility, the Group aims to be an industry
leader in social performance. This commitment extends to labour
welfare, equality, health, and high product quality as the Group strives to

make a positive impact in these essential areas.
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1. Employment and Labour Practices

(i) Employment

The Group strictly complies with respective employment laws

and regulations of the PRC as follows:

a)

Labour Law

Labour Contract Law

Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees

Law on the Protection of Women's Rights and Interests
Special Rules on the Labour Protection of Female

Employees

Employment Figures

The Group had a total number of 1,917 employees as of
31 December 2023, of which all employees are from the
PRC, and all of them are full-time employees. The below

figures show the distribution of different categories:
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Turnover Figures

During the Reporting Period, a total of 909 formal
employees left the Group, all from the PRC. The overall
turnover rate was 47.42%. The below figures show the

distribution of different categories:

Turnover Rate
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Competitive Compensation and Benefits Package

Employees are entitled to a basic salary with various
allowances as per their job positions, age and extra work
hours, and year-end bonus on performance. Basic social
insurance including pension, medical, work-related injury,
unemployment compensation, and maternity. Various
types of leave are provided including annual, sick, work-
related injury, marriage, maternity, and compassionate
leave. The Group regularly reviews employees’ salaries
together with business growth and market price, the pay
is generally above the market average. There are two
promotion opportunities per year, ensuring fair chances

for advancement.
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a)

e)

Equal Opportunity

The Group upholds a strong commitment to equal
opportunities and fair treatment for all employees.
They ensure that the recruitment process, training and
development programs, job advancement opportunities,
and compensation and benefits are provided without
any form of discrimination. Employees are not
disadvantaged based on factors such as gender, ethnic
background, religion, colour, age, marital status, family
status, retirement, disability, pregnancy, or any other

characteristic protected by law.

To support working mothers, the Group offers a nursery
room, recognizing the importance of work-life balance
and providing a supportive environment for parents.
Moreover, the Group promotes a culture of continuous
learning and growth by offering diverse training
courses that are accessible to every employee, fostering
professional development opportunities for all members

of the organization.

Employee Communication

Within the Group, there is a strong emphasis on
employee communication. The Group organizes various
activities during traditional festivals like the Lantern
Festival, International Women’s Day, Children’s Day,
Mid-Autumn Festival, and Spring Festival. Additionally,
regular employee communication meetings are held to
foster open dialogue and exchange of ideas. Moreover,
the Group encourages employee engagement through
activities such as book clubs and yoga classes, creating an

inclusive and interactive work environment.
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(i) Employee Health and Safety

As one of the five most material topics, improving the
occupational health and safety of employees is a key focus
for the Group. The Group complies with occupational health-
related laws and regulations of the PRC to avoid any health
risks from being imposed on its employees. These laws and

regulations are listed below:

Hygienic Standards for Design of Industrial Enterprises
Technical Specifications for Occupational Health
Monitoring

Occupational Exposure Limits to Hazardous Factors in the
Workplace

Specifications for the Selection of Personal Protective
Equipment

Sampling Specifications for Monitoring Hazardous
Substances

Determination of Point Substances in the Workplace

For employees exposed to chemicals in laboratories and those
exposed to noise in production areas, regular health check-
ups are arranged to assess occupational disease risks. Relevant
employees are required to wear protective masks and earplugs,
and their compliance is ensured by team leaders before they
resume their duties. Annual fire emergency evacuation drills are
conducted for all employees. The Group provides protective
equipment to employees, including but not limited to masks
and nucleic acid testing reagents. The Group actively promotes
protective measures within the Group, establishes visitor
inquiry mechanisms, strictly complies with relevant regulations
during epidemic periods, and cooperates with community
efforts. If employees show symptoms of disease, the Group
provides seven days of paid leave to ensure that affected
employees receive sufficient rest and prevent transmission

among employees.

In addition, the Group provided a total of 684 hours of
occupational health and safety training to the employees,
meaning that each employee received 0.34 hours of related

training during the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group experienced six work
injury cases, resulting in a total of 381 days. Prompt corrective
actions and reviews were conducted following the reporting
of each injury. The below table shows the occupational health

and data during the Reporting Period:

Occupational Health and Safety Data

Work-related fatality 0
Work injury cases >3 days 1
Work injury cases <3 days 6
Total lost days due to work injury 381

(iii) Development and Training

The Group provides employees with compulsory induction
training and various internal training programs. These
programs cover areas such as work safety, transportation
safety, food safety, occupational health, orientation, and
company culture. The objective of these trainings is to enhance
employees’ knowledge, skills, productivity, and effectiveness
in their respective roles, as well as their understanding of
relevant laws, regulations, policies, procedures, and emergency
response protocols, including hazardous waste fire and

leakage.

To further support employee development, the Group has
introduced the “Yan Palace Academy’, an online learning
platform accessible to all employees. This platform offers a
wide range of courses that can be completed online without
any time restrictions. Upon completion of each course,
employees are required to take online tests to assess their

understanding.

Furthermore, during the Reporting Period, the Group
conducted a total of 9,244.5 hours of training courses online
and offline, with an average of 4.56 hours of training received

by each employee.!

The training statistics regarding gender and employee category were not available
during this Reporting Period.
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(iv) Labour Standards

Labour standards is an important aspect of the Group given
its business nature. The Group strictly abides by all labour
standard laws and regulations to protect children and prevent
child labouring. The Group followed strictly on the PRC Law on

the Protection of Minors.

During the recruitment process, the Group ensures that
candidates’ age is verified by requesting identification
documents. The Group strictly prohibits the recruitment of
child labour or forced labour, and all employees are hired
through legal channels, meeting the requirements for
legitimate employment. In the event that any such practices
are discovered, the Group takes immediate action to terminate
contracts with subcontractors or employees involved and

conducts thorough investigations to prevent recurrence.

No instances of non-compliance were reported during the

Reporting Period.
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2. Operating Practices

(i) Supply Chain Management

The Group engaged 1,697 suppliers during the Reporting

Period, receiving services and supplies including:

Production facilities

Welfare-related services

Professional/technological services

Office supplies and services

Raw material supplies

Product development services

The geographical regions of the suppliers are shown in the

below table:

Geographical regions Numbers
Mainland China 1,674
Indonesia 8
Hong Kong 9
Europe 1
Japan 2
Canada 1
Others 2
Total 1,697

The Group places a strong emphasis on its own environmental,
social, and governance (ESG) performance, and it extends this
focus to its suppliers and business partners. The Group aims
to influence and raise awareness among its suppliers and
partners in various industries, positioning itself as a leader and
role model in promoting corporate responsibility. To ensure
compliance with its standards, the Group's supplier contract
includes provisions related to employment, the elimination
of child labor, social responsibility, professional ethics, and
environmental protection. Suppliers are expected to adhere

to these policies, which are agreed upon when signing the

contract.
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Recruitment Process:

The Group employs a systematic approach in the recruitment
process for both raw materials and packaging materials. For
raw materials, suitable suppliers are sought through methods
such as independent development, supplier-initiated samples,
and referrals. After conducting qualification audits and sample
testing, the Group follows its internal procedures to onboard
new suppliers, including price comparison and negotiation.
These practices are applied to all raw material suppliers.
Supplier monitoring is carried out through supplier audits and

system audits.

Similarly, for packaging materials, the procurement department
evaluates business requisitions, conducts market research, and
selects suppliers based on their basic information. Supplier
evaluations are conducted using various methods such as on-
site audits, video audits, sample confirmations, and document
reviews, depending on the material category. Once a supplier
passes the evaluation by the assessment team, they are
included in the qualified supplier list. Business negotiations and
procurement activities with evaluated suppliers are conducted
based on the principle of obtaining high-quality products at a
reasonable cost. These practices are applied to all packaging

material suppliers.

Continuous Monitoring:

Continuous monitoring is an essential aspect of the Group's
supply chain management. For raw material suppliers,
compliance with relevant laws, regulations, and industry
standards of China and Indonesia is a requirement. Suppliers
must possess the necessary qualifications and certifications for
the export and import of bird's nests. Additionally, suppliers’
products must meet national standards and the Group's
requirements to ensure product safety and quality. The Group
comprehensively manages and monitors all aspects of supplier
factories, including factory environment, capacity, personnel
management, tool usage, production processes, and quality
control. These measures help identify environmental and social
risks at each stage of the supply chain. Suppliers are expected
to comply with the Group's strict supplier management system.
The procurement department conducts supplier assessments
semi-annually, while the quality management department
performs factory inspections and audits annually. Internal and
external audits are conducted by the company periodically,

approximately once or twice a month.
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For packaging materials, the Group employs several measures
to mitigate risks. Firstly, a “Supplier Risk Assessment” process
is carried out before procurement, where suppliers and their
materials are evaluated based on factors such as industry risks,
environmental risks, and social risks (including microbiological
contamination, allergen contamination, chemical pollution,
radiation pollution, genetically modified organisms, physical
contamination, and cross-contamination of varieties or
categories). Based on the final assessment level, corresponding
control measures are implemented. Secondly, a “Supplier
Quality, Environmental, Occupational Health and Safety
Management Agreement” is signed with suppliers annually.
This agreement includes specific terms and conditions that
restrict suppliers, aiming to reduce quality incidents, constrain
environmental pollution (including emission of pollutants and
resource utilization), and prevent occupational health and
safety incidents, thus promoting sustainable procurement.
Thirdly, regular on-site assessments are conducted for
suppliers, covering aspects such as supplier qualifications,
compliance, allergen management, microbial control
during production processes, traceability, non-conforming
product control, complaint handling, product control and
packaging, product release procedures, personnel, HACCP
reviews, product security and food defense plans, product
authenticity plans, good operating practices, and production
site conditions. These assessments serve to monitor the

environmental and social risks associated with the suppliers.
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(ii) Product Responsibility

The Group manufactures, processes, and sells bird's nest
products mainly to the Mainland China market. Hence, the
Group follows strictly the laws and regulations of the PRC,

including but not limited to:

Advertising Law

Interim Provisions on the Release of Food Advertisements
Trademark Law

Anti-Unfair Competition Law

Cosmetic Supervision and Administration Regulations
Food Safety Law

Food Labelling Management Regulations
Commodity Barcode Management Measures
Consumer Rights and Interests Protection Law

Civil Code

Personal Information Protection Law

Cybersecurity Law

Criminal Law

Trademark Law

Patent Law

Copyright Law

Health and Safety, Advertising, and Labelling

The Group is committed to offering products and services with
high standards of safety, quality, and reliability. The Group
strictly abides by the Product Quality Law of the PRC and other

relevant laws and regulations regarding product quality.

In the event of remedying product or service-related health
and safety issues, the Group involves the establishment of
specialized teams or the appointment of designated company
personnel to oversee the entire problem-resolution process.
The Group strictly adheres to national laws and regulations
to safeguard public health and safety, providing legal
compensation and recalling relevant products as required. In
the case of health and safety issues occurring on a larger scale,
the Group not only strengthens its existing practices but also

issues necessary public statements.
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When faced with advertising or labelling issues, the Group
promptly assesses the associated risks and takes specific
measures such as recalls or corrective actions. The Group
actively addresses the legal consequences arising from these
issues to prevent their amplification or detrimental effects on

public perception.

No material non-compliance cases regarding health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided as required by related laws and

regulations were recorded during the Reporting Period.

Zero Product Recall

The Group adheres to the food safety policy of “people-
oriented, safety and health, meticulousness, and pursuit
of excellence,” as well as the quality policy of “natural,
environmentally friendly, high-quality, safe, and guarded by
life.” The Group has established a strict end-to-end quality
management system. Currently, the Group has obtained
certifications for quality management systems such as BRC,
IFS, HACCP, 1SO9001, 1SO14001, 1S022000, and bird’s nest
product certification. The Group has developed comprehensive
procedural management system documents that include
but are not limited to “documents, records, internal audits,
non-conformities, corrections, and prevention.” Each process
is analysed for hazards, and HACCP plans and preventive
control measures are established. A robust food safety
protection plan (YSN-FH-01) has been put in place, and
regular recall drills are conducted every year to ensure the
safety and health of products. The Group has implemented a
traceability management system to achieve full product quality

traceability.

The Group has established product recall procedures (YSN-
QP-23) and classified food recalls into three levels based on the
severity and urgency of food safety risks. Specific recall steps
and product handling provisions have been formulated for

each level.
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Customer Service

Regarding customer service quality and inquiries, the Group
establishes a customer service system, trains pre-sales and
after-sales personnel, imparts best practices, experiences, and
knowledge for handling customer service, improves customer
service records, and effectively manages the customer service

team.

Regarding customer complaints, the general process followed
by the company upon receiving a complaint is as follows:
accurately understanding the complaint, verifying the issues
raised in the complaint, formulating a solution, and engaging
in friendly negotiations with the complainant to determine if
a final resolution can be reached, and providing feedback to

relevant departments for improvements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of 2
complaints regarding product quality concerns and product
delivery. Each complaint was thoroughly investigated, and
resolution was achieved through effective communication
with the clients and product enhancements. No product recalls

were deemed necessary.

Data Protection

The Group's data protection policy encompasses the
safeguarding of confidential information and trade secrets.
This includes contact details, customer requirements, financial
information, and marketing or business plans. All employees
are required to acknowledge and agree not to disclose such
information by signing the employment contract. Violations of

confidentiality regulations may result in dismissal.

In addition, the Group has established various policies and

regulations to ensure information security, including the

o

"Computer and Network Management System,” “Database

Security Management Specification,” “Information System

non

Security Inspection and Audit System,” “Data Classification

and Grading Management System,” “Data Security Incident
Emergency Plan,” and “Network Security Management System.”
These measures are in place to safeguard the security of

company information.
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Intellectual Property

Regarding the protection of proprietary intellectual property,
measures are implemented to enforce confidentiality,
incentivize intellectual property rights, and cultivate an
intellectual property rights culture. Various types of intellectual
property are identified, and corresponding measures such as
registration or other management practices are undertaken.
The Group utilizes an intellectual property management team
to coordinate and advance intellectual property protection

within the existing intellectual property framework.

In terms of compliance with third-party intellectual property
rights, the Group establishes monitoring measures to identify
and avoid infringement of legally recognized third-party
intellectual property. This includes conducting searches
for similar trademarks before trademark registration and
conducting patent searches as a prerequisite for patent
applications. When utilizing third-party intellectual property,
the emphasis is placed on lawful usage, such as the legal
purchase of third-party software. Clear definitions of intellectual
property ownership and usage rights are established in

contracts related to intellectual property.

During the reporting period, no significant cases of non-

compliance regarding confidential information were recorded.
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(iii) Anti-corruption

The Group strictly regulates the discipline and professional
conduct of its employees to prevent any potential bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering, and gambling. The Group
complied with relevant laws and regulations related to bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering of the PRC, including

but not limited to:

Criminal Law

Anti-Unfair Competition Law

Interim Provisions on the Prohibition of Commercial
Bribery

Anti-Money Laundering Law

Interpretations of the Supreme Court on Several Issues
Concerning the Specific Application of Laws in the Trial of
Anti-Money Laundering and Other Criminal Cases
Financial Institutions” Anti-Money Laundering Regulations
Measures for the Management of Large-Amount and
Suspicious Transactions of Foreign Exchange Funds of

Financial Institutions

In addition, the Group has developed the following policies

and regulations:

Anti-Commercial Bribery Management System
Anti-Fraud and Anti-Money Laundering Management
System

Whistleblower Investigation Management System

Whoever retaliates against those who have raised concerns
under the policies will be subject to disciplinary actions.
When the suspicious case is received, the Group undergoes
investigation procedures with secured protection on the
complainant’s confidentially. There was no concluded legal
case regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or

its employees during the reporting period.

There were no significant legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees during

the Reporting Period.
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Anti-corruption training

The Group places great importance on promoting an ethical
work environment and preventing corruption. To achieve this,
the Group conducts courses through the Yan Palace Academy
platform, including the “Anti-Commercial Bribery, Creating an
Ethical Atmosphere” program. These courses aim to educate
employees about the company’s policies and values, guiding
them in establishing the correct set of values. The online
training program covers 65% of all employees, providing each
participant with one hour of training. Additionally, all directors
have actively participated in the online anti-corruption
training, receiving one hour of training as well. These initiatives
demonstrate the Group's commitment to fostering a culture
of integrity and ensuring that employees are well-equipped to
make ethical decisions in their roles.

Community Investment

The Group actively engages in social welfare activities, including
charity initiatives for the disabled, poverty alleviation, regional
public welfare, rural revitalization, and earthquake reconstruction
donations. Awards received and the efforts inputted by the Group
during the Reporting Period are as below.

Awards and Recognitions:
New Responsible Enterprise of the Year — Southern Weekend,

July 2023.

Gold medal, Green Love Light of Dunhuang, at the NPO Green
Life 20th Anniversary Gratitude Commendation Conference,
August 2023.

Annual Social Responsibility Contribution Enterprise by China
Business News, September 2023.

2023 Public Welfare Project Award from Consumer Reports,
November 2023.

2023 Public Welfare Project Award at the Times Marketing
Ceremony, November 2023.

Xiamen's “Double Love Model" Enterprise in 2023.
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Donations and Efforts:

Donated and named a stadium at Baishi Primary School,
Yangjiang City, Guangdong Province, in collaboration with the
Guangdong Shuhao Li Qun Sports Charity Foundation (Haoqun
Foundation), November 4, 2023.

Contributed RMB200,000 for post-earthquake reconstruction in
Jishishan County, Linxia Prefecture, Gansu Province, December
22,2023.

These accomplishments highlight the Group’s dedication to
corporate social responsibility and their significant contributions

towards social welfare and community development.
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KPMG!

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the shareholders of Xiamen Yan Palace Bird's Nest Industry Co., Ltd.
(Formerly known as Xiamen Yan Palace Bioengineering Co., Ltd.)

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xiamen Yan
Palace Bird's Nest Industry Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Xiamen Yan Palace
Bioengineering Co., Ltd.) (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 154 to 256, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information

and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code") together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People's Republic of
China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

B 2R E
Key audit matters BRETSE
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were MRETEESRBERMOEEAE - RAY
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements RGAVBBRRNEARREENFTE - &
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our LETHEERMBABREBLEAMBERRE T A
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ERNETEEN BT ELEHER
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. BENER -
Revenue recognition
WA TERE
Refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 184.
BRI E BRI T3(2) RE 184 BRI ETEE °
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BERETEE BRAWET A REZEE
The Group's revenue is mainly derived from the sales of edible Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition included
bird's nest products to distributors, e-commerce platforms and the following:
retail customers. B WA RN ETRT /A TR
EEBENRATERBRAKLHEE EHTARTEELHER
RAMBER - - obtaining an understanding of and assessing the

design, implementation and operating effectiveness of

The Group enters into a framework sale contract with major management'’s key internal controls in relation to revenue
distributors and e-commerce platforms each year and sells its recognition of sales of edible bird's nest products to
products in accordance with terms of sale contracts. distributors, e-commerce platforms and retail customers;

EEBESFRIELHENER TR LEREESH - BIE - TRYEHMEERESREALHY  ERTakTERER
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Revenue recognition

WA

Refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 184.

BRREE AN T3(0) RE 184 H B & HE °
The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

Contracts with different types of customers have different terms.
Such terms may affect the amount and timing of the recognition
of sales to these customers. Management evaluates the terms of
each contract in order to determine the appropriate amount and
timing of revenue recognition.
BARBREFITYNG OB TRNGR - ZFERTRTE
WRAZEZEFEHENSRLKMH - EBESTEEHE
REVIRER - AT WA R E S S8 R -

=/ 48
==

For sales to distributors, revenue is recognised when the
products are delivered to and accepted by distributors at
specified locations. For sales to e-commerce platforms, revenue
is recognised when the products are accepted by the platforms
upon delivery to their designated premises. For sales to retail
customers, revenue is recognised when the retail customer
takes possession of the products or when customer accepts the
products upon delivery.

HAEHEPTEHEM S - REMRINEIETE MBI AL HE
BEWRHERARA - MAEFTFAMIEHEENS EERINE
EEH AT aEWRHERBA - siAZEEFAEHE M
T ETERPEBEMIAEPRE MR I1E W R
Ao
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inspecting contracts with distributors and e-commerce
platforms, on a sample basis, to understand the terms of
the sales transactions including the terms of delivery and
acceptance, applicable sales rebates arrangements and any
sales return arrangements to assess the Group's revenue
recognition policies with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;
FHRMERRIALHA NER TR LHNEL - AT #
HERXGWIER - BRI REBUER - EREERT
ZHEREMBREZH - (M2 RBITHFHERIHZ KT
HEEE WA ERBR

comparing, on a sample basis, sales transactions recorded
during the year with the underlying goods delivery notes,
monthly confirmations from e-commerce platforms,
invoices, bank-in slips and other relevant supporting
documents and assessing whether the related revenue had
been recognised in accordance with the Group's revenue
recognition policies;
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Revenue recognition

WA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BEN RS

Refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 184.

BRREE AN T3(0) RE 184 H B & HE °
The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

The Group also offers sales rebates to distributors and
e-commerce platforms in the normal course of business. These
rebates are sales performance-based depending on the relevant
requirements specified in the contracts. The sales rebates are
accounted for as a deduction from revenue.
EEETREFEBRBIETRLHARER T ARMHEER
Moo ZEFRNTDRAHEEERELE  WEESLHFIEENIERM
LRMIE ° HERFARIIER AT HIR °

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group
and therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the
amount and timing of revenue recognised by management to
meet specific targets or expectations. In addition, different types
of customers with different contract terms give rise to complexity
in the amount and timing of revenue recognition.

BB RARRET RMERETEE RN BRARESE
WEARERIER Y —  BMMEEEEE/ERRT B FTE
i #5244 P i AU A B & R e PR FR O [ G @B = b - ERR[RIER
AEFHNE A AGRTUE I T WA TR © 58K e R
B o

comparing, on a sample basis, specific sales transactions
recorded around the financial year end with relevant
underlying documents, which included goods delivery
notes, monthly confirmations from e-commerce platforms
and other relevant supporting documents, where
appropriate, to assess whether the related revenue had
been recognised in the appropriate financial year;
BIEE BV REERTHENTEHER S EIBMAX
FUBETER  REEEE  ERHTAAEHEKRE
NHEMARRFERAX T (AEA) - AsHEEERARS
RE BT RFERER

obtaining external confirmations of, on a sample basis,
sales transaction amounts for the year and debtor balances
as at the financial year end directly from distributors and
e-commerce platforms;

EMEER - BEREECHEHELER LG FEH
B R S EA R B B [E 2R 1w 2R W [B] ) 84 58 7 S B RE R
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Revenue recognition

LN

B

Refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 184.

A
The Ke
BRE

ARE IR T 30) RE 184 A BB 5 IHE
y Audit Matter
FtEIE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

146
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inspecting the sales ledger subsequent to the financial
reporting period and making enquiries of management to
identify significant credit notes issued and sales returns and
inspecting relevant underlying documents to assess if the
related revenue had been accounted for in the appropriate
financial period in accordance with the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

R B B S B R B 85 S BR AR K (A1 B IR 2 1 AR R DA
BRI EAHHEF D R HERE W IRE RS FEX
& M AE AR S ERBRITSAERNNRE
RBE NS EHBEARK

assessing, on a sample basis, whether sales rebates had
been appropriately recognised by re-calculating the sales
rebates based on the terms as set out in the distribution
or e-commerce platform contracts, and comparing re-
calculated amount to the sales rebates recognised
during the financial year, and also to confirmations from
distributors or e-commerce platforms and other relevant
underlying documents; and

BIURAR  BBRBEHBNER T AT GER
BN ERRBNEERN - REEHAEN SR AN K
FREABRBHHERMNESELRELHBIEEHTAH
HERR K Je B Ath AR A S 45 M SUIE  RIMETTEL B - e AT
HERMNEEEZRER &

inspecting manual journal entries related to sales
transactions recognised during the year which met specific
risk-based criteria, enquiring of management the reasons
for such entries and comparing the details of the entries
with relevant underlying documents.

HRHERENERFENFARRHEERSF I a5t
S MEREARFELRLESSNRE - WHERX
FMXEZEESENFAEE -



Valuation of inventories

FEME
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Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 179.

BRI S BREN T 15 RE 1798 E5HBE °
The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

Inventories of the Group mainly comprised raw materials, work in
progress and finished goods. The carrying amount of the Group's
inventories at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB360.4 million
which represented 25% of the Group's total assets, and write-
down of inventories of RMB1.4 million was recorded.
EEENFREIEARERY  ERakKR ZB=F+=
R=+—B E5ENGFEREERARK3604BET @ 15
EEBBEEEN2%  FEMHAARKI4BET -

The Group's inventories are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The net realisable value is determined by
management taking into account of the estimated selling prices
of the Group's products, the estimated costs of completion of
work in progress at the reporting date and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sales.
SEBENFERNAESIRHEZ RIREETEE - IR
FEREREREZREEEEEMNMETEE  PNiE B BTK
R mEENBFTRARHE IR G R RRERT °

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of inventories

included the following:

B EEEHENETEFREATER

assessing the Group's inventory provisioning policy with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
2RATEHEINERFHEEENTFERBEEK

evaluating the reasonableness of the percentages and
other parameters adopted in the Group's policy on the net
realisable value calculation by comparing the net realisable
value with selling price (less selling and distribution costs)
achieved subsequent to the end of reporting period on a
sample basis;

HEERAR - BRI FEERBERAREERNEE O
EHERDHAAR) ETHE - M EEEEZE
FENGTERRFPAEANAE L RAMBHNEE
1
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Valuation of inventories

FEME

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 179.

BRI S BREN T 15 RE 1798 E5HBE °
The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit matter
because of its significance to the Group's total assets, and
because determining the net realisable value involves significant
management judgement and estimation, which can be inherently
subjective, and increase the risk of error or potential management
bias.

BB FERERERMRESFE s EEEER
EEM=Z2WEE  WHAAERFENETIREBRENER
FIET R e - R R AT ANE T FETEIML - BN T HER
FElasEEERERR
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assessing whether the inventory write-down at the end of
the financial period was calculated on a basis consistent
with the Group's inventory provisioning policy by re-
calculating the write-down based on the percentages and
other parameters in the Group's inventory provisioning
policy;
RESEEFTERERRTO B R EM2BERT
FHORSFE - WM EHBEARNFERRNAE DK
RREBEEENTFEREDR -

assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report, if applicable, were classified within
the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with the underlying goods receipt
notes;

IR - BiFEERRETHEGIER EEEAEE
ETHE - EMEERNER Tt RSHHNEARS
WHOBZEENERER ;



Valuation of inventories

FEME
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Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 179.

BRI S BREN T 15 RE 1798 E5HBE °
The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

assessing, on a sample basis, whether inventories were
sold at prices above their carrying values subsequent to
the year-end by comparing the cost of each individual
item selected with actual selling prices (less selling and
distribution costs) achieved after the financial year end;
and

FEUERAR - 538 T RO {E 5138 B &9 AR B2 B B AR 2 R
BRERNEREEB REHERDHAAR) EITHER -
mertFEFREESRSNEAREENERLS &

assessing the historical accuracy of management'’s process
for calculating the provision for inventories by examining
the utilisation or release of the provision recorded at the
end of the previous financial year during the current year
and whether there is any indication of management bias.

A 2N 6F 2 N3 1 B IR AR OR A 8 0 585 4 0 60 AR S [l
Bh - Wt EREEtEFERFHRIENE L EE
M UEGHERESREEANRKRATEEFERR -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability

to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BUZEERE

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

152

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Liu Hin Pan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

22 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeERREM2AENER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BiE=ZE_=F+—A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A #2177 )

2023 2022
—E_= —ET-—
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt EE AR¥T T ARBT T
Revenue L'ON 3 1,964,237 1,729,945
Cost of sales SHEMAR (969,321) (851,693)
Gross profit EF 994,916 878,252
Other net income H A FUA 4 30,502 27,692
Selling and distribution expenses SHE A SHR 2 (563,283) (503,879)
Administrative expenses TR (159,506) (111,543)
Research and development expenses e (26,384) (24,320)
Profit from operations Fed e 276,245 266,202
Finance costs g4 5(a) (2,919) (1,636)
Profit before taxation R A0 U 5 273,326 264,566
Income tax PSR 6(a) (61,738) (58,688)
Profit and total comprehensive FRABER
income for the year BEEmR 211,588 205,878
Attributable to: Pt
Equity shareholders of the Company RN EIRERAR R 201,218 191,840
Non-controlling interests FEE R 10,370 14,038
Profit and total comprehensive FRAER
income for the year BEEmWE 211,588 205,878
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted (RMB) ERREE (AREBT) 9 0.46 0.44
The notes on pages 161 to 256 form part of these financial statements. Details F161 2256 B I A EM B RETH — 50
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to 5o FNEMNKAREZZEREHFBFIHRN
the profit for the year are set out in note 24(b). MizE24(b) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

an A~ ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ}ﬁ%z

At 31 December 20203 R-_E-_=F+=-F=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (A FE#Z7R)

2023 2022
:$:E =
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T AR¥T T ARBET T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment YEE - BB R 10 189,972 87,782
Intangible assets mEEAE 11 1,280 1,275
Goodwill [EES 12 75,165 75,165
Deferred tax assets R IBE E 23(b) 34,371 36,130
Other non-current assets HEMIEmBEE 14 14,698 4679
315,486 205,031
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets measured at fair EBAREBERFAEZN
value through profit or loss EREE - 4,996
Inventories F& 15 360,362 271,795
Trade and other receivables B 5 K HAbE U IR 16(a) 120,297 89,459
Prepayments TEfTFIA 16(b) 118,168 54,655
Prepaid taxes TERHEIR 23(a) 10,513 =
Restricted bank deposits SRR BRI TE R 17(b) 8,074 1,600
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 17(a) 537,093 350,818
1,154,507 773,323
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAFER IR 18 260,107 239,673
Contract liabilities aREE 19 225,303 176,450
Lease liabilities HEBE 20 26,391 15,657
Other current liabilities HitmEa & 19 28,381 23,274
Current taxation BNEAFSTE 23(a) 19,938 38,091
560,120 493,145
Net current assets REFEE 594,387 280,178
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAR 909,873 485,209

—EZ - =F4R | ANNUAL REPORT 2023 155



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEmBRRE

At 31 December 2023 R=ZE==F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN FREE515)

2023 2022
:?:E =
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T AR¥T R ARBET T
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Lease liabilities HEBE 20 111,287 11,264
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTEEE 23(b) 1,659 1,935
112,946 13,199
NET ASSETS FEE 796,927 472,010
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR&HE
Share capital %N 24(c) 93,100 86,700
Reserves e 676,571 367,696
Total equity attributable to equity AATEERREGEER
shareholders of the Company 769,671 454,396
Non-controlling interests IR R 27,256 17,614
TOTAL EQUITY MRS 796,927 472,010

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 March NR_E-—ME=A -+ —_HEZEEH &R
2024. B .

Huang Jian Zheng Wenbin
=i B 3E
Chairman and Executive Director Vice Chairman and Executive Director
EFERENTEF BIEERFNTEE
The notes on pages 161 to 256 form part of these financial statements. F161 2256 AN T ERZETEREH —IL
2 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= HE 3£ 424
mEEREER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #iZ T - =F+_A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (XA RIS )

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FATEGRRER
Shares
held for Share-
employee based Non-
Share Share incentive payment Statutory ~ Retained controlling Total
capital premium scheme Teserve feserve profits Total interests equity

58
b LAE Rl
k5 ROEE  BAOER MEE  ARdR:  REAE ECIE = I
Note RMB 000 RVBOOD  RMBOOO RMB 000 RVBOOD  RVBODD  RMBOOD  RMBODD  AMBOO)
Wt ARETT ARBTR ARETR  ARETT  ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note24)  MNote24(d)i)  MNote2d)  (Note24(d)il)  (Note 24(d)i)
(Wiu0)  (Hiudo) () (WEudm)  (HEuon)

Balance at 1 January 2022 RZE-ZE-f-BHES 86,700 156,080 (1642) 5,691 34110 56,014 336953 16,184 393137
Changesinequity for202:  ZE-ZERHEH.
Profitand total comprehensiie  FRFIER

income for the year grElE - - - - - 1980 191840 14038 205878
Equity settled share-based WEGEENROA

transactions 5 Pl = = = 5253 = = 5253 5253
Appropriation to statutory RIEELES

Teserve 24(d) i) - - - - 31,137 (31137) - - -
Dividends approved and paidto B SLEWRIT FRES

the shareholdersin respectof BB L —BIRERA)

the previous year k& 24(b) - - - - - (800000 (80000) - (80000)
Dividends tonon-controling R FAFSEERIERRST

interests of subsidiaries RE - - - - - - - sy ()
Acquisition of non-controlling ~ WEEF AR

interests of subsidiaries s - 350 - - - - 30 (1.350) (1,000
Balance at 31 December 2022 W=5==+=f=1-A

s 86,700 156430 (1642) 10944 05,247 136,717 4543% 17614 472010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BiZE =T =_=F+=-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN FREEZ15)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ADARERRER
Shares
held for Share-
employee based Non-
Share Share incentive payment Statutory  Retained controlling Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
S
HEHE Rt
Rk BBEE HAEHRG MEE  tEMEE  REAR & FEREER 288
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
i ARBTn ARETZ ARETR  ARBTz  ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR
(Note 24(c) ~ (Note 24(d)(i)) ~ (Note22)  (Note 24(d)(i) ~ (Note 24(d)fii))
(Meoao) (Meboa)i)  (W&22)  (Wrsboa(a)i)  (HEtoa(d)ii)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E-=E-R-BHER 86,700 156,430 (1,642) 10,944 65,247 136,717 45439% 17,614 472,010
Changesinequity for 2023 ZE-=ERHEH.
Profitand total comprehensive ~ ERFIER
income for the year BrEYE - - - - - 01218 201218 10370 211,588
Issurance of ordinary shares by BADREERE(
iniial public ofering ERRH 6,400 262,841 - - - - 269241 - 269241
Equity setted share-based IWEREENRANH
transactions 5 0 - 14118 1,642 (10,944) - - 4816 - 4816
Appropriation to Statutory RIEE NS
reserve 24(a)(i) - - - - 10,622 (10,622) - - -
Dividends approvedand paid B SEWRIT FHREM
tothe shareholders inrespect BB —BIHERM
of the previous year RE 24(o) - - - - - (1600000 (160,000) - (160,000)
Dividends tonon-contioling A FAFFERERETRE
interests of subsidiaries - - - = = = = (728) (728)
Balance at 31 December 2023~ W=5==+=f=1-A
fise 93,100 433,389 - - 75,869 167,313 769,671 27,256 796,927

The notes on pages 161 to 256 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
REBSHER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BLE=ZE = =F+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN R#ZI)

2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-—
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B R AR®TR AR®BTE

Operating activities SRR
Cash generated from operations BEMRFRE 17(c) 212,272 393,951
Income tax paid BRI FEH (88,921) (88,072)
Net cash generated from operating

activities RETBAMESFRE 123,351 305,879
Investing activities REEE

Payment for purchase of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Payment for acquisition of financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets

BEYME - BB REEI R

| EENNR (24,351) (22,478)

WigiE A e EEF AR

SREEMNNNR (748,000) (555,000)

HERAABE ABERD

measured at fair value through profit or loss & & EFTISFUE 754,933 551,459
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries & FRARIFTSKRIA - 4,995
Net cash used in investing activities RETZEFARES (17,418) (21,024
Financing activities R EE
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERNESHERELS 17(d) (17,082) (16,838)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B HEE 8RB 17(d) (2,919) (1,621)
Proceeds from new bank loans FTERITE RS RIE 17(d) 18 12,183
Repayment of bank loans EBRITER 17(d) (18) (12,183)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid ERFEREMERER 17(d) —* (15)
Gross proceeds from issuance of shares BRARBEREITRG

by initial public offering KEFRISFRIE 24(c) 283,029 =
Payment of listing expenses S ETRAX (13,101) =
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W HE F 2 Rl FEIE R

of subsidiaries T - (1,000)
Dividends paid to the shareholders A A SRR A A B 24(b) (160,000) (80,000)

Dividends to non-controlling interests

[A)F A B SRR A R

of subsidiaries PISNYES) 17(d) (7,928) (4,058)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BRETEE (FA)
financing activities FBRE 81,999 (103,532)
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Consolidated cash flow statement

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BiZE =T =_=F+=-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN FREEZ15)

2023 2022
—EBC-=HF T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
P EE AR®T T ARKETT
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERBESEFYIEINFEE 187,932 181,323
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BReRBEEEY 350,818 169,495
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXREBRTE (1,657) =
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+ =-A=+—HHEBEER
RE%EY 17(a) 537,093 350,818
*  This amount represents amount less than RMB500. * AEeBEIRARES00TT o
The notes on pages 161 to 256 form part of these financial statements. F1612256 AWM EEKZF T Bz —B

% -
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1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE SRR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (b X 2 5 A Ar#55) + AN R #Z)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable IFRS Accounting Standards, which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed

below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected in

these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 comprise Xiamen Yan Palace Bird’s Nest Industry
Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as the "Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for certain financial

assets measured at their fair value (see note 1(f)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

1

162

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), rounded to the nearest thousand. All of the companies
comprising the Group are operating in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC") and their functional currency is RMB, hence, RMB is

used as the presentation currency of the Group.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS
Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are

discussed in note 2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and amended IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to these financial

statements for the current accounting period:

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors: Definition of accounting

estimates

Amendments to |IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
and IFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality judgements:

Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to IAS 12, /ncome taxes: Deferred tax related to

assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

Amendments to |AS 12, /ncome taxes: International tax reform

— Pillar Two model rules

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period. Impacts of the
adoption of the new and amended IFRS Accounting Standards are

discussed below:

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

IFRS 17, which replaces IFRS 4, sets out the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements applicable
to issuers of insurance contracts. The standard does not have a
material impact on these financial statements as the Group does

not have contracts within the scope of IFRS 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (b X Z# S B ET#E5) » XN R EZITR)

1

164

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in

accounting estimates and errors: Definition of accounting

estimates

The amendments provide further guidance on the distinction
between changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates. The amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements as the Group's approach in distinguishing

changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting

estimates is consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements

and IFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality judgements:

Disclosure of accounting policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material accounting
policy information and provide guidance on applying the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosure. The Group has

revisited the accounting policy information it has been disclosing

and considered it is consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related to

assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exemption such that it does not apply to transactions that give rise
to equal and offsetting temporary differences on initial recognition
such as leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases and
decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax assets
and liabilities are required to be recognised from the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings or other
components of equity at that date. For all other transactions, the

amendments are applied to those transactions that occur after the

beginning of the earliest period presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR AR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EESHEE(E)
() EFTHESE (&)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Amendments to IAS 12, /Income taxes: Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction
(continued)

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply the initial
recognition exemption to lease transactions and had recognised the
related deferred tax, except that the Group previously determined
the temporary difference arising from a right-of-use asset and the
related lease liability on a net basis on the basis they arise from
a single transaction. Following the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences in relation to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. The change primarily impacts
disclosures of components of deferred tax assets and liabilities in
note 23(b), but does not impact the overall deferred tax balances
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as the

related deferred tax balances qualify for offsetting under IAS 12.

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: International tax reform
- Pillar Two model rules

The amendments introduce a temporary mandatory exception
from deferred tax accounting for the income tax arising from tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (“OECD") (income tax arising
from such tax laws is hereafter referred to as “Pillar Two income
taxes”), including tax laws that implement qualified domestic
minimum top-up taxes described in those rules. The amendments
also introduce disclosure requirements about such tax including
the estimated tax exposure to Pillar Two income taxes. The
amendments are immediately effective upon issuance and require
retrospective application. The amendments do not have a material
impact on these financial statements as the Group operates in
Chinese Mainland, which has not enacted or substantively enacted
new tax laws by 31 December 2023 to implement the Pillar Two
model rules published by the OECD.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences until the

date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income
and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains
or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests (“NCI") either at fair value or at the NCl's
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between

NCI and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in

a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary is

measured at fair value when control is lost.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

1

EESTBER ()
(d) FRAKFZRES

FRAREIXAKEEFNAF - HA
EEARAARAEZEL2HEBEREMEH
Al & ol A E R SR R RBE
EZEBNEIZEZFOE - AIX
SEHEAZEROZENE - FRAN
MHHREAEHRMARZBESHE
FEMBmE  BREGIREERLERIE -

SEARBERERHAREBARN LR
SEENEMRERKZ (INER S
MU eSSBS IBERSN) T IARTEE - REA
BXIMEERSRBEENEET X
HEORERW AR EAEDRER
HERELR -

REXBAGHME  AEEIEER
RABEIIRFEBRERE D5 TR A
AT 3% Rl %E A E B L B ET A SR IR
B4 - FERERNEEMBRREK
MEZANZS  BBIRARE#ERE
BEREGHEZD - NEBXERNIE
hsEsaBEaEMemiaR
2% TERRFAEZABNIEEZE
Yo st FE AN B FE PR AR A SR A s AOR
ZREEH AR

AEBER T DA EES B TR K
EFTHIHER  BIFIERIRER S -

AR B ES F QAR IESIE - Al
BUHHRZ T ARMEERBERE
a4 8 2 422 SO i e Lt 428 2 4 X 38D
2 e EAMEEN KRS HEBEERER
R MEREFRAIZEGER - R
TARIRENEMNESIE AR EER

=
= -°



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

(e)

(f)

In the Company's statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii)),
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group

classified as held for sale).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses and is tested annually for

impairment (see note 1(j)(ii)).

Other investments in securities

The Group's policies for investment in securities, other than

investments in subsidiaries, are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised on the
date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL") for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
25(e). These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,

depending on their classification.

(i) Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into one of the following

measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest method
(see note 1(s)(ii)(a)), foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on

derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Other investments in securities (continued)

(@)

Non-equity investments (continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI")
- recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and
the investment is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as if
the financial asset was measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value and the amortised cost is
recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCl"). When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated

in OCl is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are

recognised in profit or loss.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses (see note 1(j)

(i):

interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is

the registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(i)).

right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties

where the Group is not the registered owner of the property

interest; and

items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets

arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see

note 1(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items

(major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and

equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment less their estimated residual values, if any,
using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives, and

is generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods

are as follows:

- The Group's interests in buildings situated on leasehold land
are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease
and the buildings' estimated useful lives, being no more than

50 years after the date of completion.

- Motor vehicles 4 -5 years
- Machinery 5-10years
— Office and other equipment 3 - 5years

- Leasehold improvements The shorter of the
lease terms or the
estimated useful

life of the assets

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed

at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Research and development costs comprise all costs that are directly
attributable to research and development activities or that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities. Because of the
nature of the Group's research and development activities, the
criteria for the recognition of such costs as an asset are generally
not met until late in the development stage of the project when the
remaining development costs are immaterial. Hence both research
costs and development costs are generally recognised as expenses

in the period in which they are incurred.

Other intangible assets, including patents, that are acquired by
the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses

(see note 1(j)(ii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets
less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised

in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods
are as follows:
- Patent rights 6.5 to 17 years

- Software 2 to 3 years

The useful life of patent rights was assessed based on the

protection terms of patent rights.
The useful life of software was assessed based on the expected
service life during which relevant software performs its desired

functionality.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed

at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

USE,

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component for

all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases that have a short
lease term of 12 months or less. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised,
the associated leases payment are recognised in profit or loss on a

systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is recognised using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to profit

or loss as incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently

stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

(see notes 1(g) and 1(j)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in non-equity securities carried at
amortised cost (see notes 1(f), 1(s)(ii)(@) and 1(j)(i)). Any excess of the
nominal value over the initial fair value of the deposits is accounted

for as additional lease payments made and is included in the cost of

right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there
is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of

the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying

amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

()

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in
the lease contract, if such modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions
are rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken
advantage of the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments in profit or loss
in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent

concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within

twelve months after the reporting period.

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECL"s) on financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and

other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Generally, credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the contractual and expected

amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the

following discount rates if the effect is material:
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1

174

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(@)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or

an approximation thereof;

variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the

maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed

to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that result
from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months);

and

lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the

items to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at
12-months ECLs:

financial instruments that are determined to have low

credit risk at the reporting date; and

other financial instruments for which credit risk (i.e. the
risk of default occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased significantly since

initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(@)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that

includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has

increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions

such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed
on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk

characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(@)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a

loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have

occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the

following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or being more than

90 days past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on

terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security

because of financial difficulties of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(@)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Werite-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off to
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the asset becomes 30 to 90 days past
due or when the Group otherwise determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-
off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss

in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than inventories
and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested

annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or cash-generating units (“CGU"s). Goodwill
arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies

of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of
its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in
use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and

the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

1

178

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an

asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill

allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts

of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of

depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been

recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with IAS
34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and

reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see

notes 1(j)(i)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been

recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end

of the financial year to which the interim period relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR AR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EEETEER (8)
(k) Inventories and other contract costs k) FERHEMERMAA
(i) Inventories (i) #E&

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable TFE Rk A B A # 31)FE M E AR
value. EEVIER -
Costs is calculated using the weighted average cost formula BOARIRIE R AERH - 8
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and EAMAEBERA - B AR EAqAm
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present IR EESCARFTEM R AR ET
location and condition. WP o
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the AIRRFEABEEKBREPOM
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of FHEERIGF TR A RETTHE
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the Fris M ET R o

sale.

(ii) Other contract costs

(i) HAERAA

Other contract costs are the costs to fulfil a contract with a HERKARBITIE, G R
customer which are not capitalised as inventory (see note 1(k) AR - WEEARNMEATFE (RHEE
(i)). 10(30) °

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate M fB1TE R R AR 8137 5 & B sk A
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable REspImEReREEE#A  E
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that EFRFA BN AR RAREHEE MK
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and e &EINR - WwREIRI4LE - BB
are expected to be recovered. Otherwise, costs of fulfilling a KRB - HiETTE RAIK
contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, are expensed RNEXWEERCEATEE) RNE
as incurred. RS o

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated B LA RIBL AR AR R AT 55
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of capitalised KR EEEER - EAR(bA RIBA
contract costs is recognised in profit or loss when the revenue B B PO B R B 72 A A WA B
to which the asset relates is recognised (see note 1(s)(i)). Az (RWEE16)36) °
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180

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 1(s)(i)). A contract liability is also recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such latter cases, a corresponding receivable is also recognised (see

note 1(m)).

(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration and only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note

10)(0).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are

assessed for ECL (see note 1()(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Trade and other payables (other than refund liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.

Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are

stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

(p) Employee benefits

(0]

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined

contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be

estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is

provided.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based
payments granted to employees is measured using recent
transaction price. The amount is generally recognised as an
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which
the related service condition are expected to be met, such that
the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of
awards that meet the related service condition at the vesting
date. The equity amounts are recognised in the share-based
payment reserve until the awarded share is vested (when it is

transferred to the share premium account).
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182

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a

business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in

OCl.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable
on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments
to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of
the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax

also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are

met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial

reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or

loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries to
the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the

reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that

they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

-  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition

of goodwill; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Income tax (continued)

(r)

- those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted
or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation

and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability

of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are

met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow

of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

1

184

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of edible bird's nest products in the ordinary course of the

Group's business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Sales of edible bird’s nest products
The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an agent,
it considers whether it obtains control of the products
before they are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group's ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the

products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of

third parties such as value added tax or other sales taxes.

Sales of the Group's edible bird’'s nest products are

recognised as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR AR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sales of edible bird’s nest products (continued)

0

Direct sales to customers

In direct sales, the Group sells edible bird's nest
products to retail customers through self-operated
online and offline stores.

For retail customers that purchase from
the Group's offline stores, sales revenue is
recognised when customers take possession of
the products and make payment.

For retail customers that purchase from the
Group’s online stores, payment is collected
when customers place purchase orders and sales
revenue is recognised when customers accept

the products upon delivery.

The Group typically offers retail customers a right
of return for a period of 7 days upon customer
acceptance. The Group estimates the constrained
transaction price with all reasonably available
information and updates the variable consideration at
each reporting date.

The Group operates membership programs and
members can earn loyalty points on their purchases
from stores operated by the Group as well as the
Group's distributors. Points are redeemable against
any future purchases of the Group’s products or
other offerings provided by the Group. The Group
allocates a portion of the consideration received from
direct sales and sales to distributors (see (i) below)
as appropriate to loyalty points based on the relative
stand-alone selling prices. The amount allocated to
the membership programs is deferred and recognised
as revenue when loyalty points are redeemed or
expire. Unused loyalty points generally expire in 12 to
15 months after they are granted.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(@)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sales of edible bird’s nest products (continued)
(if) Sales to distributors

The Group sells edible bird’s nest products to

distributors through offline and online channels.

Offline channel distributors make payments for
their purchase orders before product shipment.
Sales revenue is recognised when the products are

delivered to and accepted by distributors at the

locations specified in the purchase orders.

The Group generally does not accept return of
products from offline channel distributors, except

for quality defects or transportation damages in rare

cases.

Group provides sales rebates to distributors who
satisfy relevant requirements specified in the

distribution agreements and the Group's distributor

incentivising policies.

The above sales rebates and the rights of return
(where applicable) to distributors give rise to variable
consideration. The Group uses the most likely amount
approach to estimate variable consideration based
on the Group's current and future performance
expectations and all information that is reasonably
available. This estimated amount is included in the
transaction price to the extent it is highly probable
that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is resolved.
At the time of sale of products to distributors, the
Group recognises revenue after taking into account
adjustment to transaction price arising from sales

rebates and returns which are estimated and updated

at each reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(@)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sales of edible bird’s nest products (continued)
(iii) Sales to e-commerce platform

EESTBR ()

(s) WAREAfbuz (F)

(@)

The Group sells edible bird’s nest products to

e-commerce platforms. Sales of products sold to

e-commerce platforms are recognised when the

products are accepted by the platforms upon delivery

to their designated premises.

Certain e-commerce platform can return

unsold

products to the Group. The Group also provides a

profit protection to certain e-commence platform

such that the monthly overall gross margin generated

by the e-commerce platform from selling the

products is not less than a floor.

The above rights of return and profit protection give

rise to variable consideration. The Group uses the

most likely amount approach to estimate variable

consideration based on the Group’s current and

future performance expectations and all information

that is reasonably available. This estimated amount

is included in the transaction price to the extent

it is highly probable that a significant reversal of

cumulative revenue recognised will not occur

when the uncertainty associated with the variable

consideration is resolved. At the time of

products to e-commerce platforms, the

sale of

Group

recognises revenue after taking into account

adjustment to transaction price arising from

returns

and profit protection which are estimated and

updated at each reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i)

Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

(b)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. The “effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-
impaired). However, for financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is
no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest

income reverts to the gross basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group

will comply with the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are

incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are initially recognised as deferred income and
subsequently recognised in profit or loss on a systematic

basis over the useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective
functional currencies of group companies at the exchange rates at

the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate
at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency

differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related

to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or the Group's parent.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

1

190

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow

subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a

group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the

Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group's most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Notes 12, 22 and 25(e) contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to goodwill impairment, fair value of
share granted and financial instruments. Other significant sources of

estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration included in the
transaction price arising from the sales of edible bird’s nest products
where volume rebates are offered. The Group uses judgement in
estimating the amount of volume rebates based on the customer’s
historical rebate rates, accumulated purchases to date, as well as
estimates of future purchases. Changes in these estimates could
have a significant impact on the amount of revenue recognised in

future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

192

(b) Impairment of goodwill

()

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate

the present value.

Value in use is determined using the discounted cash flow method.
Due to inherent risk associated with estimations in the timing and
magnitude of the future cash flows, the estimated recoverable
amount of the assets may be different from its actual recoverable
amount and the Group's profit or loss could be affected by the
accuracy of the estimations. Changes in facts and circumstances
may result in revisions to the estimates of recoverable amount,

which would affect profit or loss in future years.

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

The credit losses for trade receivables are based on assumptions
about the expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, which are based on the Group's past collection history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions
and inputs used, see note 25(a). Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment and
the Group may be necessary to make additional loss allowances in

future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR AR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 2 = t¥EfBE(Lst (8)
(continued)

(d) Net realisable value of inventories (d) FENAERFE

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price FEMUEREFEAATERKBESD
in the ordinary course of businesses, less estimated costs of B 5T 6 B R (4 5T SE B A AR JR 1T 8
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. %Ffr%ﬁ%lﬁ'\]ﬁﬁﬁi$ o ZEMETIER
These estimates are based on the current market conditions and BRIMAKREEREUMEEERMNBALE
the historical experience of selling products with similar nature. KE o ANEFIRTE(L RFFE
It could change significantly as a result of changes in customer F /R FE BRIk 00 77 35 B B i BRER B9 1T
preferences and competitor actions in response to severe industry @U HAgeedbssa &t THE
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each BMmEHRRENRTEZEMLE -

reporting period.

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WAMDHHRE
(a) Revenue (@) WA
The principal activities of the Group are the development, AEENETEXZBEME  EEMNHE
production and sale of edible bird's nest products. Further details EXBED FHEASEEEXBY
regarding the Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 3(b). HE— DR BRI 3 () EE -
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by sales RHERBEHSWREBRFERMHI
channel is as follows: AT
2023 2022
—EC-=F —F-—
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers within BB IR EERE 155K EER

the scope of IFRS 15 REEEFERMBA
Offline channels BTRE
- Sales to offline distributors — R TEHEEHEE 509,035 477,525
— Direct sales to offline customers —BEEBERGTEFHEE 351,170 314,466
Online channels BRERE
— Direct sales to online customers —BHEERGLERFHEE 824,397 695,265
- Direct sales to E-commerce platforms —EEMERTEHEE 262,886 227,071
— Sales to online distributors — [A4R_EEEPEEE 16,749 15,618

1,964,237 1,729,945
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

(b)

194

Revenue (continued)

The revenue of the Group is mainly generated from sales of edible

bird’s nest products, which is recognised at a point in time.

The Group's customer base is diversified and includes one customer
with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group's
revenues. In 2023 revenues from sales of edible bird’s nest products
to the customer, including sales to entities which are known to the
Group to be under common control with the customer, amounted
to approximately RMB212,051,000 (2022: RMB189,036,000). Details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from this customer are set

out in note 25(a).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a)
of IFRS 15 to its sales contracts for edible bird’s nest products that
had an original expected duration of one year or less and does
not disclose the information related to the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance

obligations.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by sales channel categories. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented the following five reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following

reportable segments

- Direct sales to online customers: this segment engaged in
sales of edible bird’s nest products to retail customers through

online platform.
- Direct sales to offline customers: this segment engaged in sales

of edible bird's nest products to retail customers in brick-and-

mortar stores.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

@i

Sales to offline distributors: this segment engaged in sales of

edible bird's nest products to offline distributors.

Direct sales to E-commerce platforms: this segment engaged

in sales of edible bird’s nest products to online platforms.

Sales to online distributors: this segment engaged in sales of

edible bird's nest products to online distributors.

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group's most
senior executive management monitors the results attributable

to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and direct expenses incurred by those segments respectively.
The measure used for reporting segment result is gross profit
which is calculated based on revenue less cost of sales for
the relevant segment. No inter-segment sales have occurred
during the year. Assistance provided by one segment to
another, including sharing of assets and technical know-how, is

not measured.

The Group’s other operating income and expenses, such
as other net income, selling and distribution expenses,
administrative expenses, research and development expenses,
finance costs, and assets and liabilities are not measured
under individual segments. Accordingly, neither information
on segment assets and liabilities nor information concerning
capital expenditure, other operating income and expenses is

presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBImRIE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

3 WAMSEHKE ()
(b) 7 EBERE (&)

() Segment results (continued) (i) DIEE(E)
Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as HE-Z =k -F-_—F+=
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management A=+—HItFE  BEREER
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of TS BPREMANEEZETTIK
segment performance for the years ended 31 December 2023 ERABRENEAREE T2
and 2022 is set out below. DEHER ST -
2023
—ECCE
Direct sales Direct sales Direct sales to
to online to offline  Sales to offline ~ E-commerce Sales to online
customers customers distributors platforms distributors Total
EEmSLE  EERET I& T b E&E
BFHE EFHE  LHEHE ESHYAHE  CHEHE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  AR%TR  AR%Trn
Revenue WA 824,397 351,170 509,035 262,886 16,749 1,964,237
Gross profit £ 370,891 234,178 250,434 132,386 7,027 994,916
2022
Direct sales Direct sales Direct sales to
to online to offline  Sales to offline E-commerce  Sales to online
customers customers distributors platforms distributors Total
ERRRL  EERET BN E%M M =
EP#E EPHE  EHEHE TETAHEE  LHEEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETTT ARETTL ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Revenue WA 695,265 314,466 477525 227,071 15618 1,729,945
Gross profit ESl 305,495 212193 236975 116920 6,669 878,252
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR AR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss

3 WAMSEHKE ()
(b) 7 &pHE (4&)

(i) T2/ BESHER

2023 2022

—B-=F ===
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Total reportable segment gross profit A 2HH EHLRER 994,916 878,252
Other net income HAbFUA 30,502 27,692
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R SHR S (563,283) (503,879)
Administrative expenses THRREX (159,506) (111,543)
Research and development expenses R (26,384) (24,320)
Finance costs MIEER (2,919) (1,636)
Consolidated profit before taxation fREBRBIRTRE 273,326 264,566

(iii) Geographic information

The Group generated all of its revenue in Chinese Mainland
and its non-current assets are all located in the Chinese
Mainland, and accordingly, no analysis of geographic

information is presented.

(i) HIFEFR

AEBEMBERAEERFEA
- MEEREEEDUNHER
o Bt WEZIMIEE RS

1 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBImRIE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

4 OTHER NET INCOME 4 HMFEWA
2023 2022
—E-=F —FT-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Net fair value changes on financial assets measured at 1R A RBEFT AIBZEH
fair value through profit or loss CRMEEANEEEFH 1,937 1,455
Gain on disposal of investments in a subsidiary PERFRARRE S - 380
Interest income FEWA 3,390 1,950
Government grants (note (i) AT B (BEEEG)) 27,243 24,553
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE&ZED
equipment Wezs /(E518) F5 186 (60)
Foreign exchange loss HNEE [E5 18 (1,668) =
Other expenses HAbpx (586) (586)
30,502 27,692
(i)  Government grants were received or receivable from several local () BFFEED E **?iﬂj‘iﬂz}ﬁ%ﬁ% Ui BY 5%,

government authorities as a recognition of the Group’s contribution

towards the local economic development.

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

JiE WL ER -
I?ef’ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂal%k o

5 BRBIATFIE

A B

R T AT AE T AR R A S B IR ERL

2023 2022

—Eo=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBETTT

(a) Finance costs (a) BIBEH

Interest on bank loans (note 17(d)) RITEFAE (MIFE17(d) —* 15
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(d)) HESFEFE (MsE17d)) 2,919 1,621
2,919 1,636

¥ This amount represents amount less than RMB500.
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR AR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

5 BRBIRIAE (&)

2023 2022
—B-=F ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
(b)Staff costs* (b) EILRE#H*
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEAMET 274,965 255,528
Contributions to defined contribution retirement REHRFRIAKETE
plan HR 13,754 12,160
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses ESEENRNDSIRAX
(note 22) (Ht5E22) 4,816 5,253
293,535 272,941
(c) Other items (c) EftEH
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11) mR AR (M) 653 540
Depreciation charge* (note 10(a)) TEER (M7E100)
- owned property, plant and equipment —BEWE - BERZE 18,770 17,889
— right-of-use assets —fEREEE 21,394 18,413
Impairment loss of trade receivables B W GRIBREEE 625 2,819
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss of H b R GRIE R E B 18
other receivables B (E) 1,361 (779
Auditors’ remuneration ZEMB £
— Audit services — BET IR
KPMG EER SR EBA 2,150 -
Other auditors H b % SR 622 2,675
— Other services* — H AR
KPMG 2R SR EBA 5,050 250
Listing expenses* el 37,323 =
Cost of inventories* (note 15(a)) FERA (M3E15@)) 887,341 771,235
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

# Cost of inventories includes RMB101,778,000 (2022: RMB97,666,000) relating
to staff costs and depreciation, which amount is also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above or note 5(b) for each of

6

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and

200

these types of expenses.

#  Other services include RMB4,378,000 (2022: nil) which is also included in the W HALAR
=S

listing expense disclosed separately above.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 #I&#E
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER B8

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

5 BRBIRIAE (&)

GERABEEETIRARTEEENA
R¥101,778,000L (ZE=Z=F : AR¥
97,666,0007T) * B BB INE 5T A LS

FE50) DRI BB RFE AR -

A ARY4,378,000t (ZE ==
) MREFFALEX S BIEBEN EHRAX

(a) FEEEREMEEKRERFHHEA

other comprehensive income represents: 15
2023 2022
—EBC-=F g
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T ARBT T
Current tax - PRC Corporate Income Tax BEAREIE — REERBH
(“PRC CIT") (THhEIREmMBEH )
Provision for the year FRB A 60,307 78,411
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years LAEEE (BB RHE) BB R (52) 444
60,255 78,855
Deferred tax R IE
Origination and reversal of temporary differences ERMEERNES RED
(note 23(b)) (BEE23(b)) 1,483 (20,167)
61,738 58,688

In accordance with relevant rules and regulations of CIT in Chinese
Mainland, a subsidiary of the Group, Guanghe Yan Palace Biotechnology
Development Co., Ltd. is subject to PRC CIT at a preferential tax rate
of 15% for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. All the other
Chinese Mainland subsidiaries of the Group and the Company are
subject to income tax at 25% for the years ended 31 December 2023

under the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law which was enacted on 16

March 2007.
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6

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income represents: (continued)

(b)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

According to the relevant tax rules in Chinese Mainland, qualified
research and development costs are allowed for bonus deduction for
income tax purpose, as a result, an additional 100% of the qualified
research and development costs could be deemed as deductible

expenses for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR AR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (/X 25 BF#55)

HE—_Z =

YA RHEIR)

meEmkAtEEKERS
HYFREBL (4&)

(a) FERBERAMBEIKRERPHBIE
5 (&)
REFEANBEBRLRE -
AU BIERMSH B R p0EHER

=FR_FE__FF+-H=T

—RBIEFE - ARHTEKAEEIN00% ]

BIEATENRAY ©

BARFT K
ESYLia

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit (b) HIEM X ERBERARETENE TR
at applicable tax rates: R ¢
2023 2022
—E_=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR¥EFTT
Profit before taxation R 75 BT A1) 273,326 264,566
Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at BIEAIAER B A EE &R
the applicable rates in the jurisdictions concerned BRABERTENERNIEA 68,332 66,142
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR A ISR 2 4,274 3,010
Tax effect of additional deduction for qualified & & 2% R S B0 BB SN R O
research and development expenses M2 (4,584) (4,750)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses R SRR TERTIIRE R (159) (130)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised RERARBHNFIBEEN
BT E 79 61
Statutory tax concession EEBWER (6,152) (6,089)
(Over)/under-provision in prior years LAEFE GBERE) BETR (52) 444
Actual tax expense ERIER 61,738 58,688
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (b X Z# S B ET#E5) » XN R EZITR)

7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EEREEMNE

Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments during the years ended 31 BE-_Z-_=Fk-_T-__F+=-RF=+
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: —HAIFEMNEERESHEHT
2023
ZBC=F
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Retirement share-based
Directors'  and benefits Discretionary scheme payments
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total (note) Total
i NEREE
RER BANGE WRBAF
Ezhe EWRE  RRERA % Nt (Wt) @t

RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR ARRTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETx

Chairman and executive ESRRUMES

director
Mr. Huang Jian BREE - 1,634 1,269 39 2,942 2 2,944
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Zheng Wenbin RRAE = 737 272 39 1,048 = 1,048
Mr. Li Youguan THERRAE - 2,589 1,269 39 3,897 - 3,897
Ms. Huang Danyan BETT - 293 983 - 1,276 249 1,525
Non-executive directors FHUTES
Mr. Liu Zhen ABkkE - 300 - - 300 - 300
Mr. Wang Yalong FoERAE - 300 - - 300 - 300
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE

directors
Mr. Xiao Wei HELE 120 - - - 120 - 120
Mr. Chen Aihua REERE 120 - - - 120 - 120
Mr. Zeng Hongliang (resigned ~ BAIRAEE(R=E==%

on 25 May 2023) AAZTRARE) 48 - - - 48 - 48
Mr. Lam Yiu Por (appointed on~~ MEER KL (R-T-=%

20 November 2023) +—A-TREZEA) 26 - - - 26 - 26
Supervisors Bz
Mr. Zheng Feng Bt - 200 - - 200 - 200
Ms. Wei Wei Bt - 184 499 39 722 176 898
Ms. Zhang Ning REQL - 230 236 16 482 103 585

314 6,467 4,528 172 11,481 530 12,011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR EREME
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (b X #& S BET#ES) + HIUAN R EZTR)
7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EEREEME (&)
(continued)
2022
-
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Equity-settled
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme share-based
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total  payments (note) Total
T INERER
EHR RINETE R
BEHS - pilk BfE A is s Gt (MzE) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT AR%ETR
Chairman and executive EERRUNES

director
Mr. Huang Jian BREE = 1621 1143 37 2,801 2 2803
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Zheng Wenbin RS = 659 257 37 953 - 953
Mr. Li Youguan THRGAE - 2386 1143 37 3566 - 3566
Ms. Huang Danyan =0os LG = 462 77 - 1179 2 1451
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liu Zhen fEtk - 300 - - 300 - 300
Mr. Wang Yalong B e = 300 = = 300 - 300
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors
Mr. Xiao Wei HEEA 120 = = = 120 = 120
Mr. Chen Aihua REZR4 120 = - - 120 = 120
Mr. Zeng Hongliang LASEE 120 - - - 120 - 120
Supervisors 3
Mr. Fu Yu (resigned on 22 TREE(MRZZ=Z%

September 2022) NAZ+ZBEE) = 440 - 7 467 - 467
Mr. Zheng Feng b5 = 100 = = 100 = 100
Ms. Wei Wei Bt = 274 381 18 673 192 865
Ms. Zhang Ning (appointedon ~ REZ L (R=F==

26 September 2022) NAZTAAEER) = 202 276 16 494 12 606

360 6,744 3917 172 11,193 578 1,77
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

204

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

Note:

These represent the estimated value of restricted shares granted to the directors
and supervisors under the Group's share award scheme. The value of these share
awards is measured according to the Group's accounting policies for share-based
payment transactions as set out in note 1(p)(ii) and, in accordance with that
policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where
grants of equity instruments are forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of
shares granted, are disclosed under the paragraph “Employee incentive scheme”
in the directors’ report and note 22.

During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Group to the directors
or supervisors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which a director
or supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2022: two) are

directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of

7

EEREEME (&)

GEE

FEIRBEAREA RN EBE - AR TESER
EENZRHRMEE - ZFEROZBHOEER
SR EE 1 (p) (i) PR AR SR B B IR0 1 R B & 5T
BEAE  ARBAERR  ZLEREARR
MECER I EETAMNEBEFEELNREDS
P o

ZEEMMENHE (RS REROMERE
REBB)REFRE REMBE ] — B
22 -

RER  AEBRECSIHENESREEK
B EAEBREMARKESESMAREE
BRI (E - NFR - BEELESHE
FISZAE A B R S R B R H IR 2 5 -

REMEAL

IEREMEALTMB(CZE_—F K
F)ANLTREE  EMMERME7HRE - 5

the emoluments in respect of the other three (2022: three) individuals =B (ZBZ_F : =F) ATHHEH&
are as follows: BEHYMAT :

2023 2022
—E-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBFT
Salaries and other emoluments e kEMmME 1,712 1,512
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 4,678 3,487
Equity-settled share-based payments LA =S EMRM IR 747 816
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRGETEIH R 114 109
7,251 5,924
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8 EaMEAL(E)
(continued)
The emoluments of the three (2022: three) individuals with the highest Mesa=8(ZF=__F: =%) AT
emoluments are within the following bands: RSN KA T EE :
2023 2022
—EC=HF —EF=-=
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T —2,000,000/8 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T — 2,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T —3,000,00058 7T 1 =
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T — 3,500,00078 70 1 -
9 EARNINGS PER SHARE 9 BRER

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB197,485,000 (2022: RMB188,207,000) and the weighted average
of 427,178,000 ordinary shares (2022: 425,290,000 shares after
adjusting for the share subdivision in 2023 as disclosed in note 24(c)
(“Share Subdivision")) in issue during the year. The profit attributable
to unvested ordinary shares held for employee incentive scheme
with employees (see note 22) and the number of such shares have
been excluded from the calculation of basic earnings per share for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(a) BREAXRF

BREARBRNDZRARNR L BERR
REEFIEARK 197,485,000 (=&
ZZF : AR¥188,207,0007T) RFERA
BB 1THI427,178,000 B% & A% INAEF 5
H(ZEZZF : W24 EEN=
T =FRHOIFABIAEIEEI425,290,000
iR (TARA R4 1)) 5t E - BEEE
AV BE B HEE B (RIsE22) 58
BN 5 B AR R DR R Z FE RS
NHEE R ABRE T -_=FF_F
TZFTZA=T-—HLEFEERE
RAFBFE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X & S B HTHES) + HIAN R #ESIIR)

9

206

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 9 BREFN (&)
(a) Basic earnings per share (continued) (@) BREARER (&)
(i) Profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the (i) FTATEEERRFEEGFE
Company
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARETTT
Profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity N2 &) i e AR R E(L
shareholders of the Company FAFE 201,218 191,840
Allocation of profit for the year attributable to  Ft1E B EBI st 23 A &Y
unvested shares held for employee incentive 757 B A7 FE (5 F A K E
scheme (note 22) Sie (fEE22) (3,733) (3633)
Profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity AN &) S AR R FE(L
shareholders of the Company FRFHE 197,485 188,207
(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (i) HBERNEFEH
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —F-—
‘000 ‘000
+ T
Ordinary shares in issue at 1 January R—A—BE#ETHLAER 86,700 86,700
Effect of unvested shares held for employee BIEEREEEFEN
incentive scheme (note 22) REBRHOBHZE (FFE22) (8,075) (1,642)
Effect of share subdivision (note 24(c)) MR T 4B 72 2 (Bd3E24(0)) 346,800 340,232
Effect of shares issued by initial public BRARABEBRITRONTE
offering (note 24(c)) (FzE24(c)) 1,753 =
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ A=+—HrE@ER
shares at 31 December hnFE 52 427,178 425,290
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e MERRME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

9 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Diluted earnings per share

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there are no dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and therefore, the amounts of diluted
earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share for the

year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the effects of unvested
ordinary shares held for employee incentive scheme with
employees were not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
The Company did not have other potential ordinary shares and
therefore the amounts of diluted earnings per share were the same

as basic earnings per share for the year.

9 BRER (H)
(b) SREFRF

HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HItHF
B UTEABFENINTAR B
- FRASRESAEFNNSEEGR
EARRF R REMER o

HE-_ZE_—_F+-_A=+—HLHF
B BEESFTZAEEZB 8
ENARGEBLTAROTZETTATR
BERMNNGE  RAAKEFGFA®
EAREBELE - NQAWEEME
THER Bl FREREERT
WS EAGRERRT N SREER -
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

208

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

10 ¥13% - BERRE

(a) FREMEMNHER

Ownership
interests in Other
leasehold  properties Office
buildings held ~ leased for and other Leasehold  Construction
for own use ownuse Motor vehicles ~ Machinery  equipment improvement in progress Total
KRR it
HEETH KEERAD HAR BE
figEs  HENE AE B HtRE nx&g  RRIE Eh
RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT ARBTT  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
Cost: ﬁﬂi ;
At 1 January 2022 R=ZZZ&-f-R 16815 523171 5280 37,206 6,443 18,700 1292 138,113
Additions AE = 17,117 282 5308 2,990 9718 1,040 37,055
Transfer from construction EEERRTHE
in progress - - - 1402 - - (1,402) -
Disposals HE = (17,658) (80) (887) (376) (5367) = (24369)
At31 December 2022 RZBZZ&+ZA=1-H
and 1 January 2023 “§-=%-H-H 16815 52436 5482 43029 9,057 23,051 930 150,800
Additions AE = 136,391 82 6,286 2444 3420 1442 150,005
Transfer from construction~~ EEAERTRE
in progress - - 930 - = (930)
Disposals HE - (24,759) - - - - - (247%9)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=£+ZA=1-H 16,815 164,068 5,564 50,245 11,501 26,471 1,442 276,106
Accumulated depreciation: §E‘Hﬁ E:
At 1 January 2022 s Rl (2890) (18340) 2912) (13.265) (3229 (5543) = (46,179)
Charge for the year EREL (799 (18413) (1142 (5,508) (1543) (8897) - (36302
Written back on disposals i3 - 12906 16 817 357 5,367 - 19463
At 31 December 2022 AT ZE+ZA=1-H
and 1 January 2023 k=2-=%-H-R (3689) (23847) (4038) (17.956) (4419 9073) - (63,018)
Charge for the year EREL (799 (21394) (501) (6118) (2550) (8802) - (40164)
Written back on disposals i - 17,048 - - - - - 17,048
At31 December 2023 NB=F12A=1-B (4488)  (28193) (4539) (24074 (6%65)  (17875) - (86134)
Net book value: A
At 31 December 2023 i Sty g oy 12,327 135,875 1,025 26,171 4,536 8,59 1,442 189,972
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZF+ZA=1-A 13126 28589 1444 25073 4642 13978 930 87,782
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 10 Y% - BEKRRME (&)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EREEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of REBAEERNDENERAEEEYN
underlying asset is as follows: SREFELINET :
2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Included in "Property, plant and equipment”: (W% BE k&M B
Ownership interests in leasehold buildings held — #H{EE AMEEEFH
for own use, carried at depreciated cost in Btz - ERER
the PRC, with remaining lease term of: EKAZER - FepfiEs
— between 20 to 38 years - 205 E38%F 12,327 13,126

Other properties leased for own use, carried at Hih#eg BEEDE -

depreciated cost BT ER AT R 135,875 28,589
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in RIEEERNEERBASIBEE 2
profit or loss is as follows: W

2023 2022
—E-=HF —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMET T ARBET T

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by RIEEEERN D B AR

class of underlying asset: BENEER -
Properties leased for own use HIEERAMBEEDS 21,394 18,413
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) HESENE (f3E50) 2,919 1,621
Expense relating to short-term leases R E/ABRER 10,006 7,783
Variable lease payments not included in the RMAHEBETEH

measurement of lease liabilities AIEHEMNR 25 45
COVID-19-related rent concessions received FriEELCOVID-19 48R & Rl - (473)
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
RMB136,391,000 (2022: RMB17,717,000). This amount primarily

related to the capitalised lease payments payable under new

tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of

lease liabilities are set out in notes 17(e) and 20 respectively.

The Group applied the practical expedient in paragraph 46A of IFRS

16 to all eligible rent concessions received by the Group in 2022.

Further details are disclosed in (ii) below.

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for

own use

The Group holds several commercial buildings as
administrative offices. The Group is the registered owner
of these property interests, including the whole or part of
undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests from
their previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing

payments to be made under the terms of the land lease.

(ii) Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as
its retail stores, manufacturing facilities and administrative
offices through tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 1 to 10 years. Lease payments are
usually increased every 1 year to reflect market rentals. None
of properties leased for own used include an option to renew

the lease for an additional period after the end of the contract

term.
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 10 Y% - BERZRE (E)
(b) FHEEE (&)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)
(ii) Other properties leased for own use (continued)

The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain
variable lease payment terms that are based on sales generated
from the retail stores and minimum annual lease payment
terms that are fixed. These payment terms are common in retail
stores in Chinese Mainland where the Group operates. In 2022,
the Group received rent concessions in the form of a discount
on fixed payments as a result of severe social distancing and
travel restriction measures introduced to contain the spread of
COVID-19. The amount of fixed and variable lease payments for

the years is summarised below:

(i)

HitFsEE RBE &M (8)

AEEHESHTEE  HPEE
ERTEEEENHERENTEHA
ENRERREEREFEHEN
FRIER o ZF I RIERPA AR E B K
EOHBEAMTEERRER - B
—E—F - FHHEICOVID-1918
o T SREER B A A BE B M 7T PR
e - A B AR E AR IER
EBEESESR SFEMNEERA
SHENFSERRET

2023
—EC-=F

COVID-19
Fixed Variable rent Total
payments  payments concessions  payments

COVID-19

HEES
B ER ™ EIE-I0EA B NEEE-C]
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®TR AR®TRT
Retail stores ZEE 9,053 25 = 9,078

Manufacturing facilities and EERER

administrative offices THEHAE 11,896 = = 11,896
20,949 25 - 20,974
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 10
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(ii) Other properties leased for own use (continued)

W - BB K& (E)
(b) EAEEE (&)
(i) HEttFEEANEEME ()

2022
—F-—

COVID-19
Fixed Variable rent Total
payments payments  concessions payments

COVID-19

HEAE S
EERR  AIENK e SREE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TT
Retail stores ZEE 9,615 45 (473) 9,187

Manufacturing facilities and FERERITHREAE

administrative offices 10,853 = = 10,853
20,468 45 (473) 20,040

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that an increase in sales
generated from these retail stores by 5% would have increased
the lease payments by RMB1,000 (2022: RMB14,000).
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11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1M EBREE
Patent rights Software Total
R we @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT ARETE

Cost: R
At 1 January 2022 RZZE-_—_F—H—H 619 1,432 2,051
Additions NE 100 842 942

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZEZZF+-A=+—HK

—E-=%#—H—H 719 2,274 2,993
Additions NE = 658 658
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 719 2,932 3,651
Accumulated amortisation: REt#e -
At 1 January 2022 R—_ZFE-_—_F—H—H (254) (924) (1,178)
Charge for the year FAZH (30) (510) (540)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-Z-—F+-A=+—HBK

—E-=%—H—H (284) (1,434) (1,718)

Charge for the year FAZH (32) (621) (653)

At 31 December 2023 R-ZE_=F+-HA=+—H (316) (2,055) (2,371)

Net book value: BREFE ¢

At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=%+_H=+—H 403 877 1,280

At 31 December 2022 R-ZT-—F+—-H=+—H 435 840 1,275
The amortisation charge for the year is included in administrative FRANBEHERT AGEERREMEE
expenses and research and development expenses in the consolidated W RITHRASE RS -

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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12

214

GOODWILL 12 ig&8
RMB’000
AR®T T
Cost: AR
R-ZT-_—F—H—H"
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and —T-—H#+-_A=+—A8kK
31 December 2023 “E=f+_H=+—H 75,165
Accumulated impairment losses: ZFRERSSA :
R=—F-_—_F—A—8"
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and —E-F+ZA=+—AHK
31 December 2023 —EZ=F+ZR=+—H =
Carrying amount: BRIEIE :
W=F——F—H—H"
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and —ET-—HF+—-_A=+—H8kF
31 December 2023 :%::¢+:HE+—E 75,165
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing EEHENRSEEENNRERR
goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs)

identified according to city of operation and operating segment as

follows:

RIBELSHTIELNBOEEAEED
;&EJE@E@FE%WE@%%QDT

2023 2022
—E-=F —=F-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Beijing Tianfeiyan Trading Co., Ltd. IERAREEEBREEAR]
("Beijing Tianfeiyan”) - offline retail ([ERARIE]) — R TEE 31,609 31,609
Harbin Jinyanhui Trading Co., Ltd. BRREMeRENEBRETAR]
(“Harbin Jinyanhui’) - offline retail (TE@EeReE ) - BT ZTE 17,301 17,301
Changchun Jinyanhui Trading Co.,, Ltd. REMeREREBRAEAT
(“Changchun Jinyanhui”) - offline retail ([RESHE])-BRTTE 15,245 15,245
Taiyuan Jixiangyan Trading Co., Ltd. AR EHHEEEERAT
(“Taiyuan Jixiangyan") - offline retail ([RREHHK]) - BTEE 11,010 11,010
75,165 75,165
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12 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Beijing Tianfeiyan - offline retail

The recoverable amount of the CGU - Beijing Tianfeiyan is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in

estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

12 B8 ()

BEHENRSELBUNRENR
(%)

ERRRHK - RTEE

ReEEEM - ARARENAT RO SE
DIRBEREEFEMEE - AEEE X
BB EEGLEMBIGHE - ZEZHHERE
REREEEHENRERFHRUBEE
MRS METER - ARG AT DS
TERRWT

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F

Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year
forecast period

Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond
the five-year period

Pre-tax discount rate TiATBLIR R

FEBERAHARAFIERER

BB R F NG T ERE

3% 3%
2% 2%
12.97% 14.58%

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Beijing Tianfeiyan as at 31 December
2023 is RMB27,081,000 (2022: RMB3,749,000).

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have
removed the remaining headroom respectively as at 31 December 2022
and 2023:

RZBE-_=ZF+=_A=+—H ' ERAJK
El&BNBRBESELEEMN — IERARED
BREENFEAARE27,081,000T (ZF
ZZF : AR¥3,749,0007T) °

ERECHBENRENAETHRES
o TREJN-B-__FR-ZB-=F
TZA=1+—B2RIAEFEERFERFE
g R R N B AT AR IR R RR B
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12 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Beijing Tianfeiyan - offline retail (continued)

12 & (&)

BEHENRSELBUNRENR

(%)

ERRRH - RTE2E (H)

2023
—EBC-=HF

2022

=

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue during five-year forecast period

TEFERHARAFIE R R TR

Decrease in estimated weighted average growth rate beyond
the five-year period

BB T B DT R % R

Increase in pre-tax discount rate

AR R X L7t

5.2 percentage
points

52185 2

9.5 percentage
points

9.5 H 2 2

4.8 percentage
points

48EE D

0.9 percentage
points
0.91E & 72 %4

1.1 percentage
points
LEE 2

0.7 percentage
points
0.71E B> E

RHESKRE - 8T FE

ReELEU -HAEEHENTRES
BMOURBEREEFEMNEE - A&EED
ZRBUEXMGEMBFE - ZFFHE
EREREEEBHENRERFHRMBEE
ERRSRERR - AR NS5

Harbin Jinyanhui - offline retail

The recoverable amount of the CGU - Harbin Jinyanhui is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by

management covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in

estimating the recoverable amount are as follows: MERRRMOT
2023 2022
—EB-=F —F=-=
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year AFTER SRR AFIERE
forecast period 4% - 5% 4% — 5%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond B R FER (AT I g R K
the five-year period 2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate THATALIR = 12.97% 14.58%
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12 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Harbin Jinyanhui - offline retail (continued)

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Harbin Jinyanhui as at 31 December
2023 is RMB14,906,000 (2022: RMB4,265,000).

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have
removed the remaining headroom respectively as at 31 December 2022
and 2023:

12 & (&)

BEHENRSELBUNRENR
(%)

KEEESHRE - K TTE (@

RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—8 ERAIK
ElEENBECELSBN - BWRESHKE
REREERNFEAR AR 14,906,000 (=
T F : AR¥4,2650007T) °

ERECHEENRBEAANETHRED
o TREIN_ZB__FRZZF_=F
+ZA=+—BARITEEER RS FE
B R R MR AT AR IR R A R

2023
—E—-=

2022

— e

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue during five-year forecast period

FE AR R R T

Decrease in estimated weighted average growth rate beyond

the five-year period

B0 F AR PR R TR

Increase in pre-tax discount rate

AT K L7t

6.6 percentage
points

6.6EE D

9.3 percentage
points

938 E 2 &

4.5 percentage
points

45BEE D

2.4 percentage
points

2AMEBESE

2.3 percentage
points

231EBE 2 #

1.5 percentage
points

I EERE

Changchun Jinyanhui - offline retail

RESHRE -KRTEE

The recoverable amount of the CGU - Changchun Jinyanhui is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an
independent professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. The key

assumptions used in estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

ReELEV - RESHENIKOSHE
TIRBEREEFEMNEE - AEEE X
BB EEGLEMBIGHE - ZEHHERE
REREEEHENRERFHRUBEE
MRS METER - ARMAF AT TS
FERRWT
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12

218

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Changchun Jinyanhui - offline retail (continued)

12 & (&)

BEHENRSELBUNRENR
(%)

RESHRE -8T2E(H)

2023 2022
—E-=HF -
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year FETRRIEARR A FE R &
forecast period 3% - 4% 3% - 4%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond HBiE A F AR AR INRE g R
the five-year period 2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate HiATALIE = 12.97% 14.58%

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Changchun Jinyanhui as at 31
December 2023 is RMB5,772,000 (2022: RMB3,902,000).

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have
removed the remaining headroom respectively as at 31 December 2022
and 2023:

R-ZZE-_=F+-A=+—8  ERALK
BISENMRECELEN - RESHKED
REENFEAARKS 772,000 (ZE =
—F : AR¥3,902,0007T) °

ERECHEENREIRETHRED
Mo TRBIWRZZZEZZFRZE_=F
+ZA=+—BAH R EBHGRESRFE
Fy3E R R MR ATAR IR R R E) -

2023
—E-=

2022

=

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue during five-year forecast period

TEFERHARAFIERETIE

Decrease in estimated weighted average growth rate beyond

the five-year period

B I F NG T ERE TR

2.8 percentage
points

28fEE &
3.6 percentage
points

3.61HE 22

1.9 percentage

2.5 percentage
points
2518 B D

2.5 percentage
points

251E B2 E

1.6 percentage

Increase in pre-tax discount rate points points
FATALIR & 1.9 E D% 1.61EE 5 3
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12 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Taiyuan Jixiangyan - offline retail

The recoverable amount of the CGU - Taiyuan Jixiangyan is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in

estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

12 & (&)

BEHENRSELBUNRENR
(%)

AREHRK -RTEE

ReELEN - ARGHHNATLESE
DIRBEREEFEMEE - AEEE X
BB EEGLEMBIGHE - ZEZHHERE
REREEEHENRERFHRUBEE
MRS METER - ARG AT DS
TERRWT

2023 2022
—=Z=-= %
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year A FFE R EAR U A FIE K &
forecast period 2% 2%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond HBB T GBI (AT I T R K
the five-year period 2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate TRATREER & 12.97% 14.58%

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Taiyuan Jixiangyan as at 31 December
2023 is RMB21,219,000 (2022: RMB7,464,000).

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have
removed the remaining headroom respectively as at 31 December 2022
and 2023:

R-ZB-=F+-A=+—8 ' ERFkK
EleBEINRECEELSN — KREHRELN
REERNFEAARK21,219000T (=%
ZZF : AR¥7,464,0007T) °

ERECHEENRBEARNETHRED
e TRBINRZZBZZ_FRZZF-_=F
TZA=+—Ho R BEEREFE
038 R 2 % Y AT AL IR 3K ) R AR
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12 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Taiyuan Jixiangyan - offline retail (continued)

12 & (&)

BEHENRSELBUNRENR

(%)

ARERE - K TZ2E(H)

2023
—EBC-=HF

2022

=

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue during five-year forecast period

TEFERHARAFIE R R TR

Decrease in estimated weighted average growth rate beyond
the five-year period

BB T B DT R % R

Increase in pre-tax discount rate

AT R X L7t

7.6 percentage
points

7.618H 2 2

32.9 percentage
points

329BE D%

10.0 percentage
points

10.0f8 B 7 2

3.7 percentage
points

378 B D E

7.3 percentage
points

73EE D

4.1 percentage
points

4B B D E

Management adopted Weighted Average Cost of Capital ("WACC")
model to calculate the discount rate of the CGUs. Since all CGUs are
engaged in sales of the same products in Chinese Mainland, parameters
adopted in WACC model, such as beta extracted from comparable
companies, risk free rate, cost of debt and tax rate, are the same for all
CGUs. Further, given that all CGUs are substantially similar in business
model in Chinese Mainland, operation scale, stage of development,
core competitiveness and financing costs during the year, management
apply consistent CGU-specific risk premium to all CGUs, which results in

the same pre-tax discount rate for all CGUs during the year.

No impairment loss of goodwill was recognised during the year. A
reasonably possible adverse change in the assumptions used in the

calculation of recoverable amount would not result in impairment losses.
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13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class

of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Place of Particulars of

incorporation and issued and

Name of Company business paid-up capital
BEAR

NEER AMMIREFLE HREARE

13 HFRANKRE

TREHETIEFEAKERE BEL
BENTRARNEE - REAERIN - 7F
BB B ER 5 B R o

Proportion of ownership interest

BERRELA
Group's
effective Held by the Heldbya  Principal
interest Company subsidiary  activities
AEEH

BRERE HAREARE HILARE IRED

Xiamen Yan Palace Si Nong Food Co, Ltd. (B Chinese Mainland RMB21,260,000
R EHRRRMBRATF)) (hotes () and (i)

EFmEEHERMARAR (M) RGi) RE R ARE
21,260,0007T
Xiamen Yan Palace Electronic Commerce Technology ~ Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000

Co, Lid. (BFI 2 EEFRBRRARAT

(notes (i) and (ii))

100% 100% - Research,
development and
production of
edible bird's nest
products

100% 100% - RBEROWER
FE

100% 100% - Online retail
business of edible

bird's nest products

EFEEETHBREBRAR (HEORM)  PEAM AR¥E 100% 100% - HBEMORLT
10,000,000 EXH
Notes: B5E -
(i) The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English translation is for () ZEENEHBEAPX - WXGEXEMHH

identification purpose only.

(i) These entities are domestic enterprise established in Chinese Mainland and
registered as a limited liability company.

=0

) o

(i) ZEERBRTEANMKZAZMRABERA
AMEARE -
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14 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other non-current assets mainly represent prepayments for purchases of

property, plant and equipment.

14 HittERBEE

HERBEETRRHBENE  BER
RIBOFANTKIA ©

15 INVENTORIES 15 &

2023 2022

—EZZ=HF —T——
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Raw materials R 206,517 125,926
Work in progress R 48,735 36,467
Finished goods X & 75,439 81,504
Goods in transit TEEm 13,787 13,295
Packaging 2k 15,790 14,370
Right to recover returned goods I [a1:R & H#EF 94 233
360,362 271,795

(a) BARMIALFABENTFES

(@) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as

an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: BEoMmmT :

2023 2022

—EBC-=F —F-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARKETTT
Carrying amount of inventories sold EELFERNREE 876,671 761,495

Carrying amount of inventories recognised as REMEFAZNFEREE

research and development expenses 8,105 7,860
Write-down of inventories FEMA 2,565 1,880
887,341 771,235
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 16 EZEWRE - HiuEWFIE

PREPAYMENTS RIEARIE
(@) Trade and other receivables (a) EZREMEKRFE
2023 2022
—E_=F — ===
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance Z 5 EUGRIE (MR BB EE)

— third parties =H8=% 83,298 62,834

Deposits i 13,735 9,282

Amounts due from related parties (note 27(c)) JrE Y BB 5 3R (M EE27(c)) 1,800 1,900

VAT recoverable AT E R (E 19,603 13,956

Other receivables H At EU FRIE 1,861 1,487
120,297 89,459

As at 31 December 2023, deposits of RMB10,660,000 (2022:
RMBS5,769,000) of the Group were expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense after more than one year. All of the other
trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or

recognised as expense within one year.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
receivable (which are included in trade and other receivables),

based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

RZBEZ=F+-A=+—8 " &%
EE %S ARY10,660,0007T (=
——F  AR%5,769,0007T) A —4F
A EREIsS R AR - BEMAE
fth B 55 % L fth JIE WSORR TE S R — G I IR
Bl ER RS o

ARER 2 AT

BEHSHR  BHREFRGIAR
2 READ FE WA ) 1R E R A IR &

BREENRRITET
2023 2022
—Eo=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Current (not past due) BIER (R HA) 83,298 62,643
Less than 3 months past due BHATRE=EA - 191
83,298 62,834
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 16 EZEWRE - HiuEWFIE

PREPAYMENTS (continued) REMAKE (&)

(a) Trade and other receivables (continued) (a) ESRHMEWKRIE (&)
Ageing analysis (continued) BRER D (&)
Trade debtors are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing. BORKEFEREZHBE30E0XR
Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising WEE - EEAREEEERRRE S
from trade debtors are set out in note 25(a). EWERERMELEERRNE —FF

BHRMHFE25@) °

(b) Prepayments (b) FANIE
2023 2022
—E—-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARETE

Prepayments for: AT B IR TR FUA ¢

— advertising expenses — EERAY 101,554 42,279
— purchase of raw materials —BERME 6,476 3,909
— others — Hfth 10,138 8,467

118,168 54,655

17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 17 RERBRELEEBEYREMES

CASH FLOW INFORMATION REER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: () RERBEEEBEYERE .
2023 2022
—E = =
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®BTE

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERS 531,032 338,398
Cash balances with payment platforms S FamRe &R 6,061 12,420
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEEY 537,093 350,818
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17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (continued)

Cash balances with payment platforms represents cash balances
kept with third party payment platforms, which can be withdrawn

on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents situated
in Chinese Mainland amounted to RMB277,225,000 (2022:
RMB350,818,000). Remittance of funds out of Chinese Mainland
is subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange

control.

Restricted bank deposits

Restricted bank deposits mainly represent deposits placed with
a bank in a designated account in relation to guarantee for the

customs duties.

17 RERBEEEYREMERS
REER (E)

(a)

(b)

RERREEENEE  (8)

XN FENRASERETRNRE=T
XA FERIREHEER - ATRERIZER ©

RZTBEZ=F+_A=+—80 U
FRANMHBESRRESEEDNAAR
#277,225000C (ZE-—4F : ARME
350,818,0007T) © & &I P B A b
BB STINEE BIEERE RER -

ZIRFBIRITER

XBRHRITEREREFARITEE
BRP A AR BB R PERE AR o
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17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash

226

17 BERBEEEYREMES
REER (HF)
() BRBAIA HELEFRBEHEESNYG

generated from operations: R :
2023 2022
—E=F —E-
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B = ARBTT ARBEFT
Profit before taxation BR B AT AE 273,326 264,566
Adjustments for: BT SIBELAZE
Depreciation e 5(c) 40,164 36,302
Amortisation of intangible assets mRAERE 5(c) 653 540
Finance costs BM%ER 5(a) 2,919 1,636
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BEREEN
plant and equipment (Yzs) K18 4 (186) 60
Gain on financial assets measured BARBER ABEL
at fair value through profit or loss CRVEE R 4 (1,937) (1,455)
Gain on disposal of investment in HERFRA R E MRS
a subsidiary 4 - (380)
Equity-settled share-based ARz S E M IR TR 2
payment expenses 5(b) 4,816 5,253
Impairment loss on trade receivables Z 5 EWGRIE R EE 18 5(0) 625 2,819
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment H B GRIEREEE
loss on other receivables et (R 5(c) 1,361 (779)
Foreign exchange loss SNE B8 4 1,668 =
COVID-19-related rent concessions FrEEECOVID- 1948 A&
received R 10(b) - (473)
Changes in working capital: LBELEE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories & (gm,/wd (88,567) 7,947
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 MEWGRIE - K FEYGRIE
receivables and prepayments NIBfEE (8m), wd (97,003) 3,693
(Increase)/decrease in restricted SR HIRITER (3 0),
bank deposits Ve (6,474) 400
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 I E At JE < FRIEE AN 26,947 32,191
Increase in contract liabilities aRAEEM 48,853 36,254
Increase in other current liabilities H At 7R ) & &I N 5,107 5377
Cash generated from operations BEMBFRE 212,272 393,951
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17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from

17 BERRSLEYRAEMRE
REER ()

MEEHELNEEHR

TRAMLAEBERELDEENERE
28 SREASKFRSEDY - BE
ABELANABREARERED LR
AEBREREFEAEENGARS
MERTOBRBETBELNR S

financing activities.

mMEMNARE -

Amount
due to non-
Lease controlling
Bank loans liabilities interests Total
B FERR
RITER HEaE BEHE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETx
(Note 20) (Note 18)
(KzE20) (KzE18)
At 1 January 2023 R=%-=%-F-H - 26,921 7,200 34,121
Changes from financing cash flows: HERERERY
Proceeds from new bank loans HBROERABIE 18 - - 18
Repayment of bank loans ERBTER (18) - - (18)
Capital element of lease rentals paid EREENELTS - (17,082) - (17,082)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERESHFETS - (2,919) - (2,919)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries AR REERERRARE - - (7,928) (7,928)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERESMELYER - (20,001) (7,928) (27,929)
Other changes: HitgE
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases ERIAHEEANTEEAR
during the year i - 135,486 - 135,486
Early termination of lease liabilities REZIAERE = (7,647) = (7,647)
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) SRS = 2,919 - 2,919
Dividends to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries \F AR ERR RS - - 728 728
Total other changes Hin@e)es - 130,758 728 131,486
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=§+=A=1-8 - 137,678 - 137,678

*

This amount represents amount less than RMB500.
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17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

228

activities (continued)

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

17 RERBEEEYREMERS

REEFR (&)

(d) REEBELENSEHR(E)

Amount
due to non-
Lease controlling
Bank loans liabilities interests Total
AREZE
RITER RERR R @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARET:
(Note 20) (Note 18)
(ME20) (M18)
At 1 January 2022 R=Z==%-A-A - 32,691 - 32,691
Changes from financing cash flows: RERORERY
Proceeds from new bank loans MBTERAERE 12,183 = = 12,183
Repayment of bank loans BERTEN (12,183) - - (12,183)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BEREEMEATS = (16,838) - (16,838)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEREENFEHS - (1,621) = (1621)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid ERFIEREMETER (15) = = (15)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries AT RARFEERERR MRS - = (4,058) (4,058)
Total changes from financing cash flows BEREMELYER (15 (18459) (4,058) (22532)
Other changes: Hft#e
Increase in lease liabilties from entering into new leases FRIAHEEENESAR
during the year £ = 6,255 = 6,255
Early termination of lease liabilities RAKIERESE = (4714) = (4714)
COVID-19-elated rent concessions received (note 10(b)) FEECOVD-19RBMAS RS
(P& 10(0) = (473) = (473)
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) FERZ () 15 1,621 - 1636
Dividends to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries AFRRFERRERENR - - 11,58 11,258
Total other changes Eft 2 e 15 12,689 11,258 23,962
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZ#+-A=+-H - 26921 7,00 34,121
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17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 17 BERBEEEYREMES

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) nEEHR (&)
(e) Total cash outflow for leases (e) HEAB SR H
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise AAHERESRERNESBEREBEUT
the following, which are related to lease rentals paid: FI18 - S REENHESEA
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®BTE

Within operating cash flows REERESREN 10,031 7,828

Within financing cash flows REEREREN 20,001 18,459

30,032 26,287

=h
18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18 H 5 R HEABTIR
2023 2022
—EB-=HF -

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBT T

Trade payables 2 SN RIE 62,525 64,087

Receipts in advance TEURIE 31,981 22,035

Salary and welfare payables EfFH e REF 60,811 53,210

Amount due to non-controlling interests JE 1< IE 2R iR e 2 TR IE - 7,200

Other payables and accruals Hib A RIE R ERTE A 38,182 25,442

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost REERATTENERAE 193,499 171,974

Other tax payables HAth pE 18 12,834 18,222
Refund liabilities: BRRER:

— arising from right of return —REREEES 159 478

- arising from sales rebates — RHERNES 53,615 48,999

260,107 239,673

All trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as EHEES REMENREZN—FA
income within one year or are repayable on demand. HEBSRERBIMASIRERKERER -
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18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade

payables (which are included in trade and other payables), based on the

18 E5 R EMEMNFRIE ()

BEBRSHR BEFEMNFBAGIAES R
H B 5R) 1 % R B IR Rk 0 AT 40

invoice date, is as follows: ™

2023 2022

—EBC=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T AREETF T
Within 3 months =EAA 61,183 63,301
Over 3 months but within 6 months =EANNEBEREAA 794 204
Over 6 months but within 9 months NEANK EBAEARA 106 13
Over 9 months but within 1 year NEAREBE—FRA 244 -
Over 1 year but within 2 years —F LA FERFR 198 569
62,525 64,087

19 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 19 ERIEE

2023 2022

—Eo=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBET T
Receipts in advance AN RIR 223,953 175,291
Unredeemed credits REIBTED 1,350 1,159
225,303 176,450

Contract liabilities mainly represents the advance payments (exclude
output VAT) from customers, for which the underlying goods are yet to
be provided. The output VAT contained in the advance payments has

been classified under other current liabilities.
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19 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 19 EEEE (&)
Movement in contract liabilities EEAEEEE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —EFE-=
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARETE

Balance at 1 January B—A—BE&H 176,450 138,789
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising EREFERNERNRE I AR R
revenue during the year that was included in the aEMNRALEREERD
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (172,566) (134,255)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving FAREIEFPENHKIBESER
advances from customers during the year B &N 221,419 171,916
Balance at 31 December RTZA=+—H88%&H% 225,303 176,450
Most of the contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income TEHZHAERAEHN —FAERBUA -

within one year.

20 LEASE LIABILITIES 20 HEEE
At 31 December 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows: R-B-_=F+-_A=+—-H HE&HE
WEEBNT
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Within 1 year —&R 26,391 15,657
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFEAN 22,259 7,970
After 2 years but within 5 years MEERBERFERN 42,713 3,294
After 5 years hEE 46,315 =
111,287 11,264
137,678 26,921
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21

22

232

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Defined contribution retirement plan

As stipulated by the regulations of the Chinese Mainland, the Group
participates in various defined contribution retirement plans organised
by municipal and provincial governments for its employees. The Group
is required to make contributions to the retirement plans at 14% - 17%
of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of the employees. A
member of the plan is entitled to a pension equal to a fixed proportion
of the salary prevailing at the member’s retirement date. The Group
has no other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with these plans beyond the annual contributions described

above.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
Employee Incentive Scheme

The Group has adopted an employee incentive scheme on 26 December
2020 (the “Employee Incentive Scheme”). The purpose is to provide
incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their contribution
or potential contribution to continue leading the future success of the
Group. In connection with the Employee Incentive Scheme, Xiamen
Jinyan Tengfei Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
("Jinyan Tengfei LP") has been established in Chinese Mainland as
employee incentive platform. Eligible participants as approved by the
Company may subscribe for the limited partnership interests in Jinyan
Tengfei LP ("Restricted Shares”). The Restricted Shares shall be entitled to
all the economic interests relating to their respective Restricted Shares,
except that the Restricted Shares shall be subject to certain transfer
and disposal restrictions. The transfer and disposal restrictions will be
released upon the completion of the vesting period as mentioned

below.
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22 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Employee Incentive Scheme (continued)

The directors of the Company consider that it is appropriate to
consolidate Jinyan Tengfei LP as the Company has power to govern
the relevant activities of Jinyan Tengfei LP and can derive benefits from
the contributions of the eligible employees who are awarded with the
shares under the Employee Incentive Scheme. The Company lost such
power on 26 December 2023 when all of the Restricted Shares under the
Employee Incentive Scheme were vested, and hence Jinyan Tengfei LP

was no longer consolidated from that date.

On 26 December 2020, 43 employees were granted 1,642,000 Restricted
Shares pursuant to the Employee Incentive Scheme at a subscription
price of RMB12 per share. All Restricted Shares granted were subscribed
and will be vested at the date of 36 months from the date of grant or

the date of completion of a qualified listing, whichever is later.

Fair value of Restricted Shares is measured with reference to the price
of a transaction of the Company’s share capital completed in a short
period of time before the Restricted Shares granted. Service conditions
attached to the arrangements were not taken into account in measuring

fair value.

As approved by the shareholders’ general meeting of the Company
on 25 May 2023, immediately upon the initial public offering of the
Company, each of issued ordinary share of RMB1 will subdivide into five
ordinary shares of RMBO0.2 each. After the share subdivision, the number
of granted Restricted Shares was 8,210,000.

On 26 December 2023, 8,210,000 Restricted Shares pursuant to the
Employee Incentive Scheme were vested at the date of 36 months from

the date of grant.

Movements in the number of Restricted Shares granted to employees

are as follows:

22 AR

ENROARRS
(%)

EEHBE (B

HRARRARERESKERAREZD
HEEE - WA LR IR BB 5T 81 & %
KON EEREENERTER - AAA
EERRBeRERBEREGELEEARE
o ARARZZBE=FF+_A=+<
H (ERE S RE T 8118 T 8 2 50 5 bR 51 AR
@ﬁaﬁﬁ)%iaﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁéaaﬂ'
SREREREBIBES A

RZZE-_ZTF+_H=-+,"H  43%EE
BARIE B B AT 2143 1,642,000 3% 52 BR Il A%
D REBERERARE 2T - BEMNE
EPZPR HIAR D BRI A AR B Hi gk
GER EMTKBH (UREE B%E) BT
6EAERHRE -

XRERDORABEIZLERRRRA
REHZEFROAIEREANTEANRS
BREAE - HEARBER - ARG H
PP BR 76 oA A E BB

RIE-_=FRAA-+HBBRITHARRA
RERKEHE  BEAABERAREES
% SREBAREITHE FHTLER
BIHRARTIREREBARK2TH LS
i o MR A - B H XRS5 2
B 48,210,000% °

MR-ZT-=%F+=-A=-+XB8  BEES
TEUED 5T E19% 798,210,000 A% ST BR HIl A% 17 A 3%
LR 36 B A E BEE -

BT RS HERARHHA BB :
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22 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

22 ESERENRONRRS

(continued) (%)
Employee Incentive Scheme (continued) EE MBS (&)
2023 2022
—E-=HF —F-=
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
restricted average fair restricted  average fair
shares value shares value
5 PR &l InREFE IR hntE S
R & B AREE iabard= AREE
RMB RMB
AR¥ T AREBT
Numbers of shares granted but not  HB—A—BE&XH1E

yet vested at 1 January RN LEoliienE 4= 1,642,000 18 1,642,000 18
Subscribed during the year FRREE - TEH - TiEA
Subdivision of ordinary shares BRI A (FisE24(0))

(note 24(c)) 6,568,000 TEA = NEs
Vested during the year FHNHE (8,210,000) 3.6 - TiEA
Numbers of shares granted but RTZA=+—HEEH

not yet vested at 31 December B R ER B AR D BB - i A 1,642,000 18

# The weighted average fair value changed from 18 to 3.6 due to the
subdivision of ordinary shares (note 24(c)).

23INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Prepaid taxes/(current taxation) in the consolidated

% A3.6 (HizE24() ©

R BRI - T AR 188

23 ZEMBRRRHFAER

(a) FREMBRRKRPHANSBIR,

statement of financial position represents: (ENERF%IE) 45 -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBT T
Current tax assets: BNEARIIEEE
PRC CIT recoverable AU Bl A B 1 RIS R 10,513 -
Current tax liabilities: ENERIIEAE -
PRC CIT payable FEfT R B SIS (19,938) (38,091)

234
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23INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23 Z4HBRTAEROVFES (&)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERERIELEHBEEERERE !
() Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and () EEHREEEREBESHERBIN
liabilities L)
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised RERE ISR R R A RS
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the B(EE)/ BEEKRSD ARF
movements during the year are as follows: NEEFERAT

Depreciation

Promotion allowances

Unrealised and in excess of

Creditloss inter-group advertising Accumulated Right-of-use  Lease the related
allowance profit  expenses taxlosses assets liabilities  Accruals  depreciation Total

RER bl

FEFE  SEE KRR RAHE  GAE i

i AE  RERX ij ] KE HRAR EIRR  FEGH it
RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARETn ARMTT ARMTT ARMTT ARMTT ARETn ARETT ARMTT ARMTR

Deferred tax arising from: UMEEBEEN

EERE
At 1 January 2022 i —

—-A-A (1199 (3.960) (8509) (a0 298 B0 (13%) 285 (14009)
(Credited)/charged to profitorloss ~ (;FA)/ B % (197) 613 (18044) (204) 3598 (3754) (583) (350 (20167)
At 31 December 2022 and S —

1 January 203 +-B=1-R

R-E-=F

—-A-H (13%) @53 (2655)) (139 656 (680 (1979 1935 (341%)
(Credited)/charged to profitorloss ~ (;FA)/ B EE (660) 234 3039 3 UBLE (798) (889) (228) 1483

RZT==f
At 31 December 2023 TZAZT-8 (2056)  (4339) (23514 (1,900 34460  (34813)  (2867) 1707 (32712)
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23INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23 Z4HBRREROVAES (&)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: b) ERARELEHEEEREE :
(continued) (&)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial (i) EEARESHBEMRRRNEER
position
2023 2022
—EC=F —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Net deferred tax asset in the consolidated frE B R FIRIE
statement of financial position HIEEE (34,371) (36,130)
Net deferred tax liability in the consolidated — #R& B F5AR I 3R B9/ FHE T
statement of financial position HIEAE 1,659 1,935
(32,712) (34,195)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised (0 XEFANELEHEEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(q), RIEM () T & s sE - e
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of MR LtEEREEE RN AT
cumulative tax losses of RMB315,000 (2022: RMB242,000) as it is not A SEE B R ERRFE - i
probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be AREBEWER ARKEI1500T (ZE=
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. —F AR®242,0007T) W EFTHIE
The tax losses expire within 5 years under current tax legislation. EIREZELRIEBEE - BEBITR
& RIBEBEBRAFEARRIE -
24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 24 BX - REERKRE
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) EHEARTINET
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of AR E B4R A RE 25 S 4E Ak 2B 5> B ) B HA
each component of the Group's consolidated equity is set out K BN HESN G SR EE
in the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Details of X o AN BIRERH S AR I E Y E
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity FERZENSSEBEHNDOT -

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 24 EX - DREERRKRE (&)

(a) Movements in components of equity (continued) (a) AN HEE (B)
Company ¥ NE
Share-based
Share Share payment  Statutory Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
BRipsft

Bx  RDEE  ARe ATiEE RENE @it
Note  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBIOOO
M ARETL ARMTR ARRTRL ARBTL ARETL ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2022 RZBZZ5-A-AMEH 86700 154438 5,691 13,136 317 263092
Changes in equity for 2022: “BCoCEEREE.
Profit and total comprehensive income  ERFIER A2 E R

for the year = = = = 275,657 275,657
Equity settled share-based transactions ~ WEREENRHNFZ S 2 = = 5,253 = = 5253
Appropriation to statutory reserve REAEAES 24(d)i = = = 27615 (27619) =
Dividends approved and paid to the BRAEDRER FREARE

shareholders 24(b) = = = = (80,000) (80,000)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZB--%+-A=1-H

ikt 86,700 154438 10,944 40,751 171,169 464,002
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24 B - RRERKRE (F)
(a) HEFHARITHEE (&)

24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(@) Movements in components of equity (continued)

Company (continued) AT (&)
Share-based
Share Share  payment  Statutory  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total
R EE
B RHEE NES 2B REAE &zt
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARETr ARETR ARETn AR%Tn ARETR ARET:R
Balance at 1 January 2023 R=2ZZ%-A-BhER 86,700 154438 10,944 40,751 171,169 464,002
Changes in equity for 2023: SERCCERRED.
Profit and total comprehensive ERfIBRB2ERE
income for the year - - - - 135,489 135,489
Issurance of ordinary shares by BRARBERTLER
initial public offering 6,400 262,841 - - - 269,241
Equity settled share-based transactions ~ MEREERKRANHRS by - 15,760 (10,944) - - 4,816
Appropriation to statutory reserve RIEEARES 24(d)i) - = - 5,799 (5,799) -
Dividends approved and paidtothe ~ BAELIRA FREEIRS
shareholders 24(b) - - - - (160,0000  (160,000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+ZA=t-RMER 93,100 433,039 - 46550 140859 713548
(b) Dividends (b) B2
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company () FRESGEITEZERRERE

attributable to the year

2023 2022
—EC-=F -
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBT T
Final dividend proposed after the end of the HHEIRB R R R RS
reporting period of RMB21.5 cents per BREBRARE21 55
ordinary share (2022: RMB184.5 cents per (Z2==F : FREBR
ordinary share (before Share Subdivision)/ AR 18455 (BB HF4EAT),
equivalent to RMB36.9 cents per ordinary HER TR EER
share (after Share Subdivision)) AR¥36.97 (BRMDIFAIE)) 100,083 160,000

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the

reporting period.
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(b) Dividends (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR AR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (kX #5 ﬁﬁﬁ &b

(b) BRE (&)

YA RHEIR)

24 B - PRERKRE (F)

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company (i) FRAEHERIKRNS E—BBREERE
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid NEAREERRRE
during the year
2023 2022
—==-= %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTTT
Final dividend in respect of the previous FREMERIKN BB E—
financial year, approved and paid during HMRFEHRARE SR
the year, of RMB184.5 cents per share AR 18455 (B IFR4ERT),/
(before Share Subdivision)/equivalent to HE RS RE R
RMB36.9 cents per ordinary share (after AR®36.99 (RO FFHE)
Share Subdivision) (2022: RMB92.3 cents (ZZ=_=—F: 8K
per share (before Share Subdivision)/ AREE9235 (BN IFRMAT),~
equivalent to RMB18.5 cents per ordinary HERZRE R
share (after Share Subdivision)) AR 1857 (B HrAR)) 160,000 80,000
(c) Share capital (0 B&E
2023 2022
—EC-=F —ET-—
No. of No. of
shares shares
RGEE iabar4=
('000) RMB’000 ('000) RMB'000
(FR) AR%®TrR (FiR) AR¥ETT
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:  E#fA% « BT REE
At 1 January ®—A—H 86,700 86,700 86,700 86,700
Subdivision of ordinary shares (note (i)) A& 4H (KIzEx)) 346,800 - - -
Shares issued by initial public BRARBEETRG
offering (note (ii)) (BRFZE ) 32,000 6,400 = -
At 31 December R+=—RA=+—H 465,500 93,100 86,700 86,700
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

240

(c) Sha

Note:

(i)

(ii)

re capital (continued)

As approved by the shareholders’ general meeting of the Company
on 25 May 2023, immediately upon the initial public offering of the
Company, each of issued ordinary share of RMB1 will subdivide into five
ordinary shares of RMB0.2 each. After the share subdivision, the number
of the issued ordinary shares was 433,500,000.

32,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of RMBO0.2 each were issued at
a price of HK$9.7 per ordinary share upon the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The gross
proceeds raised from the offering was HKD310,400,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB283,029,000). Net proceeds from the offering
were RMB269,241,000 (after offsetting costs directly attributable to
the issuance of shares of approximately RMB13,788,000), of which
RMB6,400,000 was credited to the Company's share capital account and
the remaining RMB262,841,000 was credited to the Company’s share
premium account.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

0]

(ii)

Xiamen

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares of the Company and consideration for the

shares issued.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the portion of
difference between the fair value of shares granted and the
consideration paid by the employees of the Group that has
been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity settled share-based payments in note 1(p)
(ii).
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24 BX - PRERKRE (F)

(c) MRS (&)
FiaE -

0)

(ii)

R-_B-=FHA-+RHABTHEAR
AIREASHE  BREARAFZAA
HEER  SREBAREITHER
TEBRREFRAAARSHREEARE
02 TR EBAR - KRR IFAE - B3
17TE B E B £A433,500,0000% °

ARBRNDREABRERIAERA
A LR+ 32,000,000 FREEAR
o2 BRIZGRE @A 7B T
HERET BRESENMFERIEL
B /4310,400,0008 T (HEROAR
#283,029,0007T) ° HEFMSRIER
AR#269,241,0007C (B EZERBERN
BT BB A L A R ¥513,788,0007T
%) Hh AR¥6,400,000 TaF AR
AIRARER « 82 T AR¥262,841,0007T5T
ARR R BERR °

d) 2EEHMEREN

0]

(ii)

MR EE

IiraEREARR RO EERD %
TR B 2 TRy Z5E o

RHOZAAEE

BN AEEBREDRERMND
AABEEAKEES X HOLHE
ZEMZEEE D - REBEMEE1(p)()
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii) Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group's Chinese
Mainland companies and relevant statutory regulations,
appropriations to the statutory reserve fund were made at 10%
of profit after tax determined in accordance with accounting
rules and regulations of Chinese Mainland until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. This reserve fund
can be utilised in setting off accumulated losses or increasing
capital of the Chinese Mainland companies provided that
the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of
their registered capital, and is non-distributable other than in

liquidation.

(e) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to

finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes

in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an adjusted
net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debt
is defined as lease liabilities and adjusted capital comprises all

components of equity.

24 EX - PRERKRE (F)
(d) AFEEHWHEERE (&)

(i) EZELES
RIEAEEHRBE AN A RN RE
BERMBEEERD  EEAERIR
B E AR E RERIEDE
FEMI0%IRE - EE R B AR
ERFEMEARMS0%EIE - ZATE
A AR B Rt A AR 25
1B IS AR - W RS AR
BEMNAESESRTE LR EZM
B 25% B RIBEINAIAR D
fid

(e) EXERE

AEEEREANTEENZERR
2 on N AR 7 1) 5E 22 = g K S AR AT B0 (B
BRIEREAGERARERE @ &
EAREEARNFELE  KhAK
RIFESRO®R  WEREMH A
W& -

AEEEGEBEN RERE AR
1 A B IR R E R (R B
BHOKT TAER) BERNEAR
RRF R BSRE R 2RI T
& WRBEERRNB (Y E AR
TR -

SENZERBFEBHEERLER
EEEHEARRE -t E - &
BREEBERREERE - MAEH
BABEESR A AKERD -

¥ BB Dt
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group's adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2023

and 2022 was as follows:

24 B - ARERKE ()
() EXEE (A)

RZE—ZFR-_FB-__F+=A=
+—8 AEENKARFERKEE

ALEERMAT
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E=-=
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
ihg=s AR®T ARBTIT
Current liabilities: mEaE:

Lease liabilities HEBE 20 26,391 15,657
26,391 15,657

Non-current liabilities: ERFELE :
Lease liabilities HEAE 20 111,287 11,264
Adjust net debt KRR FEDS 137,678 26,921
Total equity B 796,927 472,010
Adjusted capital KRB R 796,927 472,010
Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio KR FEBEE AR 17% 6%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the

normal course of the Group's business.
The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management

policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are

described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 £RiEREERSBMTANA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REEE)
(continued)

(@) Credit risk (a) EER

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables. The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits and financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions for which the

Group considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose

the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management policy under
which individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
30 to 90 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are more than 3 months past due are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit is granted. Normally,

the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in
industries or countries in which the customers operate. Significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 85.2% (2022: 81.7%), 2.6% (2022: 3.6%) and 87.8%
(2022: 85.5%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer, the second largest customer and the five

largest customers respectively.

EERRERZHFERMAEMETEAOM
EAKRBERIMBRRIANAR - A&
BEMEERRIEREE S E KK
B AEBERERERASFEY
HXBRHRITERRIRRAEET AR
sNEREENEERRER  RE
ERXRZUFRAEERREERARE
KHERTT R & BOMEHE o

AEEREREMSERREAR(E
EREBRATELR

B 5 RWEIR

AEEERY -—EFEERREER
R BUHEMABBETEESHEN
BEEETERERFGE - ZEFFEA
ERNFPBENIEN RS LER
MNREN X EBEFPHFEER
AR BE P& AR ERIZA R
BF - EHRUHARERRZ HE30
EI0ORAEH - HEMS AR EHREH
HiBE3EA - RIAENMARNELR
A BEREE - ARE-RTEAT
BB o

REBRBEFPEEMEMITEHBER
WHEREAEREERR -FEAEHRE
ERBRFERNAEEHENTFPAE
AEBREEL -RB|EHAR - BF
SRR EFRE5 20 (Z T = — 4 :
81.7%) ~ 2.6% (ZZFT=_4% :3.6%) &
87.8% (ZEZZ4F :855%) D Rl BRI
AEBRREFL  F-ABFEAK
BEFEHFIE ©
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(a) Creditrisk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different type of
customer, the loss allowance based on past due status is not

distinguished among the Group's different customer types.

The following table provides information about the Group's

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables:

25 SREAREEREMIAND
AEE (E)

(a)

FERRE (&)
B 5 RWEUR ()

AEBEAREN2HEHEEEHEN
THEFERHEUENEBERREE
ZEBRERBEEESE - ARAE
BHELEEBREREATRER
EEFMBARATEREEZR - At
TARBREBEAEETREFPELENE
R AR HY SRR

TREHTARAEENEERAREK
B I REFREREEEERNER

2023
—E-=

Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount  Loss allowance
AHEsER BREAE BEEE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Current (not past due) BNER (R Hd) 4.0% 86,725 3,427
More than 3 months past due B EAER R = & A 100.0% 1,318 1,318
88,043 4,745

2022
—E- 4

Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
TE g 1 BREAE BRI
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥EFTT
Current (not past due) BNHR (R ER) 3.8% 65,124 2,482
Less than 3 months past due A2 =18 A 17.6% 233 41
More than 3 months past due w0 AR A = A 100.0% 1,597 1,597
66,954 4,120
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past 36 months. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which
the historic data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the

receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade

receivables during the year is as follows:

e MERRME

YA RHEIR)

25 SREAREEREMIAND
AEE (E)

(a)

FERRE (&)
B 5 RWEUR ()

BHEBRXERBEE3IEANER
BRERAER/LY - GLLEDER
B URRERER L BIRHRNE
BEARS ~ E ATAR I A R AR £ [ i e L
RIEREFHALERRINE L 2R
HZESR -

FREZERRFENGEBERS
BRAT :

2023 2022

—Eo=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Balance at 1 January R—A—HB&ES 4,120 1,301
Impairment losses recognised HERA R E RS 625 2,819
Balance at 31 December R+—A=+—HH%&% 4,745 4120

Liquidity risk

The treasury function is centrally managed by the Group, which
includes the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of funds to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and

longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group's financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

(b)

RENERER

MBBEHAEERETERE  BER
CRANEHREURAMEERR
EFELMEBENES - ARENHHEK
EEMERERDES BERUREST
ERURE - WREREERFEHNRS
REEARKRETESREBNESR
AHEBMERE  EmERHREHAR
MEERBEREK

TRERTASESREEERSH
REOFIAA R B (ERERAKE
Reng (BREAGRMER (WE
TR R) ERNWE HIRAE AIA R
BEOF BRI AR A EE AT 52 E X
NH&ERHFESL)
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

AfEE (&)

(b) FRENERER ()

25 SREAREEREMIAND

2023
“E-=F
Contractual undiscounted cash out flow
ERABRERERS
More than More than
1 year 2 years
Within but less but less Carrying
1 year or than than More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
—-FR —FuUE @WEUREL Rt=A=+—H
FRER BIRWE EBLREE HFEUE @st HEREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT AR%TR AR¥TT ARETR ARBTT
Trade and other B 5 REAERFIR
payables 193,499 - - - 193,499 193,499
Lease liabilities HE&E 32,197 27,293 51,839 49,563 160,892 137,678
225,696 27,293 51,839 49,563 354,391 331,177
2022
“E-—F
Contractual undiscounted cash out flow
ARRERERERL
More than ~ More than
1 year 2 years
Within but less but less Carrying
1 year or than than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 December
—FRzk —FUE WFUE B+=R=+—H
BRER BLRMFE BOREE st HERE(E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT AR®TRI ARBTT ARBTT
Trade and other payables B 5 R H M ENRIE 171,974 = = 171,974 171,974
Lease liabilities HERE 16,898 8312 3474 28,684 26,921
188,872 8,312 3474 200,658 198,895
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 £RiEREERSBMTANA

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily
from restricted bank deposits, cash at banks and lease liabilities.
Interest-bearing financial instruments at variable rates and at fixed
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk respectively. The Group's interest rate risk profile as

monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate risk profile

The following table, as reported to the management of the
Group, details the interest rate risk profile of the Group at the

end of each reporting period:

REE ()

(c) =@M

MEEEECRTENDABEIA
KIRE R ER TSN R ECTKE
Rk - ARBEWNMNERREIERE R
RERITER RITRELRHEESR
& - WEFBFEXREENEFENES
BMTAEAEEDRAZRSRERN
T K A EERERR - T X0
JIEREERNAKENRREBREN

(i) FREEEHR

TREMAEEET2EERY TR
AR ER & RS HROFIRE
B S ¢

Notional amount

BREHE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®BTE

Fixed rate instruments: BEEREFEIA

Restricted bank deposits R EIERITER 8,074 1,600

Lease liabilities HEAE 137,678 26,921
145,752 28,521

Variable rate instruments: FEARFETA:

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFEIRS 531,032 338,398

Cash balances with payment platforms YTREENR &S 6,061 12,420
537,093 350,818
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

248

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the
Group's profit after tax and retained profits by approximately
RMB1,006,000 (2022: RMB655,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's profit after tax (and retained profits)
that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk
at the end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period, the impact on the Group's profit after tax
(and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest expense or income of such a change in interest rates.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2022.

(d) Currency risk

(e)

The Group operates in Chinese Mainland and most of the Group's

monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB. The

management considers the Group's exposure to currency risk is

insignificant.

Fair value measurement

U]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:
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25 SREAREEREMIAND
AEE (E)

(c) FIZRmE b (%)

(ii)

BRBEDH

RZE-_=F+=-A=+—8"
Bt EMAEMEERETEN
BRT - FIR@8E 5 T 25
EE2 S EARNE BB % FE
MRBFBEEN, BIHOARE
1,006,000TC (Z T = —4F : ARK
655,0007T) °

Bt SRRE DT BN RER A R E E)
RBEHHRDBHEILC EANER
SRREFFEAREMFASH

[ i A S EE R R E kg 1% F & R
TH  ANEBEBRREMNE(RERE
B AEZINEE - RAKHE
R E ARG EFRIEOTE
TEEEAMBSRENEERM
5 HARKERBRENE (RFRE
B M BRAF RE LTS
XM AEENF LR BT -
ETOMHEEE —T— — Fif
[@] o

(d) E¥ER

AEERFENLEEES  BAE
BABHEBEERABUARE
- ERERANEBFETNER
BBTA -

(e) AREEFE

0]

RAABEFENERMEERERS

ARABEER
TREJNBERRRGEEEE
AENAKRESHTIANARE
B HERPHREERF 135
ARABEAERENAEEER
DR=F - RRBEAED LR
HERMATRE AR EBREK
ERREEE  FBWT
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market data

are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

25 SREAREEREMIAND
AEE (E)

(e) AREEE ()

) BAAMEHENSMEERAM
(#0)
AR EERE ()
L ERMEE: EAERBA
B (BB A A
ERAENTE
B A B
CESE R L

=1

- FIREE: ERE-_REBA
g (AR BETT
BE RN ATE
KRBARE) B
TMEREATA
B A BB
EQREE T
ABRnARE
BEEREMS
SR ABUE -

- FERMEE: EREATAE
R ABEE
NifEE

Fair value at 31 Fair value measurements as at

December 2023 31 December 2023 categorised into

N-B=-=F
+=A=t+-H R-B-=F+=-A=+—8HH
MR REE DABEFESES
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

F-BR E-BE B=ER
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR

Recurring fair value REMDNAEETE
measurements

Assets: BE -

Wealth management products B EmR

—EZ - =F4R | ANNUAL REPORT 2023 249
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25 SREAREEREMIAND
AEE (E)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) AREMEGTE (&)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

250

@i

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fair value at 31

@i

BRARBEAENSREERARE
(%)

DMREEER (A)

Fair value measurements as at

December 2022 31 December 2022 categorised into
R-E-—F
+=ZRA=+—H RIB-__F+-A=+—HH
HAREE NRBEFENER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
—EfR FZER ZF=ER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT
Recurring fair value REMDNAEETE
measurements
Assets: BE -
Wealth management products BMEm® 4,996 = 4,996 =

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into
or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers

between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

REBEZT_—_FR-_T-=F+
ZA=t+—BLtEFE  F-HHEF
Rz MR s A SE
B NEENBKARELHE

reporting period in which they occur. BHSREHREZES AN BHEER
P Lok E

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value EoRMAREBEEEHNEER

measurements WA 1%

The fair value of wealth management products in Level 2 is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows
at risky rate, which is the benchmark interest rate plus the risk

premium as at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at amortised cost were not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2022 and 2023.
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(ii)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& X #& 5 BTSN + HIAN R #ESIR)

26 COMMITMENTS 26 HiE
Commitments outstanding at 31 December 2023 not provided for in the WEREMBHREPFRBEOR=ZE ==
financial statements were as follows: FTZA=+—BRBITERENT :
2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ETTT
Contracted for acquisition of property, machinery BEETRW B - MW R
and equipment 31,102 =
Contracted for new short-term leases ERIAFTEHEE 2,811 3,327
33,913 3,327
27 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 EXBHMAERS
The Group entered into the following material related party transactions AEBRERNEIL NIERBH LS ©
during the year.
Name of related parties Relationship
BT BB ZEES
Beijing Zhongshi Hongyun Advertising Co., Ltd. Entity controlled by a director of the Group
JERpRBBESERAR) *
I RPRBEREEBERA R rEEESEHNER
Beijing Guangyao Tianrun Advertising Co., Ltd. Entity controlled by a director of the Group
JErCERRBESARAR]) *
IERARREESBRA R rEEESEHNER
Tianjin Union Yutai Trading Co., Ltd. Entity significantly influenced by one of the Controlling
(REMEBHRHEERAF]) * Shareholders
RETEBHERERERAA* —HRERBRREEATENNER
*  The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English translation is for * ZERNE T BB - BEIUEHE
identification purpose only. bl
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27 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27
(continued)

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company's directors and supervisors
as disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees as

disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

EXBBMAIRS (&)

(a) BBREEASEHH

AEBERREEASHH (BEME7
FEBEAARREEREEINOE
BEMESHBEERE TR=FMER
XNWER) AT

2023 2022
—E_=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e s TENREHMEFR] 20,019 17,920
Contributions to defined contribution FERFCRIRET B
retirement plan 363 354
Equity-settled share-based payment LATE &5 45 B AR 1 1 SR =2
expenses 1,629 1,778
22,011 20,052

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).

(b) Other transactions with related parties

BEHIAATEIRA I BE (GF2HM
FE5(b)) °

(b) EfEABL RS

2023 2022
—EC=4F —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETE

Trade in nature: BEHMHE
Advertising services received FEEA E S R
— Entities controlled by a director of the Group —AEE-ZEREHNERE 36,094 60,298
Sales of edible bird’s nest products HERBEM
— Entity significantly influenced by one of the — —EERRRBEEATES
Controlling Shareholders HE S 18,326 20,447
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27 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(c) Balances with related parties

27 EXBHAE RS ()

(c) EREARETT HVARER

2023 2022
—E-=HF —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Trade in nature: ESME
Prepayments TR IR
— Entities controlled by a director of the Group — AEE-—ZESTHINERE 18,885 6,336
Other receivables included in trade and T AE 5 K H e IR A EL At
other receivables JFE W RIE
~ Entities controlled by a director of the Group — AEE—REFTHNES 1,800 1,900
Trade payables included in trade and FTAE S REMBENRIBAE S
other payables FERT IR
— Entities controlled by a director of the Group —AEE-—ZESEHINERE 632 =
Other payables included in trade and FTAE 5 K CH h FE BIR A E At
other payables FE T 5R1E
- Entity significantly influenced by one of — —BIERRREEATEN
the Controlling Shareholders VE 8 4,087 =
Contract liabilities ER&E
— Entity significantly influenced by one of — —EBERRREEATE
the Controlling Shareholders K E e 5,226 =

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected
transactions

The related party transactions in respect of note 27(b) constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section

“Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report.

(d) HEEXZHEBN ETRANE
At
B RN RE27(b) W BEEE T X H IR £ TH
FAE+HAZRRENBER ST
BRERS - L?ﬁfﬁﬁ‘JM+@A§ﬁﬁ
RENWERNEFTRE [ HERE

5] —f .
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28 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 28 A FEEMNEBRRE

POSITION
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Vs - BB kA 13,168 15,053
Intangible assets mEEE 45 502
Investments in subsidiaries HFRFRE 191,041 188,694
Deferred tax assets FERIEEE 2,935 7314
Other non-current assets HihFEREEE 218 774
207,407 212,337
Current assets RENEE
Financial assets measured at fair value through RARBEFABENSREE
profit or loss - 4,996
Inventories 8 9,833 4,381
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E e R IA 6,203 9,689
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEYF R EIFIE 96,406 181,236
Prepayments SEENE O] 166,284 64,424
Prepaid taxes TEfFIE 10,513 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEEY 382,592 162,177
671,831 426,903
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A E IR 120,487 99,286
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTFREIFIE = 4,064
Contract liabilities aEREE 38,535 53,782
Lease liabilities HEAR 899 1,387
Other current liabilities Himeha & 4,838 6,861
Current taxation BNERF IR - 9,174
164,759 174,554
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28 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (continued)

28 AR EHE BB IIRR R ()

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Net current assets REBEE 507,072 252,349

Total assets less current liabilities BEERREBER 714,479 464,686

Non-current liability FREBEE

Lease liabilities HERE 931 684
931 684

NET ASSETS FEE 713,548 464,002

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEERARAES

Share capital A& A 93,100 86,700

Reserves NEE 620,448 377,302

TOTAL EQUITY R 713,548 464,002

29 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 29 SREHIRKIFERESH

PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a final

dividend. Further details are disclosed in note 24(b).

30 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate holding party of
the Company as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were Xiamen Suntama
Industrial Development Co., Ltd.,, Zheng Wenbin and Li Youquan, and
the ultimate controlling party of the Company as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 were Huang Jian, Zheng Wenbin and Li Youquan.

30 EERBARERA

RAREZRABARNRRZE_=FR=
T —F+ A=+ BHEEERAA]
DRHREMMENSEXERERAF
BXERFAER  ARTRZZEZ=FRK
T ZF+ A=+ ANRKERAS
AER BXBERTHR °
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31 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 31 ERGERBE_ZT-_=F1+

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED “HA=EtT—BLEFEHRERK
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED HYIERT A - ¥Te] 2RI R R
31 DECEMBER 2023 BHETE

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued BEEZSUBHRATZEEE  BERgHE
a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet effective for AR EEE 8L IEME] HEIBET LR -
the year ended 31 December 2023 and which have not been adopted BEREBE-_ZE-_=F+-_RA=1+—8H1
in these financial statements. These developments include the following FEHMAERENBEAEZSENBHRERPE
which may be relevant to the Group. - GEERVENTSENEEAER

HREHZER

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTBE#HRz#
MM S BREXN

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification of liabilities as current or 1 January 2024

non-current (2020 amendments”)

B S ERNEVRETA  HBEHXZEH - BRETER BRI RE ([ —FE_FFEEFTA)) —T_mE-A—H

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Non-current 1 January 2024

liabilities with covenants (2022 amendments”)

Bt ERNE RIS A - HEHEXZHR  AERFHnBE E(ZFE = —FE775)) —ZEME—-HA—H
Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024
BRI B mEERF16RETRN  HE - ERHOHERE —ZEME—-HA—H
Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS 7, Financial 1 January 2024

Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements
REtERB7RIERI A B ms &k KRB B EERIE 7 —ZE-WF—A—H
DE T A #E REFHELH

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange 1 January 2025
rates: Lack of exchangeability

REETERIEN RSN - BEF A7 E : 5 B[R —E_hFE—-H—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the AEBEATEELERELGRERRHM

impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial MIEEEE - HEB R - AEERTEEREMN

application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely EHASET A RERIN KA e & His & B 5

to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. WRELEEATE -
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AGM

“Articles of Association” or "Articles”

[REIZERZ 48

“Audit Committee”
[B:EET]

“Award Letter”

[T

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[EFE

“Board Secretary”

[EFEWE]

"CAGR"
[EaFEREK]

“CAIQ”
[ Bl E4Bx |

“CG Code”
[{ZEER=FA]

“China,” "Mainland China” or “PRC"

[FRE - THRERM ] %
[ ARLME ]

DEFINITION

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 21, 2024 or any
adjournment thereof

ARRHR -_ZE_IFRAA -+ BTN FERRARSXEETMNES

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRABARIER (EARFHERT)

the audit committee of the Board
BEEEEIEEY

a letter issued by the Company to each Grantee in such form as the Board and/or the
Delegatee may from time to time determine, specifying the name of the grantee, the
number of Trust Units granted, the vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting date and
such other terms and conditions to be determined by the Board and/or the Delegatee that
are not inconsistent with the H Share Incentive Scheme

KRANERZER/ IEEALTRAEOEA RS MBS RELH RS - EH5I8H
HEERHEE EF RTOEEIRENEHNE  BRRERGH BBAUK
B2 IR T EETE BB HRORE R 810 A A 60 B A 5K R i

the board of directors of our Company

ARBRERE

secretary to the Board

EEeNE

compound annual growth rate
EAFHEE

the Chinese Academy of Inspection and Quarantine (/7 B 1 B #6 & BHEA R 55 B )
B B S 2 A 3R b

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

ETRRIMERCT PR E VA ST R

People's Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context requires otherwise, Hong Kong,
the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

FEARKANE  pAFEREME MEHRWELENS - TREEE  PEARK
MEDRPIRRIITHIEMEE - RIEXESAMIE
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DEFINITION
B=

“Company,” “our Company,” “Group,”

‘our Group,” “we’, “us” or “Yan Palace”

[R&E] - TRRA] - [€£E] -
[AEE] - [RAIHFHZE]

“Controlling Shareholders”

[ 42 RARER

"CSRC
MPEEES]

"

"Delegatee(s)

(AL

"Director(s)”

[E=%]

“Directors’ Report”

[EEHE]

"edible bird’s nests” or "EBN”

%
5

[RAFE |k [EBN]

n

Xiamen Yan Palace Bird's Nest Industry Co., Ltd. (EFifkZ ERBEERNDBRAF)
(formerly known as Xiamen Yan Palace Bioengineering Co., Ltd. (B P93t 2 = 4 ¥ T2 A% 1D
AR F]), ajoint stock company established in the PRC with limited liability on December
23, 2020, or, where the context requires (as the case may be), its predecessor, Xiamen Yan
Palace Biological Engineering Development Co., Ltd. (BEFIZ EA W TIRERBFR A7),
a company established in the PRC with limited liability on October 31, 2014
EFFRZERBEERNERAR FIBAEMFIKZEENIERNHARRR)  —K
RZBZZEFT_A+T=RAEFEKIOROEBER AR - A& RIERM
F) BEFEZEEMIRERBERAR(ES)  — KR _T—WNF+A=+—H
FEFRBEKZIBERA R

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to Mr. Huang, Mr. Zheng, Mr. Li, Ms. Xue, Xiamen Suntama and Jinyan
Tengfei LP

HBE FTRAMETHRE - MXBESBIEN  BEELE  BEE FEE  BX
T EFERERSHBERERSE

the China Securities Regulatory Commission (R BIEH BB ERE

TREESEEEELZE®

0

)

\

the Board Committee(s) and/or person(s) delegated by the Board
EECREEMN RESSEENAE

the director(s) of our Company

ARRES

the report of the Directors in this annual report

REFHRETNESTRE

nests created by swiftlets with their saliva. EBN is highly valued in Chinese culture and
has been a renowned delicacy in Chinese cuisine for over 400 years. It is known for
its nutritional profile, which includes, among others, sialic acid, amino acid, collagen,
glycoprotein, antioxidants, calcium, potassium, iron, magnesium and hormones. Traditional
Chinese medicine attributes various health benefits to EBN, such as promoting overall
wellness, boosting the immune system, enhancing focus and concentration, increasing
energy and metabolism and regulating circulation. Modern scientific studies conducted by
authoritative sources have further validated the perceived health benefits of EBN products
SHEAERERNE - ABETE P EIES - 1005 FR—E-TEERTH
EXER - EUHEBERSMES - EPafEEiik SEK  BREQ  BEQ -
a5 8 BN - ERTPERSEEABSERERE © fINEE
MR EMARRS I BENMEFR N - NG EMIMTRAH AR BB
R REBBETHORANBMRE - PRIBTEBEMNRERRE
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“EBN+ products”

EGM”

[ERR R A |

“Employee Incentive Scheme”

[E 8RBt &

“GDP"
[BREERE]

“Global Offering”
[EIREE

“Grant Price”

[T (B

“Guangyao Tianxiang LP"

[EREARER

“H Share(s)”

[HAZ ]

DEFINITION

ready-to-serve EBN products (with an EBN feed rate of 1% or above and up to 5%)
enhanced with other ingredients and/or nutrients, such as ginseng and gamma-
aminobutyric acid

AIMEAMRE R HEBERD (PIMAL Ry EET ) AMERANEREBER
(BRI L 1% 30 5 &= AT 5% )

the 2024 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on March 25, 2024 to
consider and, if thought fit, approve, among other things, (i) the proposed adoption of
the H Share Incentive Scheme and (ii) the proposed authorization to the Board and/or the
Delegatee( ) to handle matters pertaining to the H Share Incentive Scheme
RARARRZZE_WF=A= +£E17jﬁ‘fﬁﬂ’1_7_mi% RGRRRRE - ERLB

Ttt/E(EEF' BE) (VEFRAHRHBF S R () EZREESGR A ABREALHIE
HECS BT B £ B

the employee incentive scheme adopted by the Company on December 26, 2020

ARBR_ZF_FTF+ A= +NARNEE MRS

gross domestic product

BN A ERE

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Company
RARBBLARBEEREREE

the grant price of each Target Share underlying the Trust Unit to be determined by the
Board and/or the Delegatee(s)

KHREFER SAREALEENEEZRROBMISLERERRONKTER

Xiamen Guangyao Tianxiang Equity Investment Partnership LP (E P B RERIEIRES
BHEERER)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on July 29, 2015 and one
of our substantial shareholders

EFIRRRERERESERLE (ARER)  — KR _E—AFtAZ+BEYF
RYMBRERDLE  AEMONEERR Z2—

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO0.2 each,
which is/are listed on the Stock Exchange and traded in Hong Kong dollars

ARBERAREHREEARE2ITH BB - RBRXM EMALAETER
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DEFINITION
B=

“H Share Incentive Scheme”

[HE ST 31 ]

"HKD" or "HKS"

&)

“Hong Kong”
[&#]

“IFRS Accounting Standards”

(BB RS gt R ]

“Hongyan Investment LP"

[AHIREBEBRER ]

“Jinjun Hongyan LP"

[2HBHEARER

“Jinyan Tengfei LP”

the 2024 H Share Incentive Scheme adopted by the Company at the EGM on March 25,
2024, the rules of which are set out in Appendix | to the circular of the Company dated
March 7, 2024

RAABRZZE_MNF=A=-TH A BRNEBERRERG ERAN T —MFEHREE
e HRAERARRIBBMA—S_MNE= A+ ABRAMEE—

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BEREEEHR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEE A RAEMEEBRITHE

Includes all applicable individual IFRS Accounting Standards, IAS Standards and IFRIC
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")

BREERS qu/'%E“JfE%A (B ERIR RS |) B0 PTA B E Bl B R B 7 e s
Bt RS AR BRI GRELERREZEGRE

Beijing Hongyan Equity Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (3t 7 55 FEAR IS & H 0y
(BBRAE)), alimited partnership established in the PRC on October 20, 2014

I FELAERERER L (ARER) — KR T —NF+AZ+REFBEKZIHER
ARTHE

initial public offering
BRARBE

Pingtan Jinjun Hongyan Investment Partnership LP ((F 22 EBHICEABLE(BRE
%)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on April 20, 2018
TESHRBHRREAECE(BRERE)  —FR - N\FHAZTHEPEKIH
BREBIEE

Xiamen Jinyan Tengfei Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (EFLHER
R E A B E(BRE)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on December
14, 2020 and an employee incentive platform of our Group and one of our Controlling
Shareholders

EFeHEBRRBERESEGE (BREYE) RIS -2F+-ATHWAEFEKZL
WERGREE  BAEEETHET A IERIRERZ —
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“Listing”
[ £

“Listing Date”

[ £ A8

“Listing Rules”

[ Em#RAl

“Model Code”

&2 Al

“Mr. Huang”

[Exat]

"Mr. Li"

[Fh4 ]

“Mr. Zheng"

& 54 ]

“Ms. Xue”

=2-sull

“Nomination Committee”

[MRRZEE]

“Prospectus”

[ R EE ]

“R&D"
[ |

DEFINITION

the listing of the H Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
HA B 32 BT = AR BT

December 12, 2023, being the date on which the H Shares were listed on the Main Board

of the Stock Exchange
ZEC=FA+A+TZH - HREMRMAER T2 BEA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,

as amended or supplemented from time to time

BEBMARZIMBERARZES LTRR (B TRERT M)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
ETRBIMERCIFAE LM BT AESETER R HHRETA

Mr. HUANG Jian (&), our chairman of the Board of Directors, executive Director and one

of our Controlling Shareholders

BEREL  BANESR RTEFRERBRERERZ —

Mr. LI Youquan (A R), our general manager, executive Director and one of our

Controlling Shareholders

FHEREE  BFINAKE  RATEERIERBRRZ —

Mr. ZHENG Wenbin (B33 &), our vice chairman of the Board of Directors, executive

Director and one of our Controlling Shareholders

BSOS AE  BRIIMBIESRR  BITESRIERRE 2 —
Ms. XUE Fengying (B£BL3), one of our Controlling Shareholders and the spouse of Mr.
Zheng

R A L - BB R — RE B

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeRv%Be

the prospectus of the Company dated November 30, 2023
ARBIRHAZZE_=F+—A=+ANBRER

research and development
Tt ¢ B 3
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DEFINITION
B=

“Remuneration and Appraisal the remuneration and appraisal committee of the Board

Committee”

[FMEEZEE g ) EXgFmMEERE

m
il:)3

\

“Renminbi” or "RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

[ARY] hEDEEERARE

“Reporting Period” twelve months from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

[#REH) B-E-_=fF— A BEE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HL+=EA

“Restricted Shares” the limited partnership interests in Jinyan Tengfei LP that are subscribed by the eligible

participants under the Employee Incentive Scheme

[ PRI | EREREMEET  aER2EEFARBENCHEBRERSBNERABER
“Scheme Rules” the rules governing the operation of the H Share Incentive Scheme as well as the

implementation procedure (as amended from time to time)

[ETEIFR A REHRRENFT ZEERYIR BILA R B M2 7 (T EHERT)
“SFO" the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, as amended,

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

[ &5 MBI ] EREDIF S EREH R AEED (B IEHERT - WA R AT e

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a par value of RMB0.20 each
[ &5 | RARRAF EREEARE0207T 8 EEAX

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of our Share(s)

[R5 | BB A

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 32 P |

“Strategy Committee”

[BREES]

"

“subsidiary(ies)

[FRa]

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”

[T2RER]

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBERHAAERRAT

the strategy committee of the Board

EEgEmRERe

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

EAEMRAMETHRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEA EMRAETHRE
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“Supervisor(s)”

(B2

“Target Share(s)"
[ B &G ]

“Trust Unit(s)”

[ErEXEEmE]

“Trustee”

[ZFEA

"USD" or "USS”
S

“United States”

[E ]

“Unlisted Share(s)”

[R £ )

“Unlisted Shareholder(s)”

[ R £ R AR

“Xiamen Jinyanlai LP”

[EF2HERBREE]

“Xiamen Suntama”

[EFIERE]

DEFINITION

the supervisor(s) of our Company

ARRRES

the H Share(s) of the Company underlying the H Share Incentive Scheme

HECE B St 8IAE B ) R 2 BIHAR

unit(s) of beneficial rights under the Trust as granted to the grantees by the Board and/
or the Delegatee and as divided by the trustee to be appointed by the Company for the
purpose of the H Share Incentive Scheme
%%@&/Eﬁ%%/\iﬁ%iﬂﬁﬁb%%iﬁmzﬁ A RHEOSEN AT B B B EENREA
Bl oMEREXDENE

the trustee to be appointed by the Company for the purpose of the trust constituted
under the trust management agreement to be entered into pursuant to the H Share
Incentive Scheme

AR BRRBHA B BT LN ERE R MER LN ERMRENZTA

US dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

EEDEEE®ET

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its
jurisdiction

EFBRERE - HET - BHUARZEEENAAHR

unlisted ordinary share(s) with a nominal value of RMB0.20 each, which are subscribed for
and fully paid up in Renminbi
BREEARK20THAR EMERR - MARBEZEIL R

Shareholder(s) of Unlisted Shares
R ETRMBRER

Xiamen Jinyanlai Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (EFT&#ERIEE S B E
(BBRAE %)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on July 17, 2015
EFSHRREGRLE (BRER)  —XRE—AFtATEAGEHRENINE
fRe®bE

Xiamen Shuangdanma Industrial Development Co, Ltd. (EFITENSEEEEEGRA

A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on November 11, 1997 and one of

our Controlling Shareholders

fF’ﬂﬁ%%%%%?")?&ﬁFﬁ/‘* CRKR—ANEF T AT —BEPEKIHNER
NE) - RERAIEERRER 2 —
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DEFINITION
B=

“Yangming Kangyi LP"

[BEREEERER ]

“+EBN products”

oy
(%]

Fujian Yangming Kangyi Biopharmaceutical Venture Capital LP (f&32F5 AR B 14 & ¥ 88 52
B ETE(BRAR)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on November 17,
2014

BRSHRBEMBEAERECE(ARERE)  — KR —OF+—A++tHAE
REIR ARG B EE

include certain food and skincare products that contain EBN or EBN extracts as an
enhancement for elevated nutrition or other benefits. +EBN food products are products
that use EBN (with an EBN feed rate of less than 1%) and other food ingredients as raw
materials, such as EBN porridge. +EBN skincare products are products that contain EBN or
EBN extracts, such as EBN facial masks and EBN essence
BREEAFARAEEEEATRAMRENRBI B IR E T R K& HE
WMo+ HRBRMEMENEE (REREL< %) MEMRRERARMER - Al
HEFR +AEEEEREEEABIAERIYNER  JINEEERANEEEE
i

per cent

Bk
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